RIGHTS IN A PANDEMIC

Lockdowns, rights and lessons from HIV in the early response to COVID-19

Cover photo: Supplied to UNAIDS by Twinkle Paul, Guyanese transgender activist

Contents

- 2 Foreword
- 4 Abbreviations and acronyms
- 6 Executive summary
- 12 Introduction
- 14 Methodology

16 Setting the scene: limiting movement of people in response to COVID-19

19 COVID-19 public health orders and human rights

- 19 Avoid disproportionate, discriminatory or excessive use of criminal law
- 22 Stop discriminatory enforcement against key populations
- 24 Explicitly prohibit state-based violence, and hold law enforcement and security forces accountable for disproportionate responses or actions when enforcing COVID-19 response measures
- **25** Include reasonable exceptions to ensure legal restrictions on movement do not prevent access to food, health care, shelter or other basic needs
- 29 Take proactive measures to ensure people, particularly from vulnerable groups, can access HIV treatment and prevention services and meet other basic needs
- **37** Rapidly reduce overcrowding in detention settings and take all steps necessary to minimize COVID-19 risk, and ensure access to health and sanitation, for people deprived of liberty
- 39 Implement measures to prevent and address gender-based violence against women, children and lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and intersex people during lockdowns
- 41 Designate and support essential workers, including community health workers and community-led service providers, journalists and lawyers
- **46** Ensure limitations on movement are specific, time-bound and evidencebased, and that governments adjust measures in response to new evidence and as problems arise
- 47 Create space for independent civil society and judicial accountability, ensuring continuity despite limitations on movement
- **50** Conclusion
- 52 References

Foreword

The COVID-19 crisis has upended the world. It has left everyone scared and many bereaved. It has damaged economies, weakened health systems, and hampered progress towards all the Sustainable Development Goals. It has hit the most vulnerable the hardest. Worldwide, decision-makers have found themselves in hugely challenging situations, under-prepared and under-resourced, and have had the responsibility to move fast on the basis of uncertain information. Many exemplary actions have been taken, saving lives and protecting livelihoods as governments have worked with communities to provide free emergency medical transport, extend water services, place moratoriums on evictions, provide temporary shelter, emergency food supplies or cash benefits, implement community delivery or multi-month dispensing of medicines, institute prisoner release programmes to reduce overcrowding and lessen pandemic risk, and spend millions to mitigate lost wages. Ensuring an effective response to this unfolding crisis, however, will also require learning from what has not gone right.

This is crucial for delivering on the mandate of UNAIDS and its Joint Programme. In our work on the ground, supporting governments and communities, we have seen how the COVID-19 crisis has exacerbated the difficulties faced by people living with HIV, including in accessing life-saving healthcare. We have seen too how the crisis has widened the social and economic inequalities which increase the vulnerability to HIV of marginalised groups—including adolescent girls and young women, LGBTI people, migrants, sex workers, people who use drugs, and prisoners. It is clear too that the crisis is not only a problem of a virus. In many instances, knock-on effects from the response have had an even deeper impact on marginalised groups than the virus. The defeat of AIDS depends on how the world responds to COVID-19.

Four decades of learning from HIV have demonstrated the essential relationship between human rights and public health, and so, as a home for that learning, UNAIDS has been mandated to help apply those lessons. To overcome COVID-19, and to avoid slipping back on progress in overcoming AIDS, countries will need to build COVID-19 responses rooted in respecting human rights, and hearing from the most marginalised. The purpose of this report is to help governments and other national stakeholders to do so.

This report was produced because we observed in the first phase of the COVID-19 response many cases where punitive and discriminatory approaches hurt the most vulnerable and in so doing were impeding progress in tackling COVID-19 and HIV. It is vital to study them to ensure that they are avoided in future. The examples shared in the report happen to be from sixteen countries with significant HIV prevalence and where fuller case studies could be brought together. The issues those examples highlight go *well beyond* those countries and elements described in them have been reported across the world. The illustrative examples are included not to narrow the focus of discussion down to just the countries they are from, but to illustrate approaches reflective of many countries. The examples are a snapshot from a period

between February and May 2020. In several cases governments have made very welcome steps to address the specific cases, and both the report and the progress of our work together in countries have benefitted greatly from our constructive conversations about the examples included. The purpose of sharing them in this report is not to apportion blame, but to help the world learn lessons from examples, including from examples where judicial or government action helped to rectify earlier damaging impact on rights, to support advances in the effectiveness of the response in *every country* in the world.

We are learning more about COVID-19 and about the response day by day. Learning and adapting is central to success. We invite and look forward to ongoing conversations with governments and other stakeholders to exchange experiences, strengthen plans, and continue to learn about how we can best support countries in our joint work.

What this report highlights most of all is that rather than a public health response and a rights-based response being opposing poles, public health responses are only fully effective if they are absolutely grounded in human rights and have the unwavering trust and confidence of communities. When disease transmission is between humans, human rights must be the fundamental driver of the response. Discrimination, stigmatization, and criminalization of marginalized communities are bad for the health of everyone. No one is safe until all of us are safe. When, in contrast, we ensure that no one is left behind or pushed behind, it helps us *all* move forward.

The really *good* news is that we don't need to give away our human rights in order to preserve our health. Human rights are not only intrinsic, but they are also the very means by which governments can successfully beat a pandemic. We will beat COVID-19, and we will beat AIDS, while–and indeed *by*–valuing the rights and dignity of *every* person. The conversations sparked by this report will help us to do so.

The Joint Programme is working shoulder-to-shoulder with governments, civil society and communities to advance a human rights-based response to the dual pandemics, HIV and COVID-19, and together we will succeed.

Winnie Byanyima Executive Director, UNAIDS

Abbreviations and acronyms

ECOSOC	United Nations Economic and Social Council
Global Fund	The Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria
ILO	International Labour Organization
IMF	International Monetary Fund
LGBTI	lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and intersex people
OHCHR	Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights
PrEP	pre-exposure prophylaxis
ТВ	tuberculosis
UNDP	United Nations Development Programme
UNESCO	United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization
UNFPA	United Nations Population Fund
UNODC	United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime
WFP	World Food Programme
WHO	World Health Organization

Executive summary

One of the main lessons learned from the HIV response is that human rights-based approaches and community empowerment must be at the centre of any pandemic response. Discrimination, overreliance on criminal law, curtailing civil society operating space, and failing to take proactive measures to respect, protect and fulfil human rights can hamper mobilization of communities to respond to health issues—a necessary ingredient for an effective response. Overly restrictive responses—especially those that do not take the lived realities of communities into account—and violent and coercive enforcement can undermine trust rather than support compliance. The COVID-19 pandemic is one of the gravest threats facing society today. Within a short period of time, it has reached every corner of the globe and it has touched every aspect of our lives. The socioeconomic impacts of this pandemic will be deep and long-lasting, and swift and coordinated action is needed to reduce transmission and protect against the broader impacts of the virus.

At the same time, the HIV pandemic is not over. With 1.7 million new infections in 2019 and 38 million people living with HIV worldwide, we are living in a time of two parallel pandemics. Not only should the lessons from one pandemic inform the other, but the responses must mutually support each other, taking care not to harm the progress that has been made thus far.

The protection and promotion of human rights has been central to the approach and success of the HIV response. UNAIDS has a responsibility to monitor, review and provide normative guidance on human rights concerns that impact upon the HIV response in any way. The United Nations Economic and Social Council (ECOSOC), in its 2019 resolution on the UNAIDS Joint Programme, called for "a reinvigorated approach to protect human rights and promote gender equality and to address social risk factors, including gender-based violence, as well as social and economic determinants of health" (1). In 2016, the United Nations (UN) General Assembly requested the UNAIDS Joint Programme "to support Member States within its mandate in addressing the social, economic, political and structural drivers of the AIDS epidemic, including through the promotion of gender equality and the empowerment of women and human rights, in achieving multiple development outcomes" (2). This includes those related to the elimination of poverty and the provision of social protection, food security and stable housing. As the UN Secretary-General put it in his report on human rights and COVID-19, "we are all in this together," and it is the responsibility of all agencies to support the efforts of the World Health Organization (WHO) in their own respective areas of expertise (3).

In order to fulfil this obligation, UNAIDS is drawing on lessons learned in the HIV response to review how COVID-19 public health orders that restrict movement have impacted human rights in the period leading up to mid-May, paying particular attention to people living with HIV and those most affected by HIV, including key populations (sex workers, people who use drugs, gay men and other men who have sex with men, transgender people and prisoners) and women and girls.

It therefore provides insights and recommendations that build upon and utilize the knowledge gained in the HIV response about the impacts that public health measures have on the most vulnerable.

Governments are facing enormous challenges in responding to the COVID-19 pandemic: economies are in decline, airports and borders are closed, unemployment is growing and health-care systems are overstretched. In many cases, they have responded quickly to the enormous task of protecting their populations from COVID-19 and the broader socioeconomic fallout, and they have answered the call for international solidarity and assistance by helping neighbouring and sometimes distant countries. Social protection schemes have been expanded or created, food packages have been distributed and community groups have been mobilized to ensure the continuation of health services. The International Monetary Fund (IMF) estimated that countries had mobilized approximately US\$ 9 trillion globally by 20 May (4).

As can happen when a significant new infectious disease emerges—and as was the case in the early days of the AIDS epidemic because modes of transmission were unknown—attempts to contain the spread of COVID-19 have resulted in human rights concerns and violations, despite calls for a focus on rights. This has, at least in some cases, had devastating consequences for communities that may be vulnerable to COVID-19, HIV or the broader socioeconomic consequences of the pandemic.

While some human rights may be limited for a legitimate purpose, such as protecting public health, a human rights-based approach mandates that restrictions must be lawful, necessary, proportionate, evidence-based, time-limited and-importantly-that they do not discriminate either in policy or implementation. In contexts that are constantly changing, policies must also change, as new evidence arises or human rights impacts are uncovered. Restrictions can have a disproportionate impact on marginalized or stigmatized communities, especially if they are enforced in ways that magnify stigma and discrimination. Cosponsors of the UNAIDS Joint Programme have put forward guidance and recommendations for countries on ensuring a human rights-based response. This report builds on those-and on the UNAIDS publication, *Rights in the time of COVID-19: lessons from HIV for an effective, community-led response*-to explore how lessons from the HIV response have been taken up in practice during the early response to COVID-19 and how the various lockdown policies have affected people living with or vulnerable to HIV.

Given the urgency of the situation, it was not possible to undertake a global review. Rather, the policies and practices reviewed in the 16 countries in this report should be seen as examples of a much broader global phenomenon.¹ Due to the necessity of sustaining services for HIV–and in light of UNAIDS' responsibility to monitor human rights concerns affecting people who are living with or vulnerable to HIV–the regions highlighted in this report were chosen because they contain countries with some of the highest HIV prevalence in the world.

While there are many good practices that give us reason for hope, other findings are deeply concerning. Many governments at the national and subnational levels are taking action to affirm human rights protections and empower communities. For example, some governments are extending access to water, providing social protection, adapting health service delivery, providing emergency food supplies, instructing police to hand out masks and supporting community health workers to reach those likely to be left behind.

¹ Argentina, Botswana, Brazil, Cameroon, the Central African Republic, Chile, Colombia, El Salvador, Ethiopia, Jamaica, Kenya, Malawi, Nigeria, Peru, South Africa and Uganda.

However, there have been repeated examples of rights violations, particularly early in the pandemic. The cause of rights violations can be separated into three categories:

- Those where the policy or directives themselves caused rights violations, such as failing to ensure access to transport for medical emergencies.
- A policy/implementation gap, where the policy is sound, yet implementation has resulted in rights violations, such as the disproportionate use of force by law enforcement.
- Where COVID-19 is used as a cover for other rights abuses, such as price gouging or targeting marginalized communities.

While many of the violations in the first category are rectified early on in the pandemic response, it is the second and third categories that have the potential to persist. As such, there is a need for continuous human rights monitoring and vigilance throughout the course of a pandemic.

In the period covered by this report, tens of thousands of people were reportedly arrested for violating lockdown measures and curfews in the 16 countries discussed. Key populations have been disproportionately affected, experiencing violence, exclusion and arrest under lockdown orders. Sex workers have been left out of financial support measures in most of these countries, while hundreds of people engaging in sex work have faced arrest in country after country. Gay men and other men who have sex with men and transgender people have been subject to arrest and harassment, and people who use drugs lack safe options for accessing harm reduction services. Overly broad lockdown restrictions have disproportionately affected women– for example, by making it difficult for women in labour to travel to hospitals.

Young key populations are particularly at risk of being negatively impacted. In a United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) regional project, young lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and intersex (LGBTI) people and people who use drugs indicated that measures taken to address COVID-19 make them more vulnerable to violence and service disruption, as they cannot rely on consent and support from family to access services, cannot access support and health services due to lockdown restrictions, and face increased violence due to prolonged confinement in homes that may not be safe (5).

This report is a snapshot in time, focusing on the very early days of the COVID-19 pandemic, from February to mid-May 2020, drawing attention to the experiences of some of the most marginalized and vulnerable communities. Since then, many countries mentioned in this report have made changes and adapted, lessons have been learned across the world, and some problems have been solved. We hope this report will generate discussion about these solutions and good practices, similar to those early good practices outlined in this report. However, the reality remains that, as we have seen in the HIV response, early responses to outbreaks and crises can significantly affect the rights and well-being of vulnerable communities, and it is important to take the time to review and analyse both the approach and the outcomes, even as we continue to respond to the pandemic.

The analysis of the early COVID-19 response in this report is grounded in internationally recognized human rights standards, recommendations from public health bodies and lessons from the HIV response. For human rights to be at the centre of national strategies to address COVID-19—as clearly outlined in this report-those responses must be continue to be reinforced and supported by international cooperation and assistance. Based on the lessons learned from the HIV response, the following are 10 immediate areas for action for governments that are looking ahead to building effective, rights-based COVID-19 responses.

Laws and enforcement

Avoid disproportionate, discriminatory or excessive use of criminal law:

As experiences with the criminalization of key populations and of HIV exposure, non-disclosure and transmission have shown, excessive or discriminatory use of criminal law is detrimental to a public health response. Use of criminal law as a core part of a public health response—for example, by criminalizing exposure, transmission or spread of the disease—can increase the risk of transmission and undermine education and empowerment. Tens of thousands of people have been arrested for violating COVID-19 orders in the countries reviewed, and research shows many examples of harmful overreliance on criminal laws and penalties to enforce compliance. Governments should refrain from imposing coercive and punitive approaches to responding to COVID-19; instead, they should address barriers to compliance with public health orders, support information campaigns to educate the public about COVID-19 and avoid wherever possible the use of criminal sanctions. Experience from the HIV response has demonstrated that when these punitive and coercive measures are lifted, new cases decrease, better health outcomes are achieved and human rights are protected.

- Stop discriminatory enforcement against key populations: Sex workers, gay men and other men who have sex with men, transgender people, and other vulnerable groups who have experienced violence have been denied access to services or been subject to discriminatory enforcement under COVID-19 lockdown orders. The history of the HIV epidemic shows that the violence, harassment and discrimination of key populations has a direct impact on internalized stigma and HIV outcomes. Governments should take immediate action to address this, including amending laws and training front-line personnel in non-discrimination.
- Explicitly prohibit state-based violence and hold law enforcement and security forces accountable for disproportionate responses or actions when enforcing COVID-19 response measures: This report details multiple and widespread reports of police and/or security forces using violence, including lethal force, to enforce public health measures such as curfews and the wearing of masks. As with the HIV pandemic, such approaches can divert time and resources away from a more enabling approach that ensures access to essential services, such as health care (particularly HIV services). They establish fears of arrest or violence, creating barriers to reaching such crucial services. Governments should deploy law enforcement in a manner that is consistent with international human rights law and–from the highest level down–they should: guarantee rights related to the use of force, arrest and detention, fair trial and access to justice and privacy; ensure police and security forces exercise restraint; and hold security forces accountable for abuses. Law enforcement agencies should be reminded that the prohibition against arbitrary deprivation of life, torture and other ill treatment is absolute and non-derogable at all times.

Access to services and support

Include reasonable exceptions to ensure that legal restrictions on movement do not prevent access to food, water, health care, shelter or other basic needs: Most laws in the 16 countries reviewed for this report allow all people to move for food, water and health care, but in practice, overly broad lockdowns in some countries are undermining access to essential services, including access to HIV services and adequate nutrition that are essential for people living with HIV. In some cases, particularly harsh lockdown measures have led to deaths and physical harm because people could not meet basic needs. Governments should consistently allow for exceptions that reflect the complexity of basic survival and diversity of needs during public health emergencies.

- Take proactive measures to ensure people, particularly from vulnerable groups, can access HIV treatment and prevention services and meet other basic needs: Beyond making exceptions to movement restrictions, this report details specific measures that governments are putting in place to support the realization of the rights to health, food and clean water. The breadth and scale of the need, however, are often outpacing capacity. Many countries are seeing documented disruptions in HIV treatment or prevention, with more aggressive policy shifts needed to ensure access, particularly to harm reduction services. Governments and international financing agencies should implement diversified service delivery and accelerate emergency funding and policy shifts.
- ▶ Rapidly reduce overcrowding in detention settings and take all steps necessary to minimize COVID-19 risk, and ensure access to health and sanitation, for people deprived of liberty: Prison populations have an overrepresentation of people with drug dependence, HIV, tuberculosis, and hepatitis B and C, and prisoners and other incarcerated people may be at increased risk of complications from COVID-19 that goes beyond vulnerability to infection with COVID-19. Nearly all of the countries reviewed have released some people from prisons to address overcrowding and reduce the spread and risk of COVID-19 among people deprived of liberty. Several countries have reduced overcrowding significantly. In many settings, however, the releases have been too small to have a significant impact. This report details examples where ill-treatment of people in prison is likely to drive the spread of COVID-19. Testing and medical care are significant problems for many people in prison amid COVID-19. Where lockdowns cut off family and legal support, there are further rights concerns. Governments should ensure release of people at particular risk of COVID-19 where safe, people whose crimes are not recognized under international law, and any other people who can be released without compromising public safety, such as those sentenced for minor, nonviolent offences, with specific consideration given to women and children.
- Implement measures to prevent and address gender-based violence against women, children and LGBTI people during lockdowns: Interpersonal violence against women is associated with higher rates of HIV, while violence against LGBTI persons has been shown to impact significantly on access to HIV services and positive HIV outcomes. Nearly all countries reviewed have seen significant increases in reports of gender-based violence, and yet none of the lockdown restrictions reviewed explicitly allow people to leave home or change domiciles to escape gender-based violence. Governments should expand services and allow movement of people to escape abuse and support people seeking assistance.
- Designate and support essential workers, including community health workers and community-led providers, journalists and lawyers: The HIV pandemic has shown how critical journalists are to getting unrestricted, trusted information to people during a pandemic; lawyers, for creating accountability for a rightsbased response; and community health workers and community-led health-care providers, for reaching marginalized people and diversifying delivery of services. Most but not all governments have designated these three groups as essential workers, although arrests and harassment have been documented in several settings. In some countries, there remain major barriers to these groups working effectively under lockdown orders. Governments should ensure these groups are designated as essential workers and are supported to be able to work safely during the pandemic.

Participation and rule of law

- ► Ensure limitations on movement are specific, time-bound and evidence-based, and that governments adjust measures in response to new evidence and as problems arise: As this report shows, many of the limitations create barriers or difficulties for people who are living with or vulnerable to HIV. It is important that those limitations are regularly reviewed and given time limits. Most public health orders in these 16 countries are time-bound and specific. Governments should periodically review public health measures to identify possible rights violations and other problems. They should adjust measures to rectify these problems and incorporate new evidence about COVID-19.
- Create space for independent civil society and judicial accountability, ensuring continuity despite limitations on movement: Communities and accountability mechanisms have been critical to the HIV response, removing discrimination and reaching those most likely to be left behind. Likewise, in the early days of the COVID-19 pandemic, we saw communities of people living with or vulnerable to HIV mobilizing to provide HIV and other services and support. Civil society and courts have helped improve the COVID-19 response in many countries where they are enabled to operate freely by highlighting problems experienced by communities from the beginning in all response measures. This includes consulting rapidly and widely with a range of stakeholders before imposing restrictions on movement, and creating space for civil society voices to engage with and monitor the COVID-19 response. Courts should continue to operate, as much as possible, particularly where liberty interests or the legality of public health orders are at stake.

As countries consider the coming months or years of the COVID-19 pandemic, governments will need to calibrate their responses for a pandemic that is likely to see waves of new infections and epidemics throughout the world for some time to come. This report addresses the early response to COVID-19 in the context of rapid change and evolution based on the lessons learned from the HIV response. Countries are already shifting from some of the responses reported here to new responses as the outbreak changes, while others are already reintroducing lockdown measures where there have been new waves of infections. In this context, interventions to limit the movement of people through lockdowns, stay-at-home orders, physical distancing requirements and curfews may continue to be deployed as part of the broader response to COVID-19. In doing so, urgent consideration must be given to maximizing rights-based approaches that empower and engage communities, ensure resilience and build cooperation. This report shows this will be particularly important for people living with HIV and key populations, and for securing trust for the public health response ahead.

Introduction

Pandemics are a particular type of crisis–an invisible enemy, not of our making, spanning the world, and requiring bold and decisive actions to protect the health of populations. As countries around the world respond to the COVID-19 pandemic, it is critical that the response is firmly grounded in respect for human rights.

The HIV pandemic taught the world that this imperative comes from the intrinsic value of human life and dignity, and because rights-based responses are more effective in the long run for engaging, educating and empowering communities to protect their own health, and for spreading awareness and accurate information. Rights violations can undermine trust and compliance with public health directives, economic resilience, and ultimately the success of public health efforts over time.

Although there are clear differences between COVID-19 and HIV, these principles continue to be relevant as governments seek to secure the public's consistent participation with public health advice over many months while the world waits for an effective vaccine. Interventions such as physical distancing, wearing masks, contact tracing, guarantine and isolation of people with COVID-19 are critical tools in the fight. Without careful planning of the practical implementation of these interventions early in the pandemic and an overreliance on coercion and force to promote compliance, governments may catalyse a myriad of negative consequences for people, including obstructing access to safe housing, food, water, sanitation, HIV prevention and treatment, and other life-saving medical care, all of which can impact on HIV services and prevention, and on treatment adherence and outcomes. Due to patterns of social and economic marginalization and discriminatory enforcement, these negative consequences fall most heavily on vulnerable communities, including women, LGBTI people, sex workers, homeless people, indigenous populations and people living with disabilities. For many people living with HIV, these initial COVID-19 response policies may exacerbate the stigma and challenges they already face.

Governments must act quickly, comprehensively and coherently, updating their responses based on evolving evidence to react to this rapidly spreading, highly contagious virus. Yet the urgency presents a challenge: the more rapidly and expansively governments respond, the greater the risk of rights violations that undermine public health objectives. At the same time, governments are implementing policies and programmes that protect rights-many of which are detailed in this report-to ensure access to basic services, provide safety from violence and deploy law enforcement in a protective and enabling manner. The COVID-19 pandemic is a public health emergency–but it is far more. It is an economic crisis. A social crisis. And a human crisis that is fast becoming a human rights crisis . . . By respecting human rights in this time of crisis, we will build more effective and inclusive solutions for the emergency of today and the recovery for tomorrow.

- United Nations Secretary-General António Guterres

.....

The UN General Assembly (6), the UN Secretary-General (3), and other human rights leaders and bodies have issued strong calls for a human rights-based response to COVID-19 and urged caution about ensuring that restrictions on movements do not create a human rights crisis (7, 8). UNAIDS and its Cosponsors have issued a range of normative advice and guidelines to help governments address COVID-19 with a human rights-based approach (9-19). In March 2020, UNAIDS published *Rights in the time of COVID-19: lessons from HIV for an effective, community-led response* to bring forward particular lessons from the HIV response (19, 20). This report builds on these normative and guidance documents to explore how they have been implemented, and how the lessons from the HIV response have been adopted in practice in the early response to COVID-19.

The focus of this report is on the very early days of the pandemic, from February through mid-May. Drawing on the lessons learned in the HIV response, the report looks at how COVID-19 public health orders restricting movement and other related aspects of the response have impacted human rights. It also looks at steps taken by governments to protect rights, with a particular focus on people living with HIV and people affected by or at risk of acquiring HIV (including key populations and women and girls). In a rapidly changing environment, this report captures only a snapshot in time, and we recognize that in many cases, countries have continuously changed and adapted their approaches and strategies in response to concerns, solving problems as they arise.

Some of these good practices are captured in the report. The first stages of a pandemic and response are critical, and it is important to reflect on and analyse these first weeks and months, even as we continue to respond to the crisis. It is our hope that this report can be used to inform action and update policy responses as COVID-19 continues to disrupt social and economic life in communities across the world.

COVID-19 has affected all regions of the world, and so the issues addressed here are globally relevant. To allow deeper analysis, the focus here is on two of the regions that contain countries with some of the highest HIV prevalence in the world: sub-Saharan Africa and Latin America and the Caribbean. It is critical to note, however, that lockdowns and human rights concerns related to them are present in countries in all regions, including in Asia and the Pacific and Europe. The geographical focus of this report, chosen to fit practical and time constraints and to focus on high-burden HIV regions, should not be interpreted to imply that concerns are more acute in, or issues are confined to, the countries explored.

Methodology

This review of policy and practice focuses on restrictions on movement and related issues during the early response to COVID-19: the laws and policies put in place, their implementation and their effects on human rights, as well as the actions taken by governments to protect human rights and ameliorate the negative consequences of lockdowns or other restrictions. In terms of the issues reviewed, the scope of this report was based on a combination of early reports of human rights concerns by communities of people who are living with or vulnerable to HIV, and the prior experience of UNAIDS with the HIV response. Of particular importance was UNAIDS' understanding of the types of human rights violations that would affect public health outcomes—in this case for both COVID-19 and HIV—which were examined in the *Rights in the time of COVID-19* publication, released earlier this year.

The methodology was developed to avoid taking time and resources away from the COVID-19 response, and to allow information-gathering during a pandemic response in contexts that featured lockdowns and other limitations on movements across the period of analysis for a report that would be published in a relatively short period of time. A global review was beyond the scope and time requirements for this project, so the report is therefore restricted to two regions: Latin America and the Caribbean and sub-Saharan Africa. These regions were chosen because they contain countries with the highest HIV prevalence.

Within each region, the following criteria were used for selecting countries:

- Ensure representation across income classifications.
- Include at least one country from each of eastern, southern, western and central Africa, South and central America, and the Caribbean.
- Ensure the majority of countries contained a UNAIDS office.

Countries were then picked at random until the above criteria were met. Ultimately, 16 countries were selected: Argentina, Botswana, Brazil, Cameroon, the Central African Republic, Chile, Colombia, El Salvador, Ethiopia, Jamaica, Kenya, Malawi, Nigeria, Peru, South Africa and Uganda.

UNAIDS partnered with the O'Neill Institute for National and Global Health Law at Georgetown University to coordinate research and drafting.

The questions were developed by drawing on the observations and recommendations contained in *Rights in the time of COVID-19* about what the HIV response has taught us about human rights concerns and how the COVID-19 pandemic could impact negatively on people who are living with or vulnerable to HIV.

Data were gathered beginning in February 2020 through 19 May 2020, with limited updates after that time. Information for each country was gathered through: (a) a qualitative questionnaire sent to human rights experts with local knowledge of each country; (b) the review of legal documents, and reports from government, nongovernmental organizations and the media; (c) consultation with national human rights experts; and (d) observations from UNAIDS staff. Wherever possible, the relevant public sources are cited. Information was verified by experts on human rights, law and development who have experience working in the relevant countries. The draft report was then the subject of a dialogue with the 16 countries reviewed, and an invitation was extended to correct any factual errors within the document.

Although this short report cannot possibly capture the full reality of national contexts, it seeks to understand some of what is happening in relation to rights and COVID-19 in a rapidly evolving context with limited mobility. The report does not purport to provide a complete picture of each country, as it was not feasible to cover all areas of human rights concern or all actions taken by countries. It is also subject to limitations where complete data or information are not in the public domain or readily available. These include broader socioeconomic policies and support programmes rolled out by governments to address the direct and indirect effects of the pandemic; human rights concerns raised by increasing use of digital technologies in COVID-19 responses, including contact tracing, disseminating public health messages, and health care; and broader access to COVID-19-related health care during the pandemic, including current technologies such as ventilators and prospective vaccines and treatments.

Based on the review's findings related to lessons learned from the HIV response and UN human rights guidance, this report is structured around 10 key areas for action by governments as they orient in the coming months for a rights-based response to COVID-19.

Setting the scene: limiting movement of people in response to COVID-19

Countries around the world have implemented a range of measures to reduce transmission of the virus responsible for COVID-19. One of the most common measures—although it is by no means universal—is that of a lockdown that places restrictions on individual movement, such as limiting people to within a certain radius of their domicile and/or preventing them from leaving their place of residence. Some countries have instituted partial lockdowns where restrictions are at the subnational level or are only for certain times of day, such as a curfew. While restrictions on freedom of movement are permissible to achieve a legitimate aim, such as protecting public health, states still have a responsibility to ensure that such restrictions are proportionate, evidence-based and time-limited.

Of the 16 countries reviewed, 12 have issued varying degrees of lockdown or stayat-home orders; only Cameroon, the Central African Republic and Ethiopia have not. The Government of Malawi issued a lockdown order, but it was stayed by court order before taking effect.

The lockdowns are largely nationwide, except in Brazil, where they have been issued by some state and municipal governments. Argentina, Chile, Jamaica, Kenya and Nigeria have some nationwide restrictions in place, such as curfews, combined with more extensive lockdown measures in certain areas (21-37). See Table 1 for more details.

Unlike policies for the medical quarantine of people with suspected exposure to COVID-19 or isolation of cases (both of which apply to specific individuals), lockdown orders apply to the general population. A core set of restrictions is fairly uniform across countries. Unessential businesses are closed, with their employees asked to work from home if possible. The size of gatherings and the number of people in public transit vehicles are limited. People are instructed to stay at home unless they are essential workers or engaging in permitted activities. The list of permitted activities varies across countries. All 12 countries allow people to leave home to get food or medical care. In Colombia, people are explicitly allowed exercise outdoors (*38*). Nigeria (*39*) and South Africa (*40*) also added exercise to the permitted activities list as they eased their lockdown restrictions.

Chile, Jamaica, Kenya, Nigeria, Peru, South Africa and Uganda have implemented nightly curfews rather than round-the-clock lockdowns. These curfews make exceptions only for essential workers and, in some cases, for people seeking emergency medical care. In Chile (26) and Kenya (30), the curfews are nationwide, but only some areas have lockdown orders in place during the day (41-43). In Nigeria (39) and South Africa (33), the curfews were put in place as part of the first phase of easing lockdowns.

Some countries have taken further steps to restrict people's movements. Uganda banned the use of transport without official permission (44). In Botswana (23), Chile (45) and El Salvador (46), people were required to register or request permission before they left home. In Chile, people were allowed three hours of shopping for essential goods twice a week, and five hours or 24 hours (depending on

how far they must travel) to attend the funeral of an immediate family member (47). In Argentina, people were required to register if they wished to travel further than one kilometre from their home (48). The Government of the City of Buenos Aires initially required people over the age of 70 years to register before leaving home and to call a hotline, whose operators would inform them of the dangers posed by COVID-19 and attempt to dissuade them from leaving; a judge declared this measure discriminatory and overturned it, and so the Government downgraded it to a recommendation (49, 50). In parts of Colombia (51), El Salvador (46), Jamaica (52) and Peru (53, 54), people have been allowed out only on certain days of the week, with days sometimes assigned based on gender or national identity number. Cameroon (34), the Central African Republic (36), Ethiopia (37) and Malawi (55) have not instituted general lockdown orders, but they have implemented some more specific restrictions. All four countries closed schools and limited the size of gatherings (although in Malawi, the limit is 100 people). Cameroon ordered bars and restaurants to close at 6 pm, while the Central African Republic closed bars and restaurants entirely, except for takeaway services (35, 36).

Table 1. Overview of lockdown measures adopted and lockdown enforcement as of 15 May 2020 A

Country	Measures implemented	Exemptions for seeking food, medical care, exercise and caregiving	Registration or permission required to leave home?	Masks required in public?	Reports of arrests or use of violence to enforce lockdowns or other restrictions/ requirements?		
Nationwide lockdown							
Argentina	Some nationwide measures; more severe lockdowns in some parts of country	Food, medical care, caregiving	Yes	Yes	Yes		
Botswana	Nationwide lockdown	Food, medical care	Yes	Yes	Yes		
Brazil	Lockdown in some parts of country	Food, medical care, caregiving	No	Yes	No		
Cameroon	No lockdown or curfew	N/A	N/A	Yes	Yes		
Central African Republic	No lockdown or curfew	N/A	N/A	Recommended but not required	Yes		
Chile	Some nationwide measures, including curfew; more severe lockdowns in some parts of country	Food, medical care (permission or registration may be needed), caregiving	Yes	Yes	Yes		
Colombia	Nationwide lockdown	Food, medical care, exercise, caregiving	People allowed out on certain days (in some parts of country)	Yes	Yes		
El Salvador	Nationwide lockdown	Food, medical care (permission or registration may be needed), caregiving	Yes; people allowed out only on certain days	Yes	Yes		

Country	Measures implemented	Exemptions for seeking food, medical care, exercise and caregiving	Registration or permission required to leave home?	Masks required in public?	Reports of arrests or use of violence to enforce lockdowns or other restrictions/ requirements?
Ethiopia	No lockdown or curfew	N/A	N/A	Yes	Yes
Jamaica	Some nationwide measures, including curfew; more severe lockdowns in some parts of country	Food, medical care	People allowed out only on certain days in some parts of country under specific lockdown	Yes	Yes
Kenya	Some nationwide measures, including curfew and restrictions on movement between counties; more severe lockdowns in some parts of country	Food, medical care (permission or registration may be needed)	No, except during curfew hours	Yes	Yes
Malawi	No lockdown or curfew	N/A	N/A	No	Yes
Nigeria	Some nationwide measures, including curfew; more severe lockdowns in some parts of country	Food, medical care	No	Yes	Yes
Peru	Nationwide lockdown, including curfew	Food, medical care, caregiving	People allowed out only on certain days	Yes	Yes
South Africa	Nationwide lockdown, including curfew	Food, medical care	No	Yes	Yes
Uganda	Nationwide lockdown, including curfew	Food, medical care (permission or registration may be needed)	Yes	Yes	Yes

^A This table describes lockdown measures that have been adopted at any point during the COVID-19 pandemic. Some may no longer be in effect.

COVID-19 public health orders and human rights

The COVID-19 pandemic is an exceptional time, and international human rights law permits governments to temporarily limit the exercise of some human rights for the compelling and legitimate purpose to protect lives and public health. Lessons from the HIV response reaffirm the imperative to follow key principles when applying rights-limiting measures—namely that these measures must be lawful, necessary, proportionate, non-discriminatory and limited to achieving a legitimate aim. The requirement of proportionality means the restrictions must be appropriate to achieve their function (effective), the least intrusive and least restrictive to achieve their protective function, and proportionate to the interest being protected (*56*).

Recognizing that these limitations and restrictions are impacting the HIV response and people who are living with and vulnerable to HIV, UNAIDS recommended that countries ensure that any enforced limitations on individual movement are "carefully assessed, including their effectiveness and whether more proportionate measures are available" (19). In reviewing information gathered for this report, particularly on the impact on people who are living with or vulnerable to HIV, 10 key areas of human rights concerns emerged that are applicable both to communities of people who are living with and vulnerable to HIV and to the broader population. UNAIDS has drawn on its own experience and that of international human rights bodies and experts to provide key recommendations for each area of concern. It is hoped that the following lessons from HIV can be taken up more clearly in the months ahead.

Avoid disproportionate, discriminatory or excessive use of criminal law

Efforts to halt HIV transmission by criminalizing behaviours and activities have proven ineffective, driving people away from critical services and undermining the trust that communities have in authorities. UNAIDS has argued that the excessive or discriminatory application of criminal laws "risks undermining public health and human rights" (57).

Hundreds of thousands of people around the world have been arrested for violating COVID-19 orders (58). Globally, many countries have introduced new criminal offences or relied on existing criminal laws–such as manslaughter or endangering the health of others–to enforce compliance (59). The use of criminal law for public health ends is, in most cases, a disproportionate and ineffective response that is vulnerable to arbitrary and discriminatory implementation. Governments should presume communities' desire to comply with sound public health advisories if they are well-informed and supported to do so. Wherever possible, governments should plan for and seek to address barriers to compliance rather than impose criminal penalties or other punitive measures, particularly where detention in unhygienic and overcrowded conditions may worsen a health emergency.

The Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR) has made clear that "deprivation of liberty must be reasonable, necessary and proportionate in the circumstances, even in a state of emergency" (60). When assessing the appropriateness of detaining a person, governments should "pay specific attention to the public health implications of overcrowding in places of detention and to the particular risks to detainees created by the COVID-19 emergency" (60). Using criminal law to fight COVID-19 poses significant perils associated with arrests and detention to arrestees, police officers and staff of the justice system; it also deflects critical time, human resources and limited budgets from measures that more effectively respond to the pandemic, including education, testing, tracing, treatment, temporary isolation, and supporting people to more effectively and safely reduce physical interaction. A reliance on criminal laws can also distract from government support for measures that would assist populations at risk to stay home, such as provision of medicines, HIV prevention and treatment, food, water or alternative shelter. Reliance on criminal penalties to enforce curfews and physical distancing guidelines can lead to discriminatory outcomes where people without access to reliable information, clean water or safe shelter are most likely to face arrest and detention. The pandemic can also intensify the disproportionate negative impact of administrative penalties, such as fines. OHCHR has cautioned governments that "in assessing the appropriate sum of a fine, consideration should be given to the individual circumstances, including gender specific impacts. This is particularly relevant for people not in paid employment or those not generating income because of the emergency measures" (60).

There is a real risk of the discriminatory application and impact of such criminal laws. In the HIV response, the disproportionate impact of criminal laws and law enforcement practices on key and vulnerable populations has been widely documented (*61*). As the United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC) has pointed out, this applies equally under COVID-19: "specific populations such as LGBTI persons or other groups are at risk of use of force violations by police and security providers" (*13*).

In the 16 countries reviewed, tens of thousands of people have been arrested for violating lockdown orders, which fits with findings across UN agencies of hundreds of thousands of people arrested in recent months (62-71). Eleven of the 12 countries with lockdowns have reported arrests relating to COVID-19 restrictions, using short-term detention and fines as a deterrent and a way to punish people suspected of failing to comply with COVID-19 risk mitigation behaviours (see Table 1).

We have also seen the discriminatory impact of criminal laws and enforcement measures on key populations. Chile has reportedly arrested more than 1200 people for violating its curfew orders (63). Although Ethiopia has not implemented a lockdown on movement, according to the Ethiopian Human Rights Commission, the five-month state of emergency in response to COVID-19 established new, broadly worded crimes and criminal penalties of up to three years imprisonment or a fine of up to 200 000 Ethiopian Birr (US\$ 5750) for violating physical distancing standards, including shaking hands and being in public without covering one's nose and mouth (68). These new criminal provisions led to the arrest and temporary detainment of more than 2800 people (69, 70). According to media reports, Cameroon has arrested and detained hundreds of people for not wearing masks in public and issued fines. This has meant that people who could not pay fines remained in jail longer than those who could pay (71).

Food distribution sites need to be managed carefully because they tend to draw crowds, potentially increasing the risk of COVID-19 transmission. Attempts to manage these sites through punitive laws are disproportionate, can lead to unjustified use

of force, and fail to assist in finding other solutions for delivering food and other basic resources. For example, the Government of Uganda stated that politicians who sought to distribute food aid to needy people would be charged with attempted murder, allegedly because physical proximity during distribution could lead to COVID-19 transmission (72). Complying with that order, security forces arrested and severely beat a member of parliament who was handing out food to community members in his area. He sustained serious injuries and was ultimately released on police bond from detention to seek emergency medical treatment (73). All charges have since been dropped (74).

Police officers, however, can play a constructive role in the response. In Mombasa, Kenya, one governor worked with police to hand out masks to people at checkpoints rather than arrest them for not wearing masks (75). Likewise, several Brazilian states have instructed authorities to prioritize educating the public about the importance of the new restrictions before resorting to sanctions (76, 77).

Government efforts should work to respond to the lived reality of people's lives and focus on disseminating accurate information and educating the public about COVID-19 risks and transmission. While there is urgency to ensure communities abide by physical distancing and other COVID-19 response measures to stem transmission, an overreliance on criminal sanctions risks a raft of human rights violations that undermine efforts to curtail the pandemic and exacerbate pre-existing social challenges of poverty, prison overcrowding and inadequate access to accurate information. If and when police officers are on the front lines of the COVID-19 response, they should be trained in supporting community education and empowerment efforts, given clear instructions on when and how to use and not use their law enforcement powers, and supplied with enough personal protective equipment to carry out their duties without risk to themselves or the communities they serve.

An overreliance on criminal sanctions also impedes governments' understanding of why people are breaching COVID-19-related best practices and their ability to support communities to comply willingly. Many people have needs—such as access to medicines, including HIV prevention and treatment, and clean water or food—that make remaining at home extremely difficult. The practical economic and social costs of poverty in a pandemic should always be factored into government planning and buttress governmental ability to provide measures to support a range of urgent needs so that compliance is possible.

Governments should be-and many are, as detailed later in this report-working with communities to implement policies and programmes that support people's urgent needs and make it possible for them to comply with COVID-19 prevention measures.

Stop discriminatory enforcement against key populations

From the history of the HIV epidemic, we have seen how stigma and discrimination negatively affects people's physical and mental health and social support . . . Combat all forms of stigma and discrimination, including those based on race, social contacts, profession (healthcare workers), and those directed towards marginalized groups that prevent them from accessing care . . . Use of criminal laws in a public health emergency is often broad-sweeping and vague and they run the risk of being deployed in an arbitrary or discriminatory manner.

– Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (19)

In many countries around the world, gay men and other men who have sex with men, transgender people, people who use drugs, sex workers, and other socially and economically marginalized groups vulnerable to HIV–including women and girls, people in informal settlements, indigenous groups, young people, and migrants and refugees–are experiencing discriminatory impacts under COVID-19 lockdown orders (78, 79). Governments should take immediate action to address stigma and discrimination, including amending laws and training front-line personnel in non-discrimination.

As we have seen in the HIV response, the effects of coercive or restrictive public health measures and the burden of their enforcement falls disproportionately on some groups and communities, often those who are already vulnerable or marginalized. This can have negative effects on HIV programmes and outcomes, such as increasing stigma and discrimination, pushing the HIV epidemic underground, removing the ability of sex workers to negotiate safer sex, and creating barriers to prevention, testing and treatment. When stigma and discrimination are reduced and an enabling legal approach is taken, HIV outcomes improve (*61*).

Under COVID-19, this is playing out in many countries worldwide–not because the law is consistently written in a discriminatory manner, but because its effects are foreseeably unequal or enforced in ways that reinforce social structures of stigma and discrimination. Discrimination, whether direct or indirect, is unlawful under international human rights law and can drive people away from seeking needed health care in crises and ultimately curtail effective responses. The effects on marginalized communities are systemic rather than coincidental, and they must be addressed as such. UNAIDS (19), the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) (18), OHCHR (8) and other organizations have called on governments to take immediate action to address stigma, xenophobia and other forms of discrimination, including by amending laws and training front-line personnel in non-discrimination.

Sex workers have been particularly vulnerable to arrest and mistreatment under COVID-19. With their income at risk or entirely eliminated, and often ineligible for financial support due to the legal status of their work, many sex workers report having to choose between physical distancing and meeting basic needs, with many sex workers arrested globally (78, 79). In this context, UNAIDS and the Global Network of Sex Work Projects have called for an immediate halt to arrests and prosecutions of sex workers, "moving away from punitive measures and criminalization towards reaching and serving those most in need" (80).

The review found that this global trend is also reflected within the 16 focus countries of this report, with punitive measures used against sex workers in at least four of them. In Cameroon, more than 50 sex workers were reportedly arrested in Yaoundé for entering hotels in violation of isolation orders (*81*). In Kenya, more than 50 sex workers were reportedly arrested for violating lockdown orders, including 24 reportedly arrested in Makueni county (*82, 83*). In Uganda, civil society organizations reported that at least 117 sex workers, bartenders and other vulnerable women have been arrested for violating lockdown, including 71 within a single day of raids in Kampala, Kasese, Lira, Masaka, Mbale, Nakasongola, Oyamu and Wakiso (*84*). They were subsequently released (*85*). Rights groups in El Salvador report sex workers being among the hundreds of people arrested for violating lockdown orders (*86*).

In countries and regions–including Europe and Asia and the Pacific, both of which were beyond our research scope–there have been similar reports of arrests, but there also have been examples of governments supporting and working with sex workers to address the challenges of COVID-19 (87, 88). For instance, some sex workers have been enlisted to conduct contact tracing (89), while in some countries where sex work is not criminalized, they have been able to access financial assistance alongside other workers, thus eliminating the conflict between basic needs and compliance with public health directives (90, 91). In Argentina, the Ministry of Social Development launched an online registry for informal workers to access social benefits; initially, this included sex workers, but sex work was then removed as an eligible category. At the time of writing, the registry was taken down while the Government undertakes consultations on the matter (92). There have been some positive developments from civil society as well, such as in Botswana, where the nongovernmental organization Sisonke has been distributing food aid to sex workers, addressing the key driver of lost income (93, 94).

LGBTI people have found themselves disproportionately impacted by enforcement measures in some countries. In Peru between 3 and 10 April 2020, mobility outside the home was segregated by gender, which created particular problems for transgender people (95). The Government of Peru specifically noted that people should follow the policy based on their self-identification, yet there were several reports of LGBTI people being attacked or humiliated by state agents during the gender-specific lockdown, including abuse of transgender and other gender-diverse people (96-98). In response, the Peruvian Government passed a legislative decree to protect against discrimination by law enforcement on the basis of gender identity and sexual orientation (among other bases), and it drew attention to the regulations for the use of force by the police and armed forces (99).

Under COVID-19 restrictions, Ugandan officials arrested at least 23 LGBTI youth who were living in a safehouse on 29 March. Of those arrested, 19 were eventually charged with violating physical distancing orders and officially accused of committing a "negligent act likely to spread an infectious disease" under the criminal code, allegedly because of the total number of people living in the house (100, 101). They were denied bail and were unable to see their lawyers while in detention. They were never tested for COVID-19 during their detention. Significant efforts from civil society eventually secured their release on 19 May, and all charges were dropped. A court later ordered compensation for the rights violations of those arrested and charged (100, 102). In Jamaica, UNAIDS has heard testimonials from gay men and other men who have sex with men living on the streets who have been receiving harassment from security forces to comply with the curfew (103). The higher rates of homelessness among LGBTI persons due to stigma and discrimination within families is a global phenomenon, which means that targeting or harassing homeless persons has a discriminatory impact on LGBTI persons (104, 105).

Explicitly prohibit state-based violence, and hold law enforcement and security forces accountable for disproportionate responses or actions when enforcing COVID-19 response measures

In most cases, lockdown measures are accompanied by powers of enforcement that–if excessive, overused or used in a discriminatory manner–could have serious consequences for the public, in terms of their rights to be free from arbitrary detention, violence and discrimination, their right to access services, and their right to health.

From very early in the COVID-19 pandemic, there have been reports from across the world of the excessive and disproportionate use of force in enforcing lockdowns, curfews and other restrictions or requirements (such as wearing a mask) (62). The review found these same trends in the countries reviewed for this report, with many examples of law enforcement and/or security forces using violence, including lethal force, to enforce COVID-19 transmission reduction measures.

From the highest level down, governments should: guarantee rights related to the use of force, arrest and detention, fair trial and access to justice and privacy; ensure law enforcement and security forces exercise restraint; and hold them accountable for abuses (60, 106). Under the principles of international law, law enforcement officials should apply nonviolent means before resorting to the use of force, use force only in proportion to the seriousness of the offence, and use lethal force only when strictly unavoidable to protect life. No country should permit or condone brutality, such as beatings, humiliation or killings, under the guise of enforcement of physical distancing, curfews or other behaviour modification, such as wearing a mask in public. Arbitrary deprivation of life, torture, and inhumane or degrading treatment are banned under international human rights law at all times, in all places (107). OHCHR has weighed in extensively on this issue in the context of COVID-19 and states: "Law enforcement officials may use force only when strictly necessary and to the extent required for the performance of their duty and only when less harmful measures have proven to be clearly ineffective" (60). As noted by a number of UN human rights experts, "breaking a curfew, or any restriction on freedom of movement, cannot justify resorting to excessive use of force by the police; under no circumstances should it lead to the use of lethal force" (108).

We have seen in the HIV response that education, consent, engagement and community empowerment are the most effective ways to achieve compliance, and yet state-based violence not only persists but has in many cases increased with the onset of COVID-19. As noted above, this can have a disproportionate impact on key and other vulnerable populations by increasing stigma, sending people underground and driving them away from services. It also can divert time and resources away from a more enabling approach that ensures access to essential services, such as health care (particularly HIV services), and it can make people fearful of leaving their homes because of the potential for arrest or violence, thus creating further barriers to reaching these crucial services (*64*).

Examples of this global phenomenon were found in a number of the countries reviewed. Police enforcing the curfew in Kenya reportedly killed at least six people (109-111). Nigeria's National Human Rights Commission, an independent body that was monitoring human rights in law enforcement activities relating to COVID-19, including setting up special hotlines to receive reports, reported that between 30 March and 13 April, there were eight incidents of extrajudicial killings perpetrated by the police force, army and the Nigerian Correctional Service, resulting in 18 deaths (112, 113).

Law enforcement officials have relied on unlawful enforcement tactics, such as beatings, extortion and humiliating alleged transgressors, in some cases in ways that may exacerbate the risks of COVID-19 transmission. In South Africa, there have been multiple reports of excessive use of force by police and other security forces. As of 8 May, the Independent Police Investigating Directorate is investigating 376 reports of allegations of abuse of police power (114, 115). In El Salvador, a video on social media showed police beating an 80-year-old man for allegedly failing to respect the guarantine, and there have been other reports of police abuses (67). In Mombasa, according to media reports, Kenyan police officers forced crowds of people to lie down together, in some cases on top of each other, and beat them for allegedly violating curfew (116). In Uganda, civil activists decried multiple incidents of brutality in curfew enforcement in several locations across the country, including Elegu, Kampala and Lira, particularly by members of the police and local defense units (117-119). Sixteen security personnel were reportedly arrested in Elegu. At the time of writing, six army officers have been sentenced to six months in prison and the police officers are awaiting a court verdict (120, 121).

In some instances, government officials have issued formal apologies for brutality and conducted isolated arrests of abusive security forces. Given the practical constraints of the ongoing pandemic and the urgent need for basic livelihoods, it is unclear whether survivors of such abuses will be able to seek justice or compensation. If left unchecked, countries may end up inadvertently allowing the pandemic to erode or destroy future trust and confidence in government public health efforts, further impeding the fight against the pandemic.

UNODC and UNDP released guidelines on ensuring access to justice in the context of COVID-19, noting "protocols and training are required for police and security personnel, including border authorities, to ensure the respect for dignity and rights of people in the context of implementing emergency regulations and quarantine rules, including adopting a gender-sensitive and child-friendly approach. This will be particularly relevant in the treatment of marginalized groups that may be constrained in their ability to follow quarantine rules (such as day labourers, migrant workers, street vendors, sex workers, or homeless persons)" (13).

Include reasonable exceptions to ensure legal restrictions on movement do not prevent access to food, health care, shelter or other basic needs

All public health orders reviewed officially allow people to move for food and health care (except during curfew hours), but not to shelter. Emergency medical care is supposed to be accessible at all times, but in practice, overly broad lockdowns in some contexts have undermined access and led directly to deaths and physical harm. Governments should consistently allow for exceptions that reflect the complexity of basic survival and the diversity of needs during public health emergencies within and across borders.

UNAIDS warns that where public health measures restrict people's movements, governments must "put in place exceptions where necessary for vulnerable groups and to ameliorate the consequences of such restrictions" (19). Specifically, governments must take appropriate measures, including making targeted exceptions to lockdown restrictions, to ensure lockdowns do not "deprive people of food, medication or housing" (19). This is particularly important for populations at higher risk, such as older people, who may be subject to stricter stay-at-home rules than the general public.

Continued access to health care is, of course, critical for the HIV response, including HIV-specific services for prevention, testing and treatment, sexual and reproductive health and rights services, integrated tuberculosis services and broader health services for comorbidities. Service interruptions can have significant detrimental impacts on the mental and physical well-being of individuals, and on the HIV response as a whole. This was demonstrated in recent modelling on interruptions to HIV services during the COVID-19 pandemic (*122*). Likewise, food is critical, not only for general nutrition and well-being, but for people living with HIV, whose medication must be taken with food. There have been reports of people not being able to take their HIV medication due to a lack of food (*123*).

Across most of the countries we reviewed, governments have largely made appropriate exceptions in public health orders and laws to allow people to access food and health care, but not shelter. In practice, however, examples exist in many countries of challenges imposed by public health orders on people's ability to meet these basic needs, particularly among vulnerable groups. These examples reflect a global trend of difficulties experienced by vulnerable groups in accessing essential health care, shelter and food due to lockdown measures, despite exemptions to restrictions (124-126).

Health care

Globally, communities are facing barriers to accessing health care due to lockdown measures. For example, the United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA) has warned in a *Lancet* article that there potentially will be thousands of deaths worldwide from unsafe abortions and complicated births due to inadequate access to emergency care; it also suggested that mobility restrictions have prevented people from accessing sexual and reproductive health clinics (*127*). All 12 countries with lockdowns have explicit exceptions in their regulations to allow people to purchase food and essential goods. In Chile, Kenya and Uganda, however, lockdown measures initially did not contain explicit exceptions allowing people to seek emergency medical care as needed, in some cases requiring them to first register or request official permission to do so. In Colombia, El Salvador, Kenya and Uganda curfews or travel restrictions are reportedly created barriers to people seeking medical care, sometimes with tragic results.

Uganda's lockdown order, for instance, required people to seek special permission from a resident district commissioner to travel in private vehicles, even to hospitals in cases of emergency (44). Reports indicate that the officials who can provide this authorization are often absent and unreachable, and the public vehicles that take people to the hospital are too few and take too long to arrive (128). According to reports from nongovernmental organizations, at least 11 pregnant women have died since the ban came into effect, some while walking to reach a hospital (128), and the media have reported that multiple infants and children have died (129). The President of Uganda has acknowledged the problem (128), and he has issued a directive indicating that resident district commissioners should put in place a response system so that they do not have to issue the permissions themselves. Uganda also has made efforts to increase the number of public vehicles to take people to hospitals (44). On 20 April, the Government of Uganda declared "visibly pregnant women" should be allowed to travel without permits-but this exception does not help other people who need urgent care, including women in the early stages of pregnancy who require medical care.

Additionally, although Ugandan health workers are legally allowed to travel to work, the ban on private vehicles is making it difficult for them to do so. Though essential workers can travel, they require a permit to do so. The Ugandan Medical Association

reports that there have been delays in receiving these permits and that, in the interim, doctors who drive without them have been beaten, arrested and tortured (130, 131). As a result, Uganda's health-care workers "are taking extraordinary measures to get to work, commuting by foot, bicycle and in at least one case by cance" (130).

In El Salvador, the media have reported that shutting down public transport initially created many obstacles for essential workers, including health-care workers, to reaching their workplaces, and for people seeking food and medical care. After this decree was challenged in court, the Government reactivated public transport for health-care workers (132-134), and it provided free transport to and from hospital for anyone with a chronic disease (e.g., cancer, HIV and diabetes), but not for pregnant women (132-135).

Kenya required people to seek official permission to leave home during curfew, even for medical emergencies (30). A nongovernmental organization survey found that 58.5% of Kenyans in 12 counties were unable to access emergency medical care during curfew hours due to closures of community health centres, lack of transport to hospitals, and fear of police harassment for being out after curfew (136). People living in informal settlements were especially affected because they were initially unsure about what to do if they fell sick at night and how they could obtain official permission or escort to the hospital, calling attention to the need for (at a minimum) clear public communication (137). Other reports indicate that violent curfew enforcement by police officers has interfered with people's ability to find transport to hospitals after curfew, particularly in rural areas (138). According to one report, police beat a motorbike taxi driver to death after he took a woman in labour to the hospital during curfew hours (139). In response, the Kenyan Government has partnered with civil society and the private sector, including taxi company Bolt, to create the Wheels for Life programme, which provides pregnant women and other people who need emergency care with free, officially sanctioned transport to hospitals during curfew hours (140, 141). The reach of this programme outside urban areas is not clear, however, and respondents to one survey have reported that emergency response teams fear going into some areas at night (136).

Food and health care for high-risk and vulnerable people

Governments have a particular obligation to ensure that people in higher risk groups, and people in need of special assistance due to lockdown restrictions, are able to access food, medical care and other essentials. Certain groups, including people in prison, older people, and people living with chronic health conditions and disabilities, are at higher risk from COVID-19 due to their particular circumstances. Very often, these people rely on caregivers, whether family, friends or health and social workers, for day-to-day support, and they may not be able to obtain food, take medication or bathe without assistance. WHO has reminded governments that these groups warrant specific consideration to preserve their dignity and well-being during lockdowns (142, 143).

Governments around the world are strongly advising older people and people with health vulnerabilities to stay at home. Some countries, including Argentina (49, 144), Chile (26, 145), Colombia (146) and Jamaica (147), have introduced stricter restrictions for these groups than for the general public. Of the 12 countries with lockdowns, only six included specific exemptions explicitly allowing people to provide assistance to family members and neighbours in need: Argentina (148), Brazil (149), Chile (47), Colombia (150), El Salvador (151) and Peru (152). Jamaica has no such exemption, but the Government has created a helpline that seniors (who are mandated to stay home) can call for help accessing food, medicine and other essential supplies (153). The city of Buenos Aires, Argentina, has done the same (49).

Botswana has a lockdown exemption allowing people to assist elderly or sick people to obtain medical care or social protection packages, but not to purchase food (23).

Early in the COVID-19 pandemic, the Government of Uganda ordered people not to use personal or family vehicles, including for transport to hospitals, as this might spread the virus (43). According to the Government, this ban was in response to individuals using their private vehicles as taxis once public transport was halted. Instead, people were instructed to wait for an official vehicle to transport them. The lack of available vehicles caused significant and sometimes fatal consequences (44). In one case, a nurse reportedly wheeled a patient two kilometres from a local clinic to the hospital after waiting more than four hours for an ambulance (154).

Marginalized communities and communities often left behind, including some indigenous populations, have seen a lack of COVID-19-specific information and services in some cases. The National Organization of Andean and Amazon Indigenous Women of Peru reported that in addition to ongoing problems in Peru's health policies towards indigenous peoples, understaffed facilities in remote sites and lack of access to adequate information, especially in local languages, have been critical issues (155, 156).

Shelter

Lockdown restrictions can leave people displaced, with nowhere to go and no provisions made for them in law. Across the world, populations living with or vulnerable to HIV–such as key populations, migrants, women and girls, and economically disadvantaged groups–all face specific issues of discrimination, violence or stigma that can leave them at higher risk of homelessness and/or in need of alternative, safe forms of shelter (5, 104, 105, 157-159).

During lockdowns, there have been evictions and demolitions of informal housing, placing people in precarious situations from a public health and legal perspective, and prompting the Special Rapporteur on adequate housing as a component of the right to an adequate standard of living, and on the right to non-discrimination in this context to issue a statement prohibiting evictions during the pandemic (124). As described under Recommendation 2, sex workers and LGBTI youth are facing the loss of safe housing or even arrest when staying in a shelter. For LGBTI people, family homes may not be a safe place to live, and other options may not be available. In Uganda, the 23 people arrested for breaching COVID-19 restrictions were doing so because they had nowhere else to live (101).

In the countries reviewed, there are similar examples of evictions and loss of shelter. UN Special Rapporteurs have received reports from Kenya about mass evictions, despite the Government's announcement that it would establish a moratorium banning them during the COVID-19 crisis. Around 8000 people were forcibly removed from Kariobangi and their houses flattened, despite a court order restraining authorities from conducting the eviction (*160*). In South Africa, there have been repeated reports of demolitions by local governments in the Cape Town (*161*, *162*) and eThekwini (*163*) metropolitan areas, despite the national government issuing regulations stipulating that evictions during COVID-19 are unlawful (*164*).

In Peru, hundreds of thousands of people who travelled to Lima for work have lost their means of support and can no longer afford to remain in the city. When the Peruvian Government shut down interprovincial transport in March, it gave people only one day to return home (165, 166). Regional governments have been allowed to arrange transportation to bring people home, and the national government has arranged some temporary shelter and provisions for people who are unable to leave, but in early May, the waiting list for transport still contained more than 170 000 people. Many attempting to return home have no choice but to walk. Reports describe convoys of hundreds of people trekking for hundreds of hours "up the hair-raising Central Highway" into the Andes (165-167).

In Chile, public transport is still running, even in the municipalities with lockdowns. Regulations allow people caught behind cordons sanitaires to return home, provided they agree to be quarantined for 14 days after arrival (26, 47, 168).

Take proactive measures to ensure people, particularly from vulnerable groups, can access HIV treatment and prevention services and meet other basic needs

Beyond making exceptions to movement restrictions, this report details specific measures governments are putting in place to support the realization of the rights to health, food and clean water. Globally, countries are seeing documented disruptions in HIV treatment or prevention (122, 169-172). Countries are expanding differentiated service delivery options, but more aggressive policy shifts are needed to ensure access, particularly to harm reduction services. Countries are improving access to water and food through distribution and placing temporary regulations and restrictions on the private sector. The breadth and scale of the need, however, are often outpacing capacity. Governments and international financing agencies should implement diversified service delivery and speed up emergency funding and policy shifts.

Including exceptions to movement orders is necessary, but proactive efforts are also required to create alternative avenues for accessing basic needs while complying with public health advice. A full review of the range of socioeconomic policies and supports that governments are putting into place is beyond the scope of this report, but we note three particularly urgent areas for action amid early responses to COVID-19: access to HIV services, water and food. International human rights law obligates governments to protect, respect and fulfil these as rights, including non-discrimination in the enjoyment of the right to health. WHO has advised governments to develop a "plan to safely maintain essential health services" during the COVID-19 response (143). Likewise, guidance from the International Labour Organization and the UN calls on governments to provide "targeted social assistance for the most marginalized and vulnerable" to ensure the availability of food, water and sanitation (106, 173).

Preserving and extending access to HIV treatment and prevention services, including harm reduction

UNAIDS and WHO have warned of the real risk that access to vital HIV, tuberculosis and harm reduction services may be disrupted during the COVID-19 pandemic (19, 174-176). Interruptions in HIV and tuberculosis treatment are particularly dangerous, since they can lead to treatment failure and HIV and tuberculosis transmission. "Where public transport may be halted and business operations shut down, access to medicines and services–including antiretroviral therapy, pre-exposure prophylaxis, opioid substitution therapy, sterile needles and syringes and other harm reduction services, mental health care and medication for other chronic conditions–must continue uninterrupted" (19). Disruptions to prevention and treatment services could also have disastrous effects. A UNAIDS and WHO modelling study of COVID-19-related service interruptions estimated that a six-month disruption of antiretroviral therapy could lead to more than 500 000 additional deaths from AIDS-related illnesses (122).

The multisectoral approach that has been key to progress in the HIV response will again be critical, both in ensuring the continuation of HIV services and for pursuing the broader COVID-19 response. Governments must work with communities to find solutions for people who cannot access treatment and harm reduction services. All HIV services, including harm reduction services, should be defined as "essential services" that save lives, and they must remain open, with workers classified as essential health-care personnel.

Reports from across the globe indicate that COVID-19 is creating significant barriers to accessing HIV services. A study undertaken by UNAIDS, the LGBT+ Foundation, the Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health and others looked at the experiences of more than 20 000 LGBTI persons in 138 countries and found that 21% had experienced "interrupted or restricted access" to refills of antiretroviral therapy, and 42% of those had less than a one-month supply on hand. It also found disruptions to pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) supply and HIV testing, and that racial and ethnic minorities had lower access to HIV services (*170*). A survey by the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria (the Global Fund) showed that 85% of HIV programmes reported disruptions to service delivery, with 18% showing high or very high disruptions. Qualitative data indicate that lockdowns, restrictions on gatherings of people and transport stoppages are the main reasons that activities have been cancelled or delayed (*171*). WHO reported on 6 July that 36 countries–home to 45% of people receiving antiretroviral therapy–had reported disruptions in the provision of treatment since April (*172*).

Data gathered by UNAIDS for this report show similar interruptions in HIV prevention and treatment services in 11 of the 16 countries reviewed: Argentina, Botswana, Brazil, Cameroon, Chile, El Salvador, Jamaica, Nigeria, Peru, South Africa and Uganda (178). There have been disruptions to condom distribution in Botswana, Cameroon, El Salvador, Jamaica, Peru and Uganda; to PrEP in Peru and Uganda; to self-testing in Uganda; and to prevention of vertical transmission services in Cameroon, El Salvador and Uganda (178). In Argentina, Brazil, Chile, El Salvador, Peru, South Africa and Uganda, facilities where people access HIV treatment have been closed or had their hours reduced, or facility space and staff members have been reassigned to the COVID-19 response (178). In some parts of Brazil, the cancellation of medical appointments for new patients at the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic created an obstacle for people starting PrEP (179).

On an individual level, lockdown restrictions (including reductions in public transit services) and people's fears of entering health-care settings where they might be exposed to the virus that causes COVID-19, are making it more difficult for people living with HIV to pick up their medicines (*180*). For example, in Gauteng province, South Africa, the Department of Health reports just under 11 000 people have not picked up their antiretroviral medicines since the country's lockdown began, a 20% reduction in medicine collections (*181*).

Table 2. Service delivery policies for antiretroviral medicines during the COVID-19 pandemic, 15 May 2020 ^A

Country	Service delivery policy
Argentina	One-month dispensing policy; most people receive one-month supply
Botswana	Three-month dispensing policy; most people receive two-month supply
Brazil	Three-month dispensing; most people receive three-month supply Community antiretroviral therapy distribution pilot programmes
Cameroon	Three-month dispensing policy; many people receive one-month supply Community antiretroviral therapy distribution nationwide
Central African Republic	Three-month dispensing policy, but geographically limited; most people receive one-month supply Community antiretroviral therapy distribution policy but not currently implemented
Chile	One-month dispensing policy; most people receive one month, though there are reported cases of people only receiving 10 days (180) Community antiretroviral therapy distribution through public health centres pilot programmes being planned in response to COVID-19 ^B
Colombia	Three-month dispensing policy; most people receive three-month supply
El Salvador	Two-month dispensing policy Community antiretroviral therapy distribution pilot programmes, but geographically limited
Ethiopia	Six-month dispensing; most people receive three-month supply Community antiretroviral therapy distribution nationwide
Jamaica	Three-month dispensing policy; most people receive one-month supply
Kenya	Three-month dispensing; most people receive three-month supply Community antiretroviral therapy distribution nationwide, but limited implementation
Malawi	Six-month dispensing; most people receive six-month supply
Nigeria	Three-month dispensing policy; most people receive three-month supply Community antiretroviral therapy distribution nationwide
Peru	Three-month dispensing policy
South Africa	Three-month dispensing policy; most people receive two-month supply Community antiretroviral therapy distribution nationwide
Uganda	Three-month dispensing policy; many people receive two-month supply Community antiretroviral therapy distribution pilot programmes

^A All data from UNAIDS portal unless otherwise noted.

^B Cádiz P. "Debes ir a un hospital y exponerte para tener medicación": vivir con VIH en tiempos de COVID-19. In: T13 [Internet]. 1 June 2020 (https://www.t13.cl/noticia/nacional/coronavirus-vih-medicamentos-hospitalrelatos-01-06-20). To address the problems of access during COVID-19 lockdowns and physical distancing efforts, UNAIDS and WHO recommend that "a people-centred approach to access to medicines must be maintained throughout the outbreak" (19, 174). This approach, which falls under the banner of "differentiated service delivery," encompasses a set of strategies designed to minimize the number of trips that people living with HIV have to make to clinics, and make services more readily available in the community, with the double advantage of helping people stay at home and reducing demand on the health system (182). Two of the main strategies are providing people living with HIV with a three- or six-month supply of antiretroviral medicines (multimonth dispensing) and enabling people living with HIV to pick up their medicines at convenient locations in the community or have their medicines delivered to them (community antiretroviral therapy distribution) (19).

According to UNAIDS data, as highlighted in Table 2, five countries have community antiretroviral therapy distribution policies that are being implemented nationwide: Cameroon, Ethiopia, Kenya (not fully implemented in village settings), Nigeria and South Africa (*178*). The Central African Republic has adopted a community antiretroviral therapy distribution policy, although this is not yet being implemented. Brazil, El Salvador and Uganda are piloting community antiretroviral therapy in some places (*178*). Botswana, Brazil, Cameroon, the Central African Republic, El Salvador, Ethiopia, Kenya, Peru, South Africa and Uganda have multimonth dispensing for HIV treatment (*178*). In March 2020, the Chilean Government announced that it would move to multimonth dispensing for the first time, although this has not been implemented systematically (*178, 180, 183, 184*).

Many countries report that supply chain problems are a major obstacle to fully implementing multimonth dispensing, with COVID-19 exacerbating these issues, such as in South Africa, which was transitioning to a new first-line HIV treatment regimen when the outbreak happened (178). Countries that do not offer multimonth dispensing cite supply chain problems as the major reason for not doing so. In some cases, this may mean that multimonth dispensing is available in some parts of a country but not others, or for some treatment regimens but not others.

Having differentiated service delivery policies does not guarantee that people living with HIV can access those services. In addition to supply chain problems, communication breakdowns between health officials and pharmacies and the stresses that the COVID-19 response is placing on the health system create barriers to access at the local level (180, 183, 185). In Chile, one woman reportedly heard the Ministry of Health's statement that she should be able to receive multiple months of medication, but when she went to the local hospital, "they told me that it's a lie and that because I am from [this area] I have to come every month to look for my medications" (180). Chilean activists are mobilizing to address the problem. One man filed an appeal for protection with the Court of Appeals in Santiago to order the Ministry of Health to fulfil its promise to provide multimonth dispensing (183). The National Network of Indigenous People Living with HIV issued an open letter to the Minister of Health complaining about stock-outs and the lack of HIV services and asking for a dialogue to solve the situation (186). A nongovernmental organization has set up an observatory to monitor access since the lockdown started to antiretroviral medicines and HIV-related services for people living with HIV (187).

An online survey undertaken by UNAIDS of 2300 people in 28 countries in Latin America and the Caribbean found that seven in 10 respondents do not currently have enough antiretroviral medicines for a lockdown of more than 60 days. Five in 10 respondents reported difficulties in obtaining antiretroviral therapy during the pandemic. There is also an indication that fear of HIV-related stigma and discrimination is increasing: the same survey found that 56% of respondents believed they could experience physical, psychological or verbal violence due to living with HIV in the midst of the COVID-19 pandemic. Fear of HIV-related discrimination also caused three in 10 respondents to stop accessing services in the midst of lockdowns (188).

Communities are uniting to find solutions. In Ethiopia, people living with HIV worked with the Government to expand multimonth dispensing and introduce community antiretroviral therapy distribution policies that allow people who are deemed, according to current evidence, to be at lower risk of acquiring COVID-19 to collect medications for other people. The Government has agreed to this in the guidance, although it had not yet been implemented (*178*). In Nigeria, treatment access groups are coordinating and using motorbike riders with travel permits to deliver medicines to people who live far away from treatment centres (*178*). In Lagos, Nigeria, advocates are working to ensure that people from other states and countries who cannot get home due to border closures are able to get medicine refills (*178*). In Kenya, Peru and Uganda, communities have set up virtual peer support groups to promote adherence and help people obtain their medications (*178*).

Continuity in access to harm reduction services is critical, and more proactive responses are needed. Although there are reports of expanded flexibility in opioid substitution therapy, according to UNAIDS data, none of the 16 countries we reviewed allows take-home doses of opioids in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, and only South Africa is permitting secondary distribution or distribution of large volumes in needle-syringe programmes (*178*). Enrolment in South Africa's opioid substitution therapy programmes has increased since the start of the lockdowns, with one programme in Pretoria adding more than 600 people (*189, 190*).

Government action to ensure access to HIV services

Since the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, governments have taken a wide variety of measures to ensure the continuity of HIV services and safe access to them. Two are mentioned above: multimonth dispensing and community distribution. In addition, a number of governments have informed UNAIDS of various approaches taken in the past few months to reduce disruptions to services. What follows is a small selection of those policies, as they were communicated to UNAIDS.

In **Botswana**, in addition to existing social services, the Government reports that it undertook a comprehensive assessment of households to determine food relief requirements, particularly those in the informal sector, leading to the employment of 952 social workers on a temporary basis. At the time of writing, 537 466 households have been assessed countrywide; of those, 426 740 have been recommended for food relief, while 429 255 have already been assisted with food hampers (toiletries inclusive).

Brazil has taken measures to ensure the continuity of HIV services, including: (a) extending the validity dates of antiretroviral medicine forms; (b) implementing telemedicine services; (c) beginning to offer HIV tests for patients with respiratory syndromes; (d) recommending that people living with HIV who have undetectable viral loads reduce the frequency of their consultations; (e) offering antiretroviral therapy for foreigners unable to return to their countries of origin due to travel restrictions related to the COVID-19 pandemic; and (f) beginning to coordinate the national expansion of self-testing with states and municipalities.

In **Chile**, pharmacies in public hospitals have been reorganized and moved to other spaces to ensure the continuity of antiretroviral therapy provision, and monitoring has been undertaken to ensure all antiretroviral medicines continue to be dispensed, with 33 of 44 centres dispensing for two to three months at a time. Chile is also piloting community antiretroviral medicine distribution through public health centres or home delivery.

In **Colombia**, the National Government has provided subsidies of more than US\$ 270 million for electricity and natural gas for the poorest households. It has also suspended the execution of eviction orders and provided financial relief for more than 300 000 families, which have been given financial relief for housing.

The Government of **El Salvador** is providing free antiretroviral medicine for two months and extending the dates and repeats of prescriptions to reduce trips to the hospital. It has instituted home delivery of antiretroviral medicines through a variety of mechanisms, and it is providing food support for families in need and free antiretroviral medicines for foreigners who are unable to travel home due to the lockdown.

Jamaica has created new homeless shelters for those in need during this time, and it has found innovative ways to prevent and respond to child abuse, including through alternative modes of outreach using social media, virtual engagements and community motorcades.

In **Peru**, immediate measures were taken to ensure the continuity of care for people living with HIV and their access to antiretroviral therapy, including three-month dispensing and the creation of six new HIV treatment centres. It has also prioritized the identification of respiratory infections and the handling of suspected cases of COVID-19 among users of HIV services.

In **Uganda**, the National Task Force prioritized providing food to the most vulnerable communities living in Kampala, including people living with HIV. The Ugandan AIDS Council also engaged District Task Forces to include people living with HIV as members, ensuring they are partners– and not just beneficiaries–of HIV and COVID-19 services.

Access to food

Nutrition and HIV are strongly related to each other. For people living with HIV, malnutrition and food insecurity reduce HIV treatment adherence: this impacts both their health and increases their risk of transmitting HIV, because stopping treatment can increase a person's viral load, thus increasing their chance of transmitting the virus. Food insecurity can also increase HIV risk behaviours, potentially putting people at increased risk of acquiring HIV (191). Argentina (192, 193), Botswana (93, 194), Chile (195, 196), Colombia (197), El Salvador (198), Nigeria (199), South Africa (200, 201), Uganda (202), and some local governments in Brazil have introduced or expanded food distribution programmes (203). Nigeria provided a two-month supply of food to people residing in camps for internally displaced people; in Lagos State, the Government has partnered with civil society to provide food and necessary items to vulnerable groups, including women, young people and more than 1250 households of people living with HIV (204).

Botswana (93) and Uganda (44) have said they are prioritizing food distribution to vulnerable families or people who have lost work due to the lockdowns. Argentina, Botswana, El Salvador, Malawi and Nigeria have taken steps to stabilize food prices, such as by imposing price controls (205-209).

Unfortunately, as is the case everywhere, the need for assistance is outstripping the scale of the problem. Globally, the World Food Programme (WFP) has stated that this is the largest humanitarian response in its history, but it has only received 9% of its stated required total funding to provide essential food assistance (210). The Red Cross has commended food distribution efforts in Kampala, Uganda, but in northern Uganda, there are reports that more than 1000 people living with HIV have abandoned treatment due to lack of food (202, 211). On 18 May, in response to street protests over a lack of food, the President of Chile announced the Government would deliver a "historic" 2.5 million baskets of food and cleaning supplies to vulnerable communities, including people living with HIV and key populations, within two weeks (212, 213). As of 11 June 2020, the Government had reported delivering more than 1 215 000 boxes, including more than 130 000 delivered in one day (214, 215). Colombia has seen similar protests, followed by similar pledges from its Government to scale up assistance to reach the estimated 750 000 people who are going hungry (216). But hunger moves faster than aid: across the country, people who need food hang red cloths from their windows and wait; in some cities, the cloths blanket entire neighbourhoods (217). Distribution of large-scale relief requires careful monitoring and oversight. In Uganda, four officials from the Office of the Prime Minister were arrested for procuring food at inflated prices (218). In South Africa, more than 100 national groups came together to raise concerns about corruption and call for greater transparency in the COVID-19 response (219). On 23 July, the President of South Africa announced that an operation hub had been created to investigate allegations of COVID-19-related corruption (220).

COVID-19 has represented a real threat to indigenous populations in Latin America. Lockdown measures in El Salvador reportedly prevented indigenous people from farming for livelihood or selling their agricultural products at local markets (221). In addition, in Colombia, Amnesty International reported that even with a governmental mandate to provide food to indigenous people during a "state of economic, social and ecological emergency," several weeks after the quarantine was imposed many communities stated they had received no support from government authorities, despite their strict compliance with isolation measures (222, 223).

According to media reports, the Government of Brazil has not adequately responded to indigenous people's requests for pandemic aid to be delivered to their isolated

communities in a safe manner, leaving them with no alternative but to travel to cities to obtain social benefits and then return to the forest, taking the virus with them. The Government, however, has reported providing food baskets and other supplies to a number of villages, in addition to other support for indigenous populations (224-226).² After indigenous rights organizations and six political parties filed a petition with the Brazilian Supreme Court, a judge ordered the Federal Government to make emergency measures to protect indigenous communities (227, 228).

Access to water

WHO emphasizes that COVID-19 infection prevention measures such as frequent handwashing are "dependent on access to safely managed water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH), particularly for vulnerable communities" (143). For people living with HIV, access to clean water and sanitation can be critical, particularly in relation to opportunistic infections and the effectiveness of treatment (229). Despite this, 2.2 billion persons globally do not have access to safe water services, 4.2 billion do not have safely managed sanitation services, and 3 billion lack basic handwashing facilities (230). In the regions reviewed for this report, a quarter of the people in Latin America and the Caribbean and 40% of people in sub-Saharan Africa lack reliable access to a safe water supply (231, 232). This problem is particularly acute for people who live in informal settlements and people with disabilities (231-234). This crisis is being exacerbated by ongoing droughts in southern Africa and parts of South America (231, 235).

The governments of Chile (236), Colombia (237), El Salvador (238), Jamaica (239), Peru (240) and Uganda (44) have declared that water companies may not suspend people's services for non-payment of bills. Argentina (241), Botswana (205, 242, 243), parts of Brazil (231, 240), Colombia (231, 237), El Salvador (231), Malawi (235), Peru (231), South Africa (235) and Uganda (205) are working to expand their water supplies, such as by distributing water through tankers or offering financial assistance to help people pay their water bills. Brazilian utility company Companhia de Saneamento de Minas Gerais is easing drought rationing to ensure continuous water supplies (231). The South African Government is providing temporary homeless shelters that meet necessary hygiene standards, and it has also distributed 77 000 water tanks and 1200 water trucks to villages and townships across the country (235, 243). Malawi's COVID-19 response has planned to allocate US\$ 5.6 million towards longer term water distribution solutions, including repair of existing water sources and construction of new solar-powered sources (235).

The human right of access to clean water is particularly imperilled when people must compete with the agriculture industry for limited water supplies. In Colombia, COVID-19 has prompted the Government to redirect some of the water usually allocated for agriculture to increase the human water supply (*235*). In the parched agricultural region of Petorca, Chile, however, families were restricted to 50 litres of water per day–half of the WHO recommended amount (*244-246*). The Chilean Government has acknowledged the problem, and in early April, it announced it would increase the daily water supply to 100 litres; this plan was reportedly later abandoned. In response, civil society activists have petitioned the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights to intervene (*247*).

² For more information, please also see: Freitas H. Indígenas pedem ao STF que governo adote medidas para proteger povos isolados. In: Jota [Internet]. 30 June 2020 (https://www.jota.info/stf/do-supremo/indigenas-pedem-ao-stf-que-governo-adote-medidas-paraproteger-povos-isolados-30062020).

Rapidly reduce overcrowding in detention settings and take all steps necessary to minimize COVID-19 risk, and ensure access to health and sanitation, for people deprived of liberty

Nearly all of the countries reviewed for this report have released some people from prisons to address overcrowding and reduce the spread and risks of COVID-19 among people deprived of liberty. Some countries have reduced overcrowding significantly, but in many settings, the releases have been too small to have a significant impact. This report details examples where ill-treatment of people in prison is likely to drive the spread of COVID-19. Testing and medical care are significant problems for many people in prison during the pandemic. Where lockdowns cut off family support, there are further rights concerns. Governments should ensure release of people at particular risk of COVID-19 where possible, people whose crimes are not recognized under international law, and any other people who can be released without compromising public safety, such as those sentenced for minor nonviolent offences, with specific consideration given to women and children.

In March 2020, the UN Secretary-General stated that because of the serious risks of COVID-19, imprisonment should be a last resort during the pandemic (248). Since then, UN experts have underlined how COVID-19 has "heightened vulnerability of prisoners and other people deprived of liberty" and encouraged governments to take all appropriate public health measures to address COVID-19 in prisons (249). OHCHR, UNAIDS, UNODC and WHO have urged governments to create release mechanisms for people at particular risk of COVID-19, such as older people and people with pre-existing health conditions, and others who could be released without compromising public safety (249). It is essential to abide by international human rights standards on the treatment of prisoners (249-252). The obligation to ensure health, safety and dignity applies "irrespective of any state of emergency" (249). In many prisons, physical distancing, handwashing and access to disinfectant are difficult or impossible, and personal protective equipment for prisoners and staff is in short supply. As noted by OHCHR, UNAIDS, UNODC and WHO, "prison populations have an overrepresentation of people with substance use disorders, HIV, tuberculosis (TB) and hepatitis B and C compared to the general population. The rate of infection of diseases in such a confined population is also higher than among the general population. Beyond the normal infectivity of the COVID-19 pandemic, people with substance use disorders, HIV, hepatitis and TB may be at increased risk of complications from COVID-19" (249).

Overcrowding constitutes an insurmountable obstacle for preventing, preparing for or responding to COVID-19... We urge political leaders to consider limiting the deprivation of liberty, including pretrial detention, to a measure of last resort, particularly in the case of overcrowding, and to enhance efforts to resort to non-custodial measures.

.....

– UNODC, WHO, UNAIDS and OHCHR (249)

Despite the many calls for the release of prisoners, one study estimates that while 109 countries had adopted decongestion policies by June 2020, only 639 000 prisoners had been released globally, representing only 5.8% of the global prison population (253). In 15 of the 16 countries reviewed for this report, governments, through executive or judicial action, have released people from prisons to reduce overcrowding and stem COVID-19 transmission; El Salvador is the exception (254-256). The Ethiopian Government reported releasing 40 000 people from prisons as of May 2020 (257). The Supreme Court judicial prosecutor in Chile reported that a third of the country's prison population had been released as of June 2020 (258). Efforts in some contexts have been slow, however, and often not at a scale commensurate with the magnitude of overcrowding. In Brazil, judges released 30 000 people early in the pandemic, but this represented only 4% of the overall prison population (259). In Nigeria, the interior minister called for a "massive decongestion" of the country's extremely overcrowded prisons in March (260). Civil society organizations have complained about the sluggish speed of the process of selecting and releasing people from prisons (261).

Where releases have occurred, civil society groups have noted that women have been largely absent from the releases. For example, Penal Reform International noted that in Nigeria, only one of 2600 people released was a woman (262).

UNODC has indicated justice system officials should make decisions that contribute to reducing incarceration rates during the pandemic, including allowing alternatives to pretrial loss of liberty, the commutation or suspension of sentences, and other legal mechanisms (263). Many people have been detained, however, for violating curfew orders or failing to wear masks. Reports indicate that thousands of Salvadorans have been arrested and detained for an indefinite period of time for violating lockdown measures, even though the decrees establish 14-day containment as a sanction (249, 264, 265). This has continued, even though the Supreme Court ruled this to be unconstitutional (266, 267).

The El Salvador Ombudsperson's Office reports that people were being held in overcrowded detention centres (268). Detainees lack appropriate access to food, water and medical treatment; many are being forced to sleep on the ground; and there are no measures in place to separate higher risk people from other detainees (67). The Government of El Salvador announced that people held in these centres will not be a priority for testing, even though this is a criterion for their release from detention (269). El Salvador also exacerbated the risks of COVID-19 transmission in prisons. In April 2020, in response to a wave of gang-related homicides, Salvadoran authorities initiated a crackdown in several of the country's prisons, forcing people to crowd together on the ground, photos of which were shared publicly by authorities. OHCHR has said this "could amount to cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment, and could also exacerbate the already precarious hygiene conditions" (270).

The UN Secretary-General and other experts have underscored the importance of a gender-responsive approach to addressing COVID-19 among people in prisons and other closed settings (248, 249). In many countries, people in prison are reliant on family visits for basic necessities, which may impact women more directly. Many countries have disproportionately high incarceration rates of prisoners with disabilities, particularly intellectual and psychosocial disabilities. Countries should work to ensure that prisoners with disabilities have access to legal avenues for release due to COVID-19 vulnerability, if applicable, and continuity of access to medical care and other services (271).

It is crucial to ensure access to COVID-19 testing in prisons around the world to efficiently address hotspots when they occur and to ensure adequate access to

treatment. In many prison systems around the world, too few clinical or medical staff are available for the overall number of people in prisons, and decisions regarding access to medical care are often left to people without appropriate training. For people in prisons to receive the same standard of health as mandated by the United Nations Standards on the Treatment of Prisoners ("Mandela Rules"), timely access to medical care and testing remain critical (*250*).

Implement measures to prevent and address gender-based violence against women, children and lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and intersex people during lockdowns

Nearly all countries have seen significant increases in reports of gender-based violence, and yet none of the lockdown restrictions we reviewed explicitly allow people to leave home or change domiciles to escape such violence. Governments should expand services, allow the movement of people to escape abuse and support people seeking assistance. UNAIDS, UNESCO, UNFPA and WHO have warned that the pandemic is intensifying the risk of gender-based violence (9, 272-274). Closed schools and work-from-home orders keep people in constant close proximity to their abusers, while increased fear, anxiety, stress, economic pressure and social dislocation can put women and children and other vulnerable people at increased risk of abuse (274-276). Intimate partner violence in areas of high HIV prevalence is associated with women being 50% more likely to be HIV-positive. Meanwhile, men who are perpetrators of violence against women tend to be at higher risk of HIV themselves, and to use condoms less frequently, thus increasing the risk of HIV transmission. Abuse during pregnancy also makes it less likely that women will seek HIV testing or services to prevent vertical transmission to newborns. In addition, being HIV-positive is a trigger for violence, with women living with HIV frequently reporting experiences of violence or fear of violence, including from intimate partners, and such situations will only be exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic and the related lockdowns (277).

UNFPA warns: "as systems that protect women and girls, including community structures, may weaken or break down, specific measures should be implemented to protect women and girls from the risk of intimate partner violence with the changing dynamics of risk imposed by COVID-19 . . . Obstacles and barriers must be addressed, enabling women's and girls' access to services, including psychosocial support services, especially for those subject to violence or who may be at risk of violence in quarantine . . . Gender-based violence referral pathways must be updated to reflect changes in available care facilities, while key communities and service providers must be informed about those updated pathways" (9).

According to the United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women (UN Women), emerging data indicate that all types of violence against women and girls, particularly domestic violence, have intensified since the outbreak of COVID-19 across the globe, with increases in calls to domestic violence hotlines in many countries and limited access to support (277). For the countries in this review, all 12 countries with lockdowns have recorded increases in gender-based violence, reflecting the broader global trend (279-296).

Given the challenge of timely information collection, the true situation is likely to be much worse than we know. In most of these countries, reported incidents have increased by 40-70%, with even greater spikes in certain municipalities, including Bogotà, Colombia (225%) and Providencia, Santiago, Chile, which has a population of just over 140 000 people (500%) (283). The Central African Republic, which does not have a full lockdown, has seen a 24% increase in reports of gender-based violence cases (297). Additionally, Botswana (298), Kenya (299), Peru (284, 293) and Uganda (300) have recorded increased incidents of child sex abuse. There are also concerns that lockdown measures may be making it more difficult to report situations of abuse. Although official records in Jamaica show a decline in reports of child sex abuse, for example, experts working for national child welfare institutions are concerned that while reports continue to come in through WhatsApp and toll-free lines, children could be in situations where the pathways for identifying or reporting abuse are currently less accessible due to the closure of schools, and that abuse is most likely taking place at home or at the hands of relatives (288, 301).

Government lockdown policies that designate days to leave the home by gender have also led to additional discrimination, harassment and violence by private and public actors. In Colombia, there were reports of transgender people unable to access public services because they were out on the day that corresponds to their gender identity rather than the gender marker on their identity documents (302, 303). The Colombia rights group Red Comunitaria Trans said it had received 18 discrimination complaints since the measure began, including complaints of violence against transgender people out on the "wrong" day (304).

In some countries, there are promising signs that awareness of gender-based violence as a pervasive problem is during lockdowns. For example, a Colombian nongovernmental organization describes how "neighbours began reporting cases of violence like never before . . . This has never happened. I just hope that this never goes back to being hidden, that violence against women becomes a public issue because of this surge" (284). On 30 March, Argentine people took to their balconies, banging pots and flying purple handkerchiefs for women and children experiencing gender-based violence (304).

Governments are aware of the problem and are making efforts to address it. In the Central African Republic and Jamaica, UNAIDS is working with national governments and other UN agencies to prioritize gender-based violence in their COVID-19 response programmes. Argentina (305), Colombia (306), Peru (307) and South Africa (308) have taken steps to prioritize and strengthen the responses of the police and protective authorities and to expedite judicial proceedings against abusers. Argentina (309), Botswana (310), Chile (311), El Salvador (312, 313), Kenya (314), Nigeria (291), Peru (307) and South Africa (315) have strengthened gender-based violence reporting systems by expanding hotlines and offering new WhatsApp, text or email reporting options for women who cannot make a phone call within earshot of their abusers. Argentina (304) and Chile (316) have set up code word-based reporting systems, where a woman can go into a pharmacy and ask for a "red facemask" or a "facemask19" and the pharmacist will call for help. The Bogotà Secretariat for Women partnered with FENALCO, the National Trade Federation of Colombia, to create a "safe spaces" strategy, where women can report gender-based violence in supermarkets (317).

The impact of COVID-19 on services to aid survivors who report gender-based violence is less clear. Nor did any of the countries we reviewed have explicit provisions in their lockdown orders allowing people to leave home or relocate to a different residence if they felt unsafe. In most cases, it does not appear that governments intend to prevent people from seeking safety—but that message is not necessarily getting through. One Colombian nongovernmental organization reports that as soon as the lockdown started, it began getting texts from women saying "my husband is beating me up, but I'm not allowed to leave" (284). Gender-based violence shelters were open and operating in Chile (316), Peru (318) and South Africa (319, 320), but we could not determine whether the same was true for the other countries we reviewed. Peru is

guaranteeing the provision of urgent care to people experiencing gender-based violence as a priority (321). The Buenos Aires Government has said it will pay for transfer, new lodgings and medical costs for survivors of gender-based violence (321).

Even where emergency centres and shelters are operating, the COVID-19 pandemic creates a host of new challenges. In South Africa, at the time of writing, in order to be admitted to a shelter, a survivor must first be tested for the novel coronavirus and await their results in a quarantine hospital (*320*). Once admitted, survivors may not be released from the facility for the duration of the lockdown, visits were not allowed, and family reunification and interaction programmes have been suspended (*319*). These policies may be necessary to protect shelter residents from COVID-19, but they may also dissuade survivors from seeking help.

The dangers and hardships of lockdowns are particularly acute for members of the LGBTI community, especially youth, who may be forced to remain in or return to homes where they are unsafe and unaccepted. As well as physical dangers, nongovernmental organization and media reports reveal the extreme psychological and emotional toll that lockdowns are taking on LGBTI youth. For example, a young Brazilian woman described her experience in her parents' home: "Being a lesbian made them so disappointed in me that no matter what I do, it's never enough. I feel like I'm watching my life go by through somebody else's eyes—because I'm not who they want me to be, but I also can't be myself when I'm in their house" (322). In Nigeria, one LGBTI organization described how it has been overwhelmed by calls from people needing support; although most requested food and monetary support, "some people just requested that they don't really need anything, they just need someone to talk to" (322).

Designate and support essential workers, including community health workers and community-led service providers, journalists and lawyers

The HIV and COVID-19 pandemics have shown how journalists are critical to providing people with unrestricted, trusted information, and the COVID-19 pandemic has highlighted the impact of lockdown measures on communities, such as key populations and people living with HIV. It also has illustrated the importance of lawyers for ensuring accountability for a rights-based response, of community health workers and community-led service providers for reaching marginalized people (including key populations and other people vulnerable to HIV), and of diversifying delivery of services, including those for HIV. Most, but not all, governments have designated these three groups as essential workers, although arrests and harassment have been documented in several settings. In some countries, there remain major barriers to these groups working effectively under lockdown orders. Governments should ensure they are designated as essential workers and are supported to work safely during the pandemic. This report has already detailed the importance of each of these groups to ensuring the protection of key populations and other vulnerable groups, and the role they play in the continuation of services, from representing LGBTI youth arrested in Uganda, to providing safe access to HIV prevention and treatment services, to drawing international attention to violence and discrimination faced by sex workers and transgender persons.

During lockdowns and other periods of limitations on movement, governments are making critical decisions about which categories of people are designated as essential and how they will be supported to carry out important functions in the disease response. Community health workers and community-led service providers, lawyers and journalists are not always considered essential, but they provide particularly important support for a rights-based response. OHCHR, UNAIDS, UNODC, WHO and other UN agencies have called on governments to categorize these groups as essential workers (*13, 249, 323, 324*). As outlined in Table 3, countries have taken a variety of approaches to designating these workers as essential.

Table 3. Designation of community health workers, journalists and lawyers as essential workers, 15 May 2020

Country	Community health workers	Journalists	Lawyers
Argentina	Yes	Some	No
Botswana	Yes	Yes	Yes
Brazil	Yes	Yes	No
Cameroon	N/A	N/A	N/A
Central African Republic	N/A	N/A	N/A
Chile	No	Yes	No
Colombia	Yes	Yes	No
El Salvador	Yes	Yes	Yes
Ethiopia	N/A	N/A	N/A
Jamaica	Yes	Yes	Yes
Kenya	Yes	Yes	No
Malawi	N/A	N/A	N/A
Nigeria	Yes	Yes	Some
Peru	Yes	Yes	Some
South Africa	Yes	Yes	Yes
Uganda	Yes	Yes	No

Community health workers and community-led services

Community health workers, health promoters, home health aides and health-service providers from community-led organizations play a critical role in supporting health and rights in the HIV response, particularly in reaching those who are the most marginalized and left behind. It is essential that this approach is carried over into the COVID-19 response, both for people living with and affected by HIV and the broader population.

The World Health Assembly resolution called on Member States to include exceptions in restrictions on the movement of people for "community health workers to fulfil their duties" (325). Health professionals are essential workers under public health orders in all countries we reviewed; however, community health workers and community-led service providers often lack official recognition, credentials or certification guaranteeing them recognition. Some are public employees, but others are less formally employed in the private or nongovernmental sector-and thus their status, and the protections and equipment they receive, are far more tenuous if they are not explicitly exempted from limitations on movement. Community health workers and community-led service providers are particularly critical in the realization of the right to health under lockdown for people with less access to health care because of age, rural geography, lack of transport or immigration status-not only for COVID-19, but also for the distribution of HIV medicines and other critical health services, including for sexual and reproductive health. Other service providers from community-led organizations may not be recognized as community health workers, and yet "community organizations have an unparalleled depth of experience in creating and delivering responses to health and human rights crises within their communities. The many community-led networks and groups that emerged to respond to HIV possess immense practical experience, organizational strength and unparalleled community access for facilitating the delivery of lifesaving support, and for influencing people's real-life practices to better protect their health" (325). UNAIDS has recommended that governments include "the workforce of community-led health-care services into the lists of essential service providers and treat them as equivalent to health-care providers" (325).

Decrees in Argentina (326), Brazil (327), Chile, Colombia (328) and El Salvador (28) broadly cover people working in health, which presumably includes community health workers and similar roles (such as health promoters). In Peru, all people working in health services can request a Special Labor Pass (329). South Africa explicitly exempts all health workers in the public and private sectors from the lockdown order (330) and has mobilized 28 000 community health workers to lead screening, testing and contact tracing efforts, but there have been extensive reports that health workers lack personal protective equipment (331-333), with particular concern for community health workers (334). In Nigeria, the President's COVID-19 Regulations (335) explicitly exempt all organizations involved in health care, while the local order allows for movement to deliver medical supplies (336). The Nigerian polio infrastructure has been mobilized for COVID-19 contact tracing, including hundreds of disease notification and surveillance officers and more than 50 000 community informants for community sensitization and case reporting (337). Additionally, the HIV structure, community volunteers and other relevant agencies were mobilized for community engagement, risk communication and contact tracing (338).

Journalists

Access to information and transparency is critical to a rights-based response. People need accurate information about health, and governments need information about what is happening in communities in order to calibrate effective policy responses. They play a key role in ensuring that the experiences of people living with HIV, key populations, and women and girls are brought to light so that action can be taken to correct violations. The critical principles of accountability of a government to its people and participation of communities in decision-making are premised on transparent information. All of these require journalists to be designated as essential workers under public health orders and for governments to refrain from restricting their movement and access to information. Freelance journalists in particular often lack official credentials, making it hard for them to navigate police checks and limitations under curfews and lockdowns (*339*). The UN Secretary-General has "urged governments to protect journalists and others who work in media, and to uphold press freedom," warning that COVID-19 response measures should not be abused as an excuse to impede journalists' ability to do their work (*323*).

While there is no global database of which countries have designated journalists as essential workers, the Special Rapporteur on the promotion and protection of the right to freedom of opinion and expression called on countries to designate journalists as essential in April 2020, noting that there have been numerous reports globally of journalists and media workers experiencing intimidation, detention, questioning and other forms of repression (*340*). Most, but not all, countries have designated journalists as essential workers. In Uganda, for example, the President explicitly mentioned that "the media people and journalists are very important to this country" in his order designating all media as essential– although reports of violence and harassment continue (*241, 242*).

In El Salvador, early executive orders failed to explicitly include journalists, but this was addressed in more recent ministerial orders (343). In a Presidential Decree, Brazil recognizes broadly as essential activities "telecommunications and internet" and "sound and image broadcasting," so workers from these sectors would be allowed to go out if the country were to implement a national lockdown (344). At the state level, Maranhão, for example, does not mention journalists but excludes workers in "telecommunication services," "postal services and internet" and "social communication services" from the lockdown (24). Peru excludes workers from "telecommunication and call centre services" and "sound and image broadcasting services" (149).

Journalists have, however, reportedly faced arrest and mistreatment under newly expanded police powers during the pandemic in a range of countries throughout the world (345-348). Concerns about journalist mistreatment were raised by the Committee to Protect Journalists in the arrest of South African journalist Paul Nthoba in the Free State. Nthoba was charged with obstructing law enforcement under the country's Disaster Management Act (349, 350). In Kenya, nongovernmental organizations have reported a rise in reports of attacks on journalists in recent months, with at least 22 documented in March and April 2020 by the organization Article 19, and concerns raised by a range of human rights groups about journalists arrested for violating curfew laws, even though they are officially exempted (351). The Association of Journalists of El Salvador reported several examples of journalists from the Christian Radio and Television Network and Radio La Voz de Mi Gente being harassed or prevented from reporting by security forces because of the lockdown order (352, 353). It is notable that governments in all of these countries have been responsive to complaints and have revised rules, laws or procedures.

Lawyers and legal services

As the recent joint UN statement on prisons and COVID-19 noted, the right to legal representation must continue to be fully respected during public health emergencies (249). Doing so requires not only that the judiciary continues to function, but that lawyers and legal services be allowed to continue to operate effectively, travel as needed, and perform their functions as essential services. As described in the final recommendation, courts and lawyers have been critical to ensuring the defense of human rights during the COVID-19 pandemic, including for key populations and other vulnerable groups. In Botswana, "legal practitioners" are explicitly included under the definition of "essential services" (23). In Jamaica, the public health order allows "any attorney-at-law attending at police stations or lock-ups, or appearing before a court ... or attending to a client of the attorney-at law in the case of an emergency arising due to the SARS-CoV-2 (coronavirus COVID-19) pandemic" (354).

In many countries, the position of lawyers were much less clear, which can be a barrier to effective legal services. For example, in Argentina, "personnel of the justice services on duty" (22), and in El Salvador, "legislators and staff of the Legislative Assembly" (28) were exempt from lockdowns; however, lawyers were not explicitly mentioned.

In Chile, lawyers were not part of the exceptions established by the national government, but to "attend to a judicial hearing in which a lawyer must be to comply with the law" is one of the reasons people can argue to access the "temporary permit to move about during the quarantine" (47, 168).

In Kenya and Uganda, the governments did not include lawyers in the definition of "essential workers," even as hundreds of people in both countries were being arrested and detained for violations of lockdown measures and courts were continuing to operate in limited ways. This profoundly hampered or removed access to counsel for many people in need to legal support. For example, in Uganda, the ban on all public and private transport meant that lawyers could not use any transport means except walking or cycling to reach their clients. On some occasions, officials have denied lawyers access to their clients in prison, citing the lockdown as a rationale (*346*). In one case, the High Court of Uganda found that this practice violated clients' constitutional rights and awarded them each 5 million Ugandan shillings (US\$ 1350) in damages (*356*).

The Kenya Law Society petitioned the Constitutional Court in April and obtained an order from the court including lawyers as essential workers. The judge specifically found that lawyers "can be extra vigilant when the State is exercising emergency powers and offer legal aid to those in need" (*357*). In Uganda, the situation left lawyers vulnerable to arrest for doing their jobs during the most restrictive time of the lockdown. Ugandan lawyers sued the state on constitutional grounds, but while the court process was under way, the Government announced that the Uganda Law Society should designate 30 lawyers countrywide who could receive the permission stickers required to use private transport and provide services as essential workers. This allows only 1 lawyer per 1.4 million Ugandans, however, creating devastating inequities in access to legal help (*358*). In Argentina, the Public Bar Association of the Federal Capital appealed for legal protection, as lawyers have not been part of the exceptions mentioned in any of the national decrees regulating lockdowns (*359*).

Where lawyers have had the ability to operate, they have been able to: innovate; ensure timely, fair and effective court processes, despite the challenges of COVID-19; and work to assist and monitor the important work around decongestion of prisons, which are hotspots in many countries for the spread of the COVID-19. For example, in South Africa, public interest law organizations came together to establish a hotline for free legal advice during COVID-19 restrictions (*360*).

Ensure limitations on movement are specific, time-bound and evidence-based, and that governments adjust measures in response to new evidence and as problems arise

Most public health orders in these 16 countries are time-bound and specific. Governments should periodically review public health measures to ensure they are proportionate, necessary and legitimate and to identify possible rights violations and problems in addition to those identified above. They should adjust measures to rectify these problems and incorporate new evidence about COVID-19. Failure to do so can lead to the continuation of the negative impacts of lockdowns, including LGBTI youth staying in unsafe family situations, disruptions or barriers to accessing food, shelter or health services (including HIV services), and sex workers continuing to face arrest.

At the 73rd World Health Assembly, Member States resolved to "ensure that restrictions on the movement of persons . . . in the context of COVID-19 are 'temporary and specific' and 'time-bound'" (361). OHCHR advises that governments can respect these obligations by ensuring that policies limiting individuals' movements have built-in review and expiration dates (60). This means that governments must proactively decide to extend the restrictions if necessary; otherwise, the law automatically reverts to its prior state and people can fully exercise their rights.

Most countries have constructed their lockdown policies in this way, including Argentina (22), Botswana (23), Colombia (27), El Salvador (28), Jamaica (29), Kenya (30), Nigeria (31), Peru (32), South Africa (33) and Uganda (34). In Brazil, the Federal Government has not instituted lockdowns, but lockdowns have been instituted at the state and subnational levels (24, 25). Chile stands out since it implemented its nationwide curfew (which lasts from 10 pm until 5 am) indefinitely, with no review date specified in law (26).

Problems can arise, however, when orders are of such short duration that successive orders result in confusion and lack of time for governments or the judiciary to assess them. For example, in El Salvador, the Constitutional Chamber of the Supreme Court has been admitting cases for legal revision of several of the restrictions included in the executive decrees, but it has been unable to keep up with rapid changes in policies (*362-364*). Human rights law mandates that governments review restrictions to assess their effectiveness. If measures that restrict people's rights are not effective from a public health standpoint, then they can no longer be justified. It may not be practicable to conduct a rigorous policy evaluation in the midst of a quickly evolving pandemic, but one way that governments can act on this obligation and ensure effective policies is by updating them as new scientific information and evidence from community and other sources become available (*365*).

For example, between early April and early May 2020, Argentina, Botswana, Cameroon, Chile, Colombia, El Salvador, Ethiopia, Jamaica, Kenya, Nigeria, Peru, South Africa and Uganda adopted new policies requiring people to wear facemasks in public (366-370). Facemasks are also required in some parts of Brazil (77, 371) and recommended (but not required) in the Central African Republic (372). The Government of Uganda has said it will provide facemasks free of charge for the entire population, but implementing this commitment has been slow, with distribution beginning on 10 June 2020 (373). Only Malawi has no official facemask policy.

While addressing the public health crisis, lockdown policies limit freedom and impose heavy economic and social tolls. Governments can honour their human rights commitments by revising lockdown measures to address unforeseen problems and ameliorate unintentional consequences, especially for vulnerable groups-but we found relatively few examples of governments doing so. Peru initially allowed people to leave home only on specific days of the week, depending on their gender: women on Tuesdays, Thursdays and Saturdays, and men on Mondays, Wednesdays and Fridays (95, 374). This measure was abandoned after eight days when policymakers realized it was not effective (375, 376); the country also added a lockdown exception to allow people with intellectual and psychosocial disabilities and a companion to leave home and spend time outdoors more frequently (377, 378). Argentina (379, 380) and Chile (47, 381) have similar exceptions. In Argentina, children were initially required to stay with one parent, but restrictions were amended to allow children to travel between the homes of parents who share custody (382). In Uganda, under pressure from civic groups, the Government amended movement restrictions to allow pregnant women to seek care without official permission.

Create space for independent civil society and judicial accountability, ensuring continuity despite limitations on movement

Civil society, particularly community-led organizations, and courts in many of the countries reviewed, have helped improve the COVID-19 response where they are enabled to operate freely by highlighting problems experienced by communities and both offering and implementing solutions. Governments should include community-led organizations in their decision-making bodies, including those focused on gender, equity and human rights, to ensure COVID-19 policies are designed to support the range of service providers and activities necessary for an effective and equitable response. This should be before imposing restrictions on movement and should create space for civil society voices to engage with and monitor the COVID-19 response. Courts should also continue to operate as much as possible to hear cases where rights issues, particularly liberty interests, are at stake and cases are related to the legality or constitutionality of the government's COVID-19 response.

No country or government can solve the crisis alone; civil society organizations, particularly community-led organizations, should be seen as strategic partners in the fight against the pandemic. I am thus concerned by the information I have received from online consultations with civil society around the world, suggesting several worrying trends and limitations, including on civil society's ability to support an effective response.

-United Nations Special Rapporteur on the rights to freedom of peaceful assembly and of association (383)

One of the key lessons of the HIV response has been that civil society advocacy and public interest legal efforts, especially those led by and for communities most affected, play a key role in responding to the pandemic. They increase the potential for accountability, provide a platform for authentic community voices, and bring critical information to light for governments about what is and is not working to advance public health. Engagement with civil society builds trust, ensures suitability and effectiveness, helps to avoid indirect or unintended harms, and ensures the frequent sharing of information. We have also seen this during the COVID-19 pandemic. The UN Special Rapporteur on the rights to freedom of peaceful assembly and of association has underscored this, stating "no country or government can solve the crisis alone; civil society organizations should be seen as strategic partners in the fight against the pandemic" (383). A joint statement by UN agencies calls on governments to "guarantee meaningful participation of all sectors of society and diverse civil society actors in decision-making processes on COVID-19 response" (106).

Such independent scrutiny is especially critical now, as governments rush to address the pandemic, planning outside regular channels, often without past experience to draw on, complex and multifaceted virus mitigation measures. Consultations with and participation of civil society on government task forces is an important step—but it is not sufficient. Civil society should have the space and freedom to use a wide range of tools, without fear of reprisals, to bring expertise to bear and be a credible partner to affected communities and governments. From the perspective of HIV, for example, it would be critical to have representation from communities of people who are living with or vulnerable to HIV–including key populations, women and girls, and migrants—so that they can flag the specific or disproportionate impacts that lockdown measures are having on their communities, and so that they can suggest alternatives and indicate where existing community structures can be mobilized quickly for the COVID-19 response. However, research by WHO indicates that "civil society is hardly involved in national government decision-making nor its response efforts, and that female representation in COVID-19 decision-making entities is particularly paltry" (*384*).

In a number of countries, civic campaigns are highlighting the serious threat of rights violations prompted by disproportionately broad public health orders, and in some instances, these campaigns have prompted life-saving policy and practice changes. For example, in Uganda, a campaign by civil society and human rights organizations was able to document multiple cases of the devastating consequences of the severely restrictive lockdown on access to medical care for pregnant women and children (385, 386). The campaign ultimately contributed to shifting World Bank policies and a change in the Government of Uganda's policy approach to the issue. Building on this success, organizations have pressed for more expansive access to health care for other vulnerable groups, such as people living with HIV or tuberculosis, and people with other chronic illnesses (387).

In Santiago, Chile, civil society groups urgently warned of a problem of hunger as protests broke out over lack of access to food (*212, 388, 389*). As mentioned above, in response, President Piñera announced five measures to support the most vulnerable people, including the delivery of 2.5 million baskets of food and essential products (*214*).

Activists have been able to provide critical insights on proposed measures, helping to shape COVID-19 response legislation. For example, in Nigeria, civic groups came together to provide law-makers with a legal analysis of the pending Infectious Diseases Bill 2020 submitted to the House of Representatives. The groups raised specific concerns over the bill granting broad, overreaching powers to public health officials, including the Minister of Health and the Director General of the National Center for Disease Control (*390*). The groups argued that a provision allowing the Director General to "stop any meeting" on public health grounds lacked statutory safeguards and was prone to abuse, and "effectively deprives aggrieved persons the right to fair hearing" (*391*).

Civic activism has paved the way for public interest litigation that has buttressed a country's rights-based responses. Kenyan lawyers were able to receive a designation from the judiciary to be deemed "essential workers" (392).

Such a designation has allowed lawyers to work in a myriad of areas to support an effective response, including advocating for victims and survivors of abuse and discrimination. In Malawi, a coalition of human rights organizations won a court injunction on 17 April 2020 against government plans to impose a lockdown without first ensuring that vulnerable people had access to food, water and other basic needs. The Government withdrew its appeal of the injunction on 23 April 2020 and announced a new aid programme for 1 million people and small businesses affected by the pandemic (393). While opposing a lockdown order until protections are in place, civil society groups have nonetheless called on the Government to move quickly to establish a rights-based plan to enforce distancing guidelines–particularly during an election campaign that is drawing large crowds (394, 395).

Conclusion

We know from our experiences with HIV that public health approaches that are not in line with human rights can undermine a pandemic response. Efforts should be made to ensure that lessons learned about human rights and community engagement in dealing with epidemics such as HIV and Ebola are not forgotten and are included in the design of the ongoing response to COVID-19, not only to ensure an effective COVID-19 response, but also to avoid undermining other ongoing public health efforts, including the HIV response. This 16-country review of policy responses restricting the movement of people as a strategy to halt COVID-19 finds that current responses in many countries have resulted in significant breaches of rights, including of people who are living with or vulnerable to HIV–some of which have already cost lives. Discriminatory enforcement, violence, overly restrictive lockdown orders, prison overcrowding and overreliance on criminal law enforcement are harmful in and of themselves, disproportionately impact key populations and are likely to undermine public health strategies and community trust in government.

The actions of some states show that rights-based responses to COVID-19 that also support the HIV response and communities are possible. Many states have made clear provision in public health orders for people to address their basic needs; taken proactive measures to address access to HIV treatment, food and water; expanded gender-based violence programming; designated community health workers and community-led service providers, journalists and lawyers as essential workers to help build and support community-based and community-led responses; and made space for civil society and judicial action to improve accountability and effectiveness of the COVID-19 response.

As governments and communities in countries around the world consider the coming months or years of the COVID-19 pandemic, there is an opportunity to calibrate responses for a pandemic likely to see waves of new infections and epidemics throughout the world for some time to come. In this context, non-pharmaceutical interventions, including legal interventions to limit the movement of people, will continue to be used to varying degrees to fight the disease that, at this point, has neither a vaccine nor highly effective, widely available treatments. In doing so, urgent consideration must be given to maximizing rights-based approaches that empower communities and build cooperation, not simply at the local and national levels, but internationally. In times of crisis, such as a pandemic, the protection of rights is everyone's responsibility, requiring international cooperation and assistance to support national responses that are grounded in human rights.

In the *Rights in the time of COVID-19* report, the final recommendation was "to be kind" (19). This was not an idle recommendation but a key element of a successful response. We are in a time of emergency, panic and fear. It is tempting to respond with strength and force rather than help and cooperation; easier to blame and stigmatize rather than empathize and support. To do the former is to risk human rights violations, as we have seen, and an ineffective response. To do the latter is to succeed.

References

- Resolution adopted by the Economic and Social Council on 24 July 2019: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS. New York: United Nations Economic and Social Council; 2020 (E/RES/2019/33).
- Political Declaration on HIV and AIDS: On the Fast-Track to Accelerate the Fight against HIV and to End the AIDS Epidemic by 2030. New York: United Nations General Assembly; 2016 (A/RES/70/266; https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/documents/2016/2016-political-declaration-HIV-AIDS).
- Guterres A. We are all in this together: human rights and COVID-19 response and recovery. In: UN.org [Internet]. New York: United Nations; 2020 (https://www.un.org/en/un-coronavirus-communicationsteam/we-are-all-together-human-rights-and-covid-19-response-and).
- Battersby B, Lam WR, Ture E. Tracking the \$9 trillion global fiscal support to fight COVID-19. In: International Monetary Fund Blog [Internet]. 20 May 2020. International Monetary Fund; c2019 (https://blogs.imf.org/2020/05/20/tracking-the-9-trillion-global-fiscal-support-to-fight-covid-19/).
- COVID-19: Ensuring access to quality, safe, and non-discriminatory services for HIV key populations and migrants. In: UNDP.org [Internet]. New York: United Nations Development Programme; 2020 (https://www.undp.org/content/undp/en/home/news-centre/news/2020/----statement-of-the-joint-unprogramme-on-hiv-aids--unaids--.html).
- 6. A/RES/74/270. Resolution adopted by the General Assembly on 2 April 2020. New York: United Nations General Assembly; 2020 (https://undocs.org/en/A/RES/74/270).
- 7. A/HRC/43/L.42. Statement of the President: human rights implications of the COVID-19 pandemic. New York: United Nations General Assembly; 2020 (https://undocs.org/A/HRC/43/L.42).
- Coronavirus: human rights need to be front and centre in response, says Bachelet. Geneva: United Nations Human Rights Office of the High Commissioner; 2020 (https://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/ Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=25668&LangID=E).
- 9. COVID-19: a gender lens. New York: United Nations Population Fund; 2020 (https://www.unfpa.org/ resources/covid-19-gender-lens).
- Human rights due diligence and COVID-19: rapid self-assessment for business. New York: United Nations Development Programme; 2020 (https://www.undp.org/content/undp/en/home/librarypage/democraticgovernance/human-rights-due-diligence-and-covid-19-rapid-self-assessment-for-business.html).
- Beware long-term damage to human rights and refugee rights from the coronavirus pandemic: UNHCR. Geneva: Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees; 2020 (https://www.unhcr. org/en-us/news/press/2020/4/5ea035ba4/beware-long-term-damage-human-rights-refugee-rightscoronavirus-pandemic.html).
- 12. In light of COVID-19 crisis, UN officials call for immediate release of all children in detention, including Palestinian children. Geneva: United Nations Children's Fund; 2020 (https://www.unicef.org/press-releases/light-covid-19-crisis-un-officials-call-immediate-release-all-children-detention).
- 13. Guidance note: ensuring access to justice in the context of COVID-19. Vienna: United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime; 2020 (https://www.unodc.org/documents/Advocacy-Section/Ensuring_Access_to_Justice_in_the_Context_of_COVID-191.pdf).
- Prevention and control of Covid-19 in detention facilities. Vienna: United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime; 2020 (https://www.unodc.org/ropan/en/prevention-and-control-of-covid-19-in-detentionfacilities.html).
- Checklist for COVID-19 response by UN Women Deputy Executive Director Åsa Regnér. New York: UN Women; 2020 (https://www.unwomen.org/en/news/stories/2020/3/news-checklist-for-covid-19response-by-ded-regner).
- COVID-19 and ending violence against women and girls. New York: UN Women; 2020 (https://www. Unwomen.org/-/media/headquarters/attachments/sections/library/publications/2020/issue-brief-covid-19-and-ending-violence-against-women-and-girls-en.pdf?la=en&vs=5006).

- 17. Protecting migrant workers during the COVID-19 pandemic. Geneva: International Labour Organization; 2020 (https://www.ilo.org/global/topics/labour-migration/publications/WCMS_743268/lang--en/index.htm).
- COVID-19-related discrimination and stigma: a global phenomenon? Paris: United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization; 2020 (https://en.unesco.org/news/covid-19-relateddiscriminationand-stigma-global-phenomenon).
- 19. Rights in the time of COVID-19: lessons from HIV for an effective, community-led response. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2020 (https://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media_ asset/human-rights-and-covid-19_en.pdf).
- 20. Addressing human rights as key to the COVID-19 response. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/addressing-human-rights-as-key-to-the-covid-19-response).
- S v President of Malawi and Others; Ex Parte: Kathumba and Others (Judicial Review Cause No. 22 of 2020) [2020] MWHC 7 17 April 2020 (https://malawilii.org/mw/judgment/high-court-generaldivision/2020/7).
- Decree No. 297/2020. Aislamiento social preventivo y obligatorio. Buenos Aires: Government of Argentina; 2020 (https://www.boletinoficial.gob.ar/detalleAviso/primera/227042/20200320).
- 23. Botswana Statutory Instrument No. 61 of 2020. Emergency Powers Act (Cap. 22:04). Emergency powers (COVID-19) regulations, 2020. Gaberone: Government of Botswana; 2020 (https://bw.usembassy.gov/wp-content/uploads/sites/125/Emergency-Powers-COVID-19-Regulations-2020.pdf).
- Decree No. 35.7849. São Luis, Brazil: Estado do Maranhão; 2020 (https://www.ma.gov.br/ agenciadenoticias/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/DECRETO-35.784-DE-3-DE-MAIO-DE-2020.pdf).
- Decree No. 729. Brasilia: Government of Brazil; 2020 (http://www.pge.pa.gov.br/sites/default/files/ decreto_no_729_atual.docx__0.pdf).
- 26. Resolution No. 215. Santiago: Government of Chile; 2020 (https://www.minsal.cl/wp-content/ uploads/2020/03/Diario-Oficial-30-de-marzo.pdf).
- 27. Decree No. 531. Bogotà: Government of Colombia; 2020 (https://dapre.presidencia.gov.co/normativa/).
- Decree No. 12. San Salvador: Ministry of Health of El Salvador; 2020 (https://www.diariooficial.gob.sv/ diarios/do-2020/03-marzo/21-03-2020.pdf).
- PM Holness announces nightly islandwide curfews for 7 days. Kingston: Office of the Prime Minister of Jamaica; 2020 (https://opm.gov.jm/news/pm-holness-announces-nightly-islandwide-curfews-for-7days/).
- Legal Notice No. 36. The Public Order (State Curfew) Order, 2020. Nairobi: Government of Kenya; 2020 (http://kenyalaw.org/kl/fileadmin/pdfdownloads/LegalNotices/2020/LN36_2020.pdf).
- The Quarantine Act: COVID-19 regulations. Abuja: Government of Nigeria; 2020 (https://pwcnigeria. typepad.com/files/fg-covid-19-regualtions-1.pdf).
- 32. Decree No. 044-2020-PCM. Lima: Government of Peru; 2020 (https://cdn.www.gob.pe/uploads/ document/file/566448/DS044-PCM_1864948-2.pdf).
- Regulations and guidelines: coronavirus COVID-2019. Cape Town: Government of South Africa; 2020 (https://www.gov.za/coronavirus/guidelines).
- President's address on COVID19 and new guidelines. Kampala: State House of Uganda; 2020 (http:// statehouse.go.ug/media/news/2020/03/25/presidents-address-covid19-new-guidelines).
- Government response strategy to the coronavirus pandemic (COVID-19). Yaoundé: Government of Cameroon; 2020 (https://www.prc.cm/en/multimedia/documents/8228-government-responsestrategyto-the-coronavirus-pandemic-covid-19).
- 36. Son Excellence le Professeur Faustin Archange Touadera, Président de la République, Chef de l'état, à la suite de la découverte du premier cas d'infection locale a coronavirus. Africanews, 26 March 2020 (https://fr.africanews.com/2020/03/27/coronavirus-republique-centrafricaine-message-a-la-nation-de-son-excellence-le-professeur-faustin-archange-touadera-president-de-la-republique-chef-de-letat-a-la-suite-de-la-decouverte-du-premier-cas-dinfection-locale-a-coronavirus-26-mars-2020/).
- State of emergency proclamation enacted to counter and control the spread of COVID-19 and mitigate its impact proclamation no. 3-2020. Embassy of the Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia, London, UK, 14 April 2020 (https://www.ethioembassy.org.uk/ethiopia-declares-state-of-emergency-to-curbtransmission-of-coronavirus/).

- Decree No. 636 of 2020. Bogotà: Government of Colombia; 2020 (https://dapre.presidencia.gov.co/ normativa/normativa/DECRETO%20636%20DEL%206%20DE%20MAYO%20DE%202020.pdf).
- Pres. Buhari Approves gradual easing of lockdown measures effective from May 4th 2020. Lagos: ProShare; 2020 (https://www.proshareng.com/news/Health/Pres.-Buhari-Approves-Gradual-Easing-of-Lockdown-Measures-Effective-From-May-4th-2020/50693).
- 40. Disaster Management Act, 2002. Regulations issued in terms of Section 27(2) of the Disaster Management Act, 2002. Cape Town: Government of South Africa; 2020 (https://www.gov.za/sites/ default/files/gcis_document/202004/43258rg11098gon480s.pdf).
- 41. COVID-19 curfew: who are exempted from lockdown? Loop News, 1 April 2020 (https://www. Loopjamaica.com/content/covid-19-curfew-who-are-exempted-lockdown).
- 42. Supreme Decree No. 664-2020-PCM. Lima: Government of Peru; 2020 (https://www.gob.pe/institucion/ pcm/normas-legales/473387-064-2020-pcm).
- President Museveni bans private cars, declares curfew. Daily Monitor, 30 March 2020 (https://www. Monitor.co.ug/News/National/President-Museveni-bans-use-of-private-vehicle/688334-5509474-livqgw/ index.html).
- 44. Museveni announces 14-day shutdown in Uganda as govt enforces discipline to stem Coronavirus spread. PML Daily, 30 March 2020 (https://www.pmldaily.com/news/2020/03/full-speech-museveni-announces-strict-measures.html).
- 45. Comisaría virtual. Santiago: Government of Chile; 2020 (https://www.chileatiende.gob.cl/fichas/66824-comisaria-virtual).
- 46. Bukele se salta a la Asamblea y prorroga por decreto el estado de emergencia. Elfaro, 17 May 2020 (https://elfaro.net/es/202005/el_salvador/24431/Bukele-se-salta-a-la-Asamblea-y-prorroga-pordecretoel-estado-de-emergencia.htm).
- 47. Permiso temporal para salir en cuarentena. Santiago: Government of Chile; 2020 (https://www. Chileatiende.gob.cl/fichas/77485-permiso-temporal-para-salir-en-cuarentena).
- 48. Permiso para circular: nuevo permiso de circulación online. Buenos Aires: Info Tramite (https:// infotramite.com/permiso-para-circular-online/).
- 49. Coronavirus en Argentina: declaran inconstitucional el permiso para circular a los mayores de 70 años que dispuso el gobierno de Horacio Rodríguez Larreta. Clarin, 20 April 2020 (https://www.clarin.com/sociedad/piden-declare-inconstitucional-resolucion-mayores-70-anos-capital-federal_0_zMHy_29cm.html).
- Juzgado de 1ra instancia en lo Contencioso Administrativo y Tributario No. 14 Secretaría No. 27. Buenos Aires: Poder Judicial; 2020 (https://www.aadtyss.org.ar/files/documentos/536/Fallo%20Lanzieri%20 c.%20GCABA.pdf).
- A partir de hoy rige el pico y cédula para diligencias y abastecimiento. Villavicencio: Mayor's Office;
 2020 (http://www.villavicencio.gov.co/NuestraAlcaldia/SaladePrensa/Paginas/A-PARTIR-DE-HOY-RIGE-EL-PICO-Y-C%C3%89DULA-PARA-DILIGENCIAS-Y-ABASTECIMIENTO.aspx).
- 52. Lockdown: restrictions hit St Catherine as 5th person dies, COVID-19 cases balloon to 105. The Gleaner, 15 April 2020 (http://jamaica-gleaner.com/article/lead-stories/20200415/lockdown-restrictions-hit-st-catherine-5th-person-dies-covid-19-cases).
- 53. Decree 057-2020-PCM. Lima: Government of Peru; 2020 (https://busquedas.elperuano.pe/ normaslegales/decreto-supremo-que-modifica-el-articulo-3-del-decreto-supre-decreto-supremo-no-057-2020-pcm-1865326-2/).
- Gobierno anula restricción por género: solo podrá salir una persona por núcleo familiar. La Republica, 10 April 2020 (https://larepublica.pe/sociedad/2020/04/10/gobierno-anula-restriccion-por-genero-solopodra-salir-una-persona-por-nucleo-familiar/).
- 55. Malawi high court blocks coronavirus lockdown. Aljazeera, 17 April 2020 (https://www.aljazeera.com/ news/2020/04/malawi-high-court-blocks-coronavirus-lockdown-200417184430403.html).
- United Nations Human Rights Committee General Comment No. 27 (https://www.refworld.org/ docid/45139c394.html).
- 57. Criminalization of HIV transmission. Policy brief. Geneva: UNAIDS; 2008 (http://data.unaids.org/pub/basedocument/2008/20080731_jc1513_policy_criminalization_en.pdf).
- Farge E. U.N. raises alarm about police brutality in lockdowns. In: Reuters [Internet]. 27 April 2020. Reuters; c2020 (https://www.reuters.com/article/us-health-coronavirus-un-rights/u-n-raises-alarm-about-police-brutality-in-lockdowns-idUSKCN2291X9).

- 59. Sun N, Zilli L. COVID-19 symposium: the use of criminal sanctions in COVID-19 responses exposure and transmission, parts I and II. In: Opinio Juris [Internet]. 3 April 2020 (http://opiniojuris. org/2020/04/03/covid-19-symposium-the-use-of-criminal-sanctions-in-covid-19-responses-exposureand-transmission-part-i/) and (http://opiniojuris.org/2020/04/03/covid-19-symposium-the-use-ofcriminal-sanctions-in-covid-19-responses-enforcement-of-public-health-measures-part-ii/).
- 60. Emergency measures and COVID-19: guidance. New York: Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights; 2020 (https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Events/ EmergencyMeasures_COVID19.pdf).
- Confronting discrimination. Overcoming HIV-related stigma and discrimination in health-care settings and beyond. Geneva: UNAIDS; 2017 (https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/documents/2017/ confronting-discrimination).
- 62. "Toxic lockdown culture" of repressive coronavirus measures hits most vulnerable. UN News, 27 April 2020 (https://news.un.org/en/story/2020/04/1062632).
- 63. Chile asegura haber detenido a más de 1.200 personas por no respetar la cuarentena por el coronavirus. El Pais, 11 April 2020 (https://www.elpais.cr/2020/04/11/chile-asegura-haber-detenido-a-mas-de-1-200-personas-por-no-respetar-la-cuarentena-por-el-coronavirus/).
- 64. Mas de 6 mis 800 personas fueron detenidas mas de una vey por incumplir medidas sanitarias. In: T13 [Internet]. 9 June 2020. Chile: T13; c2014 (https://www.t13.cl/noticia/nacional/detenidoscuarentena-09-06-2020).
- 65. Dapelo S. Tras un déa de retroceso de la cuarenta, el Gobierno reforyara controles y dispondra carriles exclusivos. La Nacion [Internet]. 25 March 2020 (https://www.lanacion.com.ar/politica/coronavirus-argentina-no-descartan-mas-controles-limitar-nid2347281).
- Cerca de 16 000 detenidos por violar aislamiento por coronavirus en Peru. In: El Commercio [Internet]. 24 March 2020 (https://www.elcomercio.com/actualidad/detenidos-peru-violacion-aislamientocovid19.html).
- 67. El Salvador: police abuses in COVID-19 response. New York: Human Rights Watch; 2020 (https://www.hrw.org/news/2020/04/15/el-salvador-police-abuses-covid-19-response#).
- Legal/human rights analysis of the declaration of state of emergency in Ethiopia in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. Ethiopian Human Rights Commission, 7 May 2020 (https://drive.google.com/ file/d/14vZPKtRk6PBOxQEwisNl2sg68dlwdsFT/view).
- Ethiopia: Police Arrest 2,800 for Violating COVID-19 Rules. AllAfrica, 16 May 2020 (https://allafrica.com/ stories/202005180757.html).
- Facebook Post. Addis Ababa Police Commission, 15 May 2020 (https://www.facebook.com/ Addisababapolice/posts/2561012800813960).
- 71. Cameroon arrests people without masks as COVID-19 cases increase. VOA News, 14 May 2020 (https:// www.voanews.com/covid-19-pandemic/cameroon-arrests-people-without-masks-covid-19-cases-increase).
- 72. Distributing food to a group of people equates to attempted murder, Museveni warns. Daily Monitor, 31 March 2020 (https://www.monitor.co.ug/News/National/Not-time-seek-cheap-popularity-Museveni-roars-politicians/688334-5509544-1j0yhpz/index.html).
- 73. He was distributing coronavirus aid: the police detained and tortured him. BuzzFeedNews, 8 May 2020 (https://www.buzzfeednews.com/article/lesterfeder/uganda-francis-zaake-coronavirus).
- 74. Food distribution: DPP drops charges against MP Zaake. In: The Observer [Internet]. 6 August 2020 (https://observer.ug/news/headlines/65995-food-distribution-dpp-drops-charges-against-mp-zaake).
- 75. Joho donates masks to be distributed to public at road blocks. The Standard, 16 April 2020 (https://www.standardmedia.co.ke/article/2001368219/joho-donates-masks-to-be-distributed-topublic-at-road-blocks).
- 76. Special report: Bolsonaro brought in his generals to fight coronavirus. Brazil is losing the battle. Reuters, 26 May 2020 (https://www.reuters.com/article/us-health-coronavirus-brazil-response-sp/ special-reportbolsonaro-brought-in-his-generals-to-fight-coronavirus-brazil-is-losing-the-battleidUSKBN2321DU).
- 77. Decree No. 33.574, 5 May 2020. Fortaleza: Government of the State of Ceará; 2020 (https://taxpratico. com.br/pagina/decreto-n-33574-de-05-de-maio-de-2020).
- 78. Editorial. Lockdown fears for key populations. Lancet HIV. 2020;7(8):e373.

- 79. Targeting sex workers is not the answer. In: UNAIDS.org [Internet]. 8 June 2020. Geneva: UNAIDS; c2020 (https://www.unaids.org/en/keywords/sex-workers-and-clients).
- Sex workers must not be left behind in the response to COVID-19. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2020 (https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/presscentre/ pressreleaseandstatementarchive/2020/april/20200408_sex-workers-covid-19).
- 81. In Cameroon, violating COVID-19 restrictions can get you arrested. VOA News, 30 March 2020 (https:// www.voanews.com/science-health/coronavirus-outbreak/cameroon-violating-covid-19-restrictions-can-get-you-arrested).
- Covid-19: 24 sex workers arrested, to be quarantined. Daily Nation, 21 April 2020 (https://www.nation. co.ke/counties/makueni/Covid-19–24-sex-workers-to-be-quarantined/1183294-5530086-9sjiquz/index. html).
- Kenyan sex workers abandoned and vulnerable during COVID-19. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2020 (https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/presscentre/featurestories/2020/ may/20200520_kenya).
- 84. Uganda's COVID-19 response is terrorizing women with arbitrary detention, blackmail, and violence. New York: Health GAP; 2020 (https://healthgap.org/press/ugandas-covid19-response-is-terrorizingwomen-with-arbitrary-detention-blackmail-and-violence/).
- 85. Army, police vow tough action after officers clobber, undress women at Elegu border. PML Daily, 6 April 2020 (https://www.pmldaily.com/news/2020/04/disturbing-images-army-police-vow-tough-action-after-officers-clobber-undress-women-at-elegu-border.html).
- 86. COVID-19 impact: El Salvador. Edinburgh: Global Network of Sex Work Projects; 2020 (https://www. Nswp.org/news/covid-19-impact-el-salvador).
- 87. COVID-19 Impact Europe and Latin America. Edinburgh: NSWP; 2020 (https://www.nswp.org/ resource/nswp-global-and-regional-reports/covid-19-impact-europe) and (https://www.nswp.org/ resource/nswp-global-and-regional-reports/covid-19-impact-latin-america).
- 88. Impact of COVID-19 on Sex Workers in Asia and the Pacific. Edinburgh: NSWP; 2020 (https://www.nswp. org/news/impact-covid-19-sex-workers-asia-and-the-pacific).
- 89. Coronavirus: Zambia sex workers praised for contact tracing. BBC News, 20 May 2020 (https://www.bbc. com/news/world-africa-52604961).
- "Don't have to fight for pennies": New Zealand safety net helps sex workers in lockdown. The Guardian, 28 April 2020 (https://www.theguardian.com/world/2020/apr/28/dont-have-to-fight-for-pennies-newzealand-safety-net-helps-sex-workers-in-lockdown).
- 91. Germany helps sex workers idled by covid-19. The Economist, 4 June 2020 (https://www.economist. com/europe/2020/06/04/germany-helps-sex-workers-idled-by-covid-19).
- 92. El Estado incluyó la categoría "trabajadores sexuales" en las actividades de la economía popular y luego dio marcha atrás. Infobae, 8 June 2020 (https://www.infobae.com/sociedad/2020/06/08/el-estado-incluyo-la-categoria-trabajadores-sexuales-en-las-actividades-de-la-economia-popular-y-luego-dio-marcha-atras/).
- 93. Struggling sex workers in Botswana get food aid. VOA News, 12 May 2020 (https://www.voanews.com/ africa/struggling-sex-workers-botswana-get-food-aid).
- 94. Post by Sisonke Botswana. In: Facebook [Internet]. 14 May 2020 (https://www.facebook.com/permalink. php?story_fbid=166392274908103&id=101288878085110).
- Gender divide: Peru, Panama limit men and women to alternate days out to stall virus. Reuters, 2 April 2020 (https://www.reuters.com/article/us-health-coronavirus-peru/gender-divide-peru-panamalimitmen-and-women-to-alternate-days-out-to-stall-virus-idUSKBN21K39N).
- 96. Denuncian que policías exigieron pase peatonal y DNI a dos mujeres transgénero. La República, 4 April 2020 (https://larepublica.pe/sociedad/2020/04/04/coronavirus-en-peru-cercado-de-lima-denuncianque-policias-exigieron-pase-peatonal-y-dni-a-dos-mujeres-transgenero-covid-19-pnp-transfobia-video/).
- Separan a policías que sometieron a castigos a mujeres transgénero en el Callao. La República, 6 April 2020 (https://larepublica.pe/sociedad/2020/04/07/callao-separan-a-policias-que-sometieron-acastigos-fisicos-a-mujeres-trans-video/).
- La lucha de las mujeres trans en tiempos de pandemia. El Comercio (https://especiales.elcomercio. pe/?q=especiales/mujeres-trans-en-tiempos-de-pandemia-ecpm/index.html).

- 99. Decreto Legislativo Que Establece Medidas Para Garantizar La Atención Y Protección De Las Víctimas De Violencia Contra Las Mujeres Y Los Integrantes Del Grupo Familiar Durante La Emergencia Sanitaria Declarada Por El Covid-19. El Peruano, 27 April 2020 (https://cdn.www.gob.pe/uploads/document/ file/662858/DL_1470.pdf).
- 100. Uganda LGBT shelter residents arrested on COVID-19 pretext. New York: Human Rights Watch; 2020 (https://www.hrw.org/news/2020/04/03/uganda-lgbt-shelter-residents-arrested-covid-19-pretext).
- 101. No lawyers for 20 LGBT Ugandans in prison on Covid-19 charges. Rights Africa, 1 April 2020 (https://rightsafrica.com/2020/04/01/no-lawyers-for-20-lgbt-ugandans-in-prison-on-covid-19-charges/).
- 102. High Court awards damages to COSF-19. Kampala: Human Rights Awareness and Promotion Forum; 2020 (https://www.hrapf.org/index.php/news-events/what-s-new/10-hrapf-news/99-high-courtofuganda-vindicates-rights-of-19-lgbt-youth).
- 103. Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS, unpublished observations, 2 May 2020.
- 104. The right to housing of LGBT youth: an urgent task in the SDG agenda setting. United Nations Human Rights Council; 12 August 2019 (https://www.ohchr.org/EN/HRBodies/HRC/Pages/NewsDetail. aspx?NewsID=24877).
- 105. COVID-19 and the human rights of LGBTI people. United Nations Human Rights Office of the High Commissioner; 17 April 2020 (https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/LGBT/LGBTIpeople.pdf).
- 106. Guterres A. We are all in this together: human rights and COVID-19 response and recovery. In: UN.org [Internet]. New York: United Nations; 2020 (https://www.un.org/en/un-coronavirus-communicationsteam/we-are-all-together-human-rights-and-covid-19-response-and).
- 107. Basic principles on the use of force and firearms by law enforcement officials. Geneva: Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights; 1990 (www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/useofforceandfirearms.aspx).
- 108. COVID-19 security measures no excuse for excessive use of force, say UN Special Rapporteurs. Geneva: Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights; 2020 (https://www.ohchr.org/EN/ NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=25802&LangID=E).
- 109. Kenya: police brutality during curfew. New York: Human Rights Watch; 2020 (https://www.hrw.org/ news/2020/04/22/kenya-police-brutality-during-curfew).
- 110. Fury in Kenya over police brutality amid coronavirus curfew. Aljazeera, 2 April 2020 (https://www. aljazeera.com/news/2020/04/fury-kenya-police-brutality-coronavirus-curfew-200402125719150.html).
- 111. National Police Service Kenya. Twitter, 31 March 2020 (https://twitter.com/NPSOfficial_KE/status/124491 0889456762880?s=20).
- 112. Coronavirus: security forces kill more Nigerians than COVID-19. In: BBC News [Internet]. 16 April 2020 (https://www.bbc.com/news/world-africa-52317196).
- 113. National Human Rights Commission press release on COVID-19 enforcement so far report on incidents of violations of human rights. National Human Rights Commission; 15 April 2020.
- 114. Committees resolve to give IPID more time to conclude investigations into police action during lockdown. In: Parliament of the Republic of South Africa [Internet]. 8 May 2020. Cape Town: Parliamentary Communications Services; c2020 (https://www.parliament.gov.za/press-releases/ committees-resolve-give-ipid-more-time-conclude-investigations-police-action-during-lockdown).
- 115. South Africa uses water cannon and rubber bullets to enforce lockdown. In: Financial Times [Internet]. 29 March 2020 (https://www.ft.com/content/bad47729-32be-4865-b68a-27506158f023).
- 116. Kenya police under fire over "excessive force" as curfew begins. Aljazeera, 28 March 2020 (https://www. aljazeera.com/news/2020/03/kenya-police-fire-excessive-force-curfew-begins-200328101357933.html).
- 117. Elegu locals accuse forces of brutality. Daily Monitor, 4 April 2020 (https://www.monitor.co.ug/News/ National/Elegu-locals-accuse-forces-brutality/688334-5516804-icokkaz/index.html).
- 118. Surviving the COVID-19 pandemic: the view from a Ugandan surgeon and epidemiologist. From Poverty to Power, 12 May 2020 (https://oxfamblogs.org/fp2p/surviving-the-covid-19-pandemic-the-view-from-a-ugandan-surgeon-and-epidemiologist/).
- 119. Ugandan police shoot 2 for violating movement ban. Barron's, 27 March 2020 (https://www.barrons. com/news/uganda-police-shoot-2-for-violating-movement-ban-01585305905).

- 120. Owiny JT. Court martial sentences UPDF offices to six months in jail over Elegu assault. In: Daily Monitor [Internet]. 8 April 2020. Daily Monitor; c2020 (https://www.monitor.co.ug/News/National/Court-martialslaps-UPDF-officers-6-month-sentence-Elegu-assault/688334-5518476-hv0jo1z/index.html).
- 121. Security personnel in Gulu accused of persistent brutality, extortion. In: The Independent [Internet]. 8 May 2020. The Independent; c2020 (https://www.independent.co.ug/security-personnel-in-guluaccused-of-persistent-brutality-extortion/).
- 122. Jewell B, Mudimu E, Stover J, et al. Potential effects of disruption to HIV programmes in sub-Saharan Africa caused by COVID-19: results from multiple models. Figshare; 2020 (https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.12279914.v1).
- 123. Hayden S. Uganda women fear food shortages will make coronavirus and HIV a deadly mix. In: Thomson Reuters Foundation News [Internet]. 21 May 2020. Thomson Reuters Foundation; c2020 (https://news. trust.org/item/20200521041801-kvrmq).
- 124. Leila Farha, Special Rapporteur on the right to adequate housing. COVID-19 Guidance Note: prohibition of evictions. 28 April 2020 (https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Housing/SR_housing_COVID-19_guidance_evictions.pdf).
- 125. Cash R, Patel V. Has COVID-19 subverted global health? The Lancet. 2020;395(10238):1687-8.
- Hill A. Charities report rise in older people struggling for food in lockdown. In: The Guardian [Internet].
 May 2020 (https://www.theguardian.com/society/2020/may/13/charities-report-rise-in-older-people-struggling-for-food-in-lockdown).
- 127. Cousins S. COVID-19 has "devastating" effect on women and girls. The Lancet. 2020;396(10247): 301-302.
- 128. Children, women casualties of Uganda's coronavirus transport ban. Aljazeera, 21 April 2020 (https://www.aljazeera.com/indepth/features/children-women-casualties-uganda-coronavirus-transport-ban-200421093822669.html).
- 129. Two children dead as parents fail to secure transport to hospital. Observer, 4 April 2020 (https:// observer.ug/news/headlines/64140-two-children-dead-as-parents-fail-to-secure-transport-to-hospita).
- 130. Commuting in a pandemic: these health workers are trekking and canoeing. NPR, 29 April 2020 (https:// www.npr.org/sections/goatsandsoda/2020/04/29/841830595/commuting-in-a-pandemic-thesehealthworkers-are-trekking-and-canoeing).
- 131. Ugandan Medical Association. Twitter, 3 April 2020 (https://twitter.com/TheUMAofficial/ status/1246029113011376128).
- 132. Transporte público puede circular solo para movilizar a personal de salud, según nuevo decreto publicado esta madrugada. Elsalvador.com, 10 May 2020 (https://www.elsalvador.com/noticias/ nacional/gobierno-autoriza-transporte-publico-para-personal-medico-decreto-madrugada-cuarentenac oronavirus/713231/2020/).
- 133. IDHUCA pide reactivar transporte con fines humanitarios. Elsalvador.com, 9 May 2020 (https://www.elsalvador.com/noticias/nacional/idhuca-cuarentena-pide-reactivar-el-transporte-fineshumanita rios/713090/2020/).
- 134. Executive Decree No. 24. San Salvador: Government of El Salvador; 2020 (https://covid19.gob.sv/ decreto-ejecutivo-no-24/).
- 135. El Salvador: Resumen de medidas y decreto ejecutivo no. 24. Cuscatlan: Consortium Legal; 2020 (https://consortiumlegal.com/resumen-del-decreto-24-medidas-tomadas-por-las-autoridadessalvadorenas-respecto-a-covid-19/).
- 136. A joint monitoring project of socio-economic effects of COVID 19. Report covering 27th April to 1st May 2020. Kenya Tuitakayo Movement and the Institute for Social Accountability; 2020 (https://www.tisa.or.ke/images/uploads/Week_2_COVID_19_monitoing_report_.pdf).
- 137. Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS, unpublished observations, 18 June 2020.
- 138. "Killing in the name of corona": death toll soars from Kenya's curfew crackdown. Washington Post, 16 April 2020 (https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/africa/kenya-coronavirus-curfew-crackdown-deathtoll/2020/04/15/740a8c4e-79be-11ea-a311-adb1344719a9_story.html).
- 139. Frederick F. Curfew: Mombasa family accuses police of killing kin. In: Daily Nation [Internet]. 29 March 2020 (https://www.nation.co.ke/counties/mombasa/Curfew-Mombasa-family-accuses-police-of--killingkin/1954178-5508418-hwpia5/index.html).

- 140. Free emergency transport for expectant women during curfew hours. Eve, 2020 (https://www.standardmedia.co.ke/evewoman/article/2001369581/free-emergency-transport-for-expectantwomenduring-curfew-hours).
- 141. Bolt offers free rides to expectant women during curfew time. CapitalFM, 1 May 2020 (https://www. capitalfm.co.ke/business/2020/05/bolt-offers-free-rides-to-expectant-women-during-curfew-time/).
- 142. Overview of public health and social measures in the context of COVID-19: interim guidance. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/overview-of-public-healthand-social-measures-in-the-context-of-covid-19).
- 143. COVID-19 strategic preparedness and response plan: operational planning guidelines to support country preparedness and response. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/draft-operational-planning-guidance-for-un-country-teams).
- 144. Permiso para mayores de 70 años: cómo es trámite para poder salir en CABA. La Nacion, 20 April 2020 (https://www.lanacion.com.ar/sociedad/coronavirus-buenos-aires-como-tramitarpermisocirculacion-nid2355252).
- 145. COVID-19 alert: Chile amends restrictions as of April 28, nationwide curfew remains in effect. Annapolis: World Aware; 2020 (https://www.worldaware.com/covid-19-alert-chile-amends-restrictions-april-28nationwide-curfew-remains-effect).
- 146. Decree 36 of 2020. Bogotà: Government of Colombia; 2020 (https://dapre.presidencia.gov.co/ normativa/normativa/DECRETO%20636%20DEL%206%20DE%20MAYO%20DE%202020.pdf).
- 147. Foreign travel advice: Jamaica. London: Government of United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland; 2020 (https://www.gov.uk/foreign-travel-advice/jamaica/coronavirus).
- 148. Decree 297/2020. Aislamiento social preventivo y obligatorio. Buenos Aires: Government of Argentina (https://www.boletinoficial.gob.ar/detalleAviso/primera/227042/20200320).
- 149. Decree No. 729. Belém: Government of the state of Pará (Brazil); 2020.
- 150. Decree 636 of 6 May 2020. Bogotà: Government of Colombia; 2020.
- 151. Diario official. San Salvador: Government of El Salvador; 2020 (https://www.diariooficial.gob.sv/diarios/ do-2020/05-mayo/06-05-2020.pdf).
- 152. Coronavirus en Perú: gobierno anuncia cuarentena obligatoria por 15 días por coronavirus. Gestión, 15 March 2020 (https://gestion.pe/peru/politica/coronavirus-en-peru-gobierno-anuncia-cuarentenaobligatorio-por-15-dias-por-coronavirus-noticia/).
- 153. SDC continues to assist the elderly. Jamaica Information Service, 23 April 2020 (https://jis.gov.jm/ sdc-continues-to-assist-the-elderly/).
- 154. Saving life is no crime: Arua nurse. Daily Monitor, 16 April 2020 (https://www.monitor.co.ug/News/ National/Saving-life-no-crime-Arua-nurse/688334-5525534-xxk0hj/index.html).
- 155. En esta aldea indígena peruana, dos enfermeros atienden a cientos de pacientes con covid-19. CNN, 24 June 2020 (https://cnnespanol.cnn.com/2020/06/24/en-esta-aldea-indigena-peruana-dos-enfermerosatienden-a-cientos-de-pacientes-con-covid-19/).
- 156. Intensified injustice in light of COVID-19: perspectives from a Peruvian indigenous women's organization. IWGIA, 20 April 2020 (https://iwgia.org/en/news-alerts/news-covid-19/3560-intensified injustice-in-light-of-covid-19-perspectives-from-a-peruvian-indigenouswomen%E2%80%99s organisation.html).
- 157. COVID-19 responses must uphold and protect the human rights of sex workers. In: UNAIDS.org [Internet]. 24 April 2020. Geneva: UNAIDS; 24 April 2020 (https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/ presscentre/featurestories/2020/april/20200424_sex-work).
- 158. Migrants stranded 'all over the world' and at risk from coronavirus. In: UN News [Internet]. 7 May 2020. United Nations; c2020 (https://news.un.org/en/story/2020/05/1063482).
- 159. Joint statement by the Special Rapporteur and the EDVAW Platform of women's rights mechanisms on Covid-19 and the increase in violence and discrimination against women. In: OHCHR.org [Internet]. 14 July 2020. Geneva: United Nations Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights; c1996-2020 (https://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=26083&LangID=E).

- 160. COVID-19 crisis: Kenya urged to stop all evictions and protect housing rights defenders. In: OHCHR.org [Internet]. 22 May 2020. Geneva: Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights; c1996-2020 (https://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews. aspx?NewsID=25901&LangID=E).
- 161. McCain N. City of Cape Town tears down illegal structures in Makhaza. In: News24 [Internet]. 11 April 2020. 24.com; c2020 (https://www.news24.com/SouthAfrica/News/city-of-cape-town-tears-down-illegalstructures-in-makhaza-20200411).
- 162. Loggenberg-Roberts C. Cape Town High court declares Empolweni evictions unlawful. In: SABC News [Internet]. 17 April 2020. SABC; c2020 (https://www.sabcnews.com/sabcnews/cape-town-high-courtdeclares-empolweni-evictions-unlawful/).
- 163. Pikoli Z. Demolitions and evictions: the eThekwini council has gone "rogue." In: Maverick Citizen [Internet]. 6 April 2020 (https://www.dailymaverick.co.za/article/2020-04-06-demolitions-and-evictionsthe-ethekwini-council-has-gone-rogue/).
- 164. Government Gazette. Regulation gazette No. 11089. 16 April 2020. Pretoria: Government of South Africa; 2020 (http://www.saflii.org/images/16-04Cogta.pdf).
- 165. Peru took early, aggressive measures against the coronavirus. It's still suffering one of Latin America's largest outbreaks. Washington Post, 17 April 2020 (https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/the_americas/peru-took-early-aggressive-measures-against-the-coronavirus-its-still-suffering-one-of-latin-americas-largest-outbreaks/2020/04/16/1cd783bc-8005-11ea-84c2-0792d8591911_story.html).
- 166. Covid-19 is forcing an exodus from Peru's cities. The Nation, 11 May 2020 (https://www.thenation.com/ article/world/peru-coronavirus-covid-19/).
- 167. Decreto de urgencia 048-2020. Government of Peru, 27 April 2020 (https://www.gob.pe/en/institucion/ pcm/normas-legales/541082-048-2020).
- 168. Salvoconducto individual. Santiago: Government of Chile; 2020 (https://www.chileatiende.gob.cl/ fichas/71060-salvoconducto-individual-y-colectivo).
- 169. Bhalla N, Lopez O. No medicine, no food: Coronavirus restrictions amplify health risks to LGBT+ people with HIV. In: Reuters [Internet]. 20 May 2020. Reuters; c2020 (https://www.reuters.com/article/us-healthcoronavirus-lgbt-aids/no-medicine-no-food-coronavirus-restrictions-amplify-health-risks-to-lgbt-peoplewith-hiv-idUSKBN22W28G).
- 170. Survey shows that the COVID-19 pandemic increases vulnerability of LGBTI people. In: UNAIDS.org [Internet]. 10 July 2020. Geneva: UNAIDS; 2020 (https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/presscentre/featurestories/2020/july/20200710_survey-covid19-lgbti-people).
- 171. Global Fund Survey: Majority of HIV, TB and Malaria programs face disruptions as a result of COVID-19. In: The Global Fund [Internet]. 17 June 2020. Geneva: The Global Fund; c2020 (https://www. theglobalfund.org/en/covid-19/news/2020-06-17-global-fund-survey-majority-of-hiv-tb-and-malariaprograms-face-disruptions-as-a-result-of-covid-19/).
- 172. Disruption in HIV, hepatitis and STI services due to COVID-19. Geneva: World Health Organization; 8 July 2020 (https://www.who.int/docs/default-source/hiv-hq/presentation-disruption-in-servicesinternational-aids-conference-2020.pdf?sfvrsn=d4bf1f87_7).
- 173. Protecting migrant workers during the COVID-19 pandemic: recommendations for policy-makers and constituents. Geneva: International Labour Organization; 2020 (https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_protect/---protrav/---migrant/documents/publication/wcms_743268.pdf).
- 174. Q&A on COVID-19, HIV and antiretrovirals. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who. int/news-room/q-a-detail/q-a-on-covid-19-hiv-and-antiretrovirals).
- 175. The cost of inaction: COVID-19-related service disruptions could cause hundreds of thousands of extra deaths from HIV. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/news-room/detail/11-05-2020-the-cost-of-inaction-covid-19-related-service-disruptions-could-cause-hundreds-of-thousands-of-extra-deaths-from-hiv).
- 176. Updated WHO information note: ensuring continuity of TB services during the COVID-19 pandemic. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/news-room/detail/12-05-2020-updatedwho-information-note-ensuring-continuity-of-tb-services-during-the-covid-19-pandemic).
- 177. International Guidelines on HIV/AIDs and Human Rights. Geneva: Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights and the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2006 (https://www.ohchr.org/ Documents/Issues/HIV/ConsolidatedGuidelinesHIV.pdf).

- 178. Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS, unpublished observations, 15 May 2020.
- 179. Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS, unpublished observations, 17 June 2020.
- "Debes ir a un hospital y exponerte para tener medicación": vivir con VIH en tiempos de COVID-19. T13, 1 June 2020 (https://www.t13.cl/noticia/nacional/coronavirus-vih-medicamentoshospitalrelatos-01-06-20).
- 181. Almost 11,000 HIV-positive patients in Gauteng have skipped ARV collection during lockdown. Sowetan Live, 19 May 2020 (https://www.sowetanlive.co.za/news/south-africa/2020-05-19-almost-11000-hiv-positive-patients-in-gauteng-have-skipped-arv-collection-during-lockdown/).
- 182. It's time to deliver differently. Differentiated Service Delivery (http://www.differentiatedservicedelivery.org).
- 183. VIH en tiempos de COVID-19: interponen recurso de protección por riesgosa negligencia en la entrega de medicamentos. El Desconcierto, 4 June 2020 (https://www.eldesconcierto.cl/2020/06/04/ vih-entiempos-de-covid-19-interponen-recurso-de-proteccion-por-riesgosa-negligencia-en-la-entregademedicamentos/).
- 184. Decreto 10: Modifica Decreto 4 de 2020, del ministerio de salud, que decreta alerta sanitaria por el periodo que se senala y ortoga facultades extraorinarias que indica por emergencia de salud publica de importancia international (ESPII) por brote del nuevo coronavirus. Santiago: Ministero de Salud (Chile); 25 March 2020 (https://www.bcn.cl/leychile/navegar?idNorma=1143702&idVersion=2020-03-25).
- 185. Entrega de medicamentos por VIH+: la dicotomía entre el desabastecimiento y las fallas comunicacionales. Elmostrador, 27 May 2020 (https://www.elmostrador.cl/braga/2020/05/27/entrega-de-medicamentos-por-vih-la-dicotomia-entre-el-desabastecimiento-y-las-fallas-comunicacionales/).
- 186. Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/ADS, unpublished observations, 5 June 2020.
- 187. Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/ADS, unpublished observations, 16 June 2020.
- 188. UNAIDS survey shows that many people lack multimonth HIV treatment in Latin America. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2020 (https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/presscentre/ featurestories/2020/june/20200624_hiv-treatment-latin-america).
- 189. Overdose risk looms for addicts freed from Covid-19 lockdown. Sunday Times, 10 May 2020 (https:// www.timeslive.co.za/sunday-times/news/2020-05-10-overdose-risk-looms-for-addicts-freed-from-covid-19-lockdown/).
- 190. Lockdown opens window to treat South Africa's drug abusers. Barron's, 24 April 2020 (https://www. barrons.com/news/lockdown-opens-window-to-treat-south-africa-s-drug-abusers-01587737617).
- 191. Providing support to COVID-19-hit households in Côte d'Ivoire. In: UNAIDS.org [Internet]. 1 July 2020. Geneva: UNAIDS; c2020 (https://www.unaids.org/en/keywords/wfp-world-food-programme).
- 192. Coronavirus en Argentina: el Ejército empezó con la distribución de alimentos en La Matanza. Clarin, 1 April 2020 (https://www.clarin.com/politica/coronavirus-argentina-ejercito-empezo-distribucionalimentos-matanza_0_TgXdyb_Oo.html).
- 193. El Gobierno armó un operativo especial para garantizar la alimentación de los sectores más vulnerables durante la cuarentena. Infobae, 19 March 2020 (https://www.infobae.com/coronavirus/2020/03/20/el-gobierno-armo-un-operativo-especial-para-garantizar-la-alimentacion-de-los-sectores-mas-vulnerables-durante-la-cuarentena/).
- 194. Motsamai M. Botswana: Government Supports Vulnerable Families. In: allAfrica.com [Internet]. 28 April 2020. AllAfrica; c2020 (https://allafrica.com/stories/202004290670.html).
- 195. Suspensión de clases: Mineduc repartirá canastas de alimentación a estudiantes. Santiago: Ministry of Education (Chile); 2020 (https://www.mineduc.cl/suspension-de-clases-mineduc-repartira-canastas-dealimentacion-a-estudiantes/).
- 196. Chile food distribution program start after protests. Republic World, 23 May 2020 (https://www. republicworld.com/world-news/rest-of-the-world-news/chile-food-distribution-program-start-afterprotests.html).
- 197. Ministra de Educación anuncia que los estudiantes beneficiarios del PAE recibirán alimentos en sus casas. Bogotá: Government of Colombia; 2020 (https://id.presidencia.gov.co/Paginas/prensa/2020/ Ministra-de-Educacion-anuncia-que-los-estudiantes-beneficiarios-del-PAE-recibiran-alimentos-en-suscasas-200324.aspx).

- 198. El Gobierno salvadoreño entregará 2,7 millones de paquetes alimenticios. Agencia EFE, 6 May 2020 (https://www.efe.com/efe/america/sociedad/el-gobierno-salvadoreno-entregara-2-7-millones-depaquetes-alimenticios/20000013-4239037).
- 199. COVID-19 regulations, 2020. Abuja: Government of Nigeria; 2020 (https://pwcnigeria.typepad.com/ files/fg-covid-19-regualtions.pdf).
- 200. South Africa: additional r53 million allocated to food relief programmes in the Western Cape. AllAfrica, 5 April 2020 (https://allafrica.com/stories/202004060442.html).
- 201. WCED to implement school feeding of vulnerable learners during lockdown. Cape Town: Western Cape Government; 2020 (https://www.westerncape.gov.za/gc-news/70/54109).
- 202. Uganda Red Cross complements government interventions in food distribution across Kampala. Reliefweb, 9 April 2020 (https://reliefweb.int/report/uganda/uganda-red-cross-complementsgovernment-interventions-food-distribution-across-kampala).
- 203. Covid-19 and food security: in Brazil, will emergency aid be enough to guarantee access to food for the country's poor? Paris: CIRAD; 2020 (https://www.cirad.fr/en/news/all-news-items/articles/2020/science/ covid-19-and-food-security-brazil).
- 204. The COVID-19 pandemic in Nigeria. New York: United Nations Development Programme; 2020 (https://www.undp.org/content/dam/rba/docs/COVID-19-CO-Response/UNDP-NE-COVID19-Briefing.pdf).
- 205. Policy responses to COVID-19. Washington (DC): International Monetary Fund; 2020 (https://www.imf. org/en/Topics/imf-and-covid19/Policy-Responses-to-COVID-19).
- 206. Essential Supplies and Services (Availability of Supplies at Fair Price) Regulations, 2020. Gaborone: Government of Botswana; 2020 (https://africanlii.org/akn/bw/act/si/2020/57).
- 207. Defensoría del Consumidor. San Salvador: Government of El Salvador; 2020 (https://www.defensoria. gob.sv/gobierno-fija-precios-maximos-de-venta-de-productos-esenciales-de-la-canasta-basica-paraevitar-alzas-ante-emergencia-por-covid-19/).
- 208. Mutharika orders fuel price slash, pay cuts for Executive: tax relief in Malawi. Nyasa Times, 4 April 2020 (https://www.nyasatimes.com/mutharika-orders-fuel-price-slash-pay-cuts-for-executive-tax-relief-in-malawi/).
- 209. Key food prices are surging after virus upends supply chains. Bloomberg, 7 April 2020 (https://www. bloomberg.com/news/articles/2020-04-06/key-food-prices-are-surging-after-virus-upends-supplychains).
- 210. COVID-19 Level 3 Emergency. External situation report #12. Rome: World Food Programme; 6 August 2020 (https://docs.wfp.org/api/documents/aea38cd9bfda45c0a75ae95d09edcf4e/download/?_ga=2.243365317.1331594857.1597410643-1685748617.1597410643).
- 211. 1,000 HIV patients in Kwania abandon treatment over lack of food. Observer, 30 April 2020 (https:// observer.ug/news/headlines/64552-1-000-hiv-patients-in-kwania-abandon-treatment-over-lack-of-food).
- 212. Coronavirus en Chile: las imágenes de las protestas en Santiago por la difícil situación económica creada en Chile por la pandemia de covid-19. BBC Mundo, 19 May 2020 (https://www.bbc.com/mundo/ noticias-america-latina-52717413).
- 213. Chile's poor clash with police amid concerns over food shortages in outskirts of Santiago. Reuters, 19 May 2020 (https://uk.reuters.com/article/uk-health-coronavirus-chile/chiles-poor-clash-with-police-amidconcerns-over-food-shortages-in-outskirts-of-santiago-idUKKBN22V00G).
- 214. 490 mil cajas y un 22% de los recursos ya gastados: quiénes son los proveedores de las canastas del gobierno. La Tercera PM, 22 May 2020 (https://www.latercera.com/la-tercera-pm/noticia/490-mil-cajasy-un-22-de-los-recursos-ya-gastados-quienes-estan-detras-de-las-cajas-de-alimentos-del-gobierno/ NCOB6YLIURGWRPAKUAMYTHSM6A/).
- 215. Gobierno supera el millon de cajas de alimaentos entregadas. In: 24 Horas [Internet]. 11 June 2020. Santiago: 24horas; c2020 (https://www.24horas.cl/coronavirus/gobierno-supera-el-millon-de-cajas-dealimentos-entregadas-4248195).
- 216. Coronavirus news. CNN, 26 April 2020 (https://www.cnn.com/world/live-news/coronavirus-pandemic-04-23-20-intl/h_790765c6d97baea8f06fa6577eada2ed).
- 217. An SOS: Colombians hang red rags for help amid COVID-19 lockdown. Aljazeera, 27 April 2020 (https://www.aljazeera.com/indepth/features/sos-colombians-hang-red-rags-covid-19-lockdown-200427151103699.html).

- 218. Top Ugandan officials arrested in COVID-19 purchasing scandal. VOA News, 9 April 2020 (https:// www.voanews.com/science-health/coronavirus-outbreak/top-ugandan-officials-arrested-covid-19purchasingscandal).
- 219. A programme of action in the time of Covid-19: a call for social solidarity. Daily Maverick, 24 March 2020 (https://www.dailymaverick.co.za/article/2020-03-24-a-programme-of-action-in-the-time-of-covid-19-a-call-for-social-solidarity/).
- 220. President Cyril Ramaphosa: Progress in national effort to contain the Coronavirus COVID-19 pandemic. In: South African Government [Internet]. 23 July 2020 (https://www.gov.za/speeches/president-cyrilramaphosa-progress-national-effort-contain-coronavirus-covid-19-pandemic-23).
- 221. Tobar VC. El Covid-19 impacta en la seguridad alimentaria de los pueblos indígenas de El Salvador. In: France 24 [Internet]. 10 June 2020 (https://www.france24.com/es/20200610-el-salvador-covid-hambreindígena-cuarentena).
- 222. Colombia: indigenous peoples will die from COVID-19 or from hunger if the state does not act immediately. London: Amnesty International; 2020 (https://www.amnesty.org/en/latest/news/2020/04/ colombia-pueblos-indigenas-covid19-hambre/).
- 223. Boletin 013 Sistema De Monitoreo Territorial (SMT) ONIC information para proteger la vida y los territorios. In: Organización National Indigena de Colombia [Internet]. 13 April 2020 (https://www.onic. org.co/noticias/70-destacadas/3784-boletin-013-sistema-de-monitoreo-territorial-smt-onic-informacionpara-proteger-la-vida-y-los-territorios).
- 224. As coronavirus kills indigenous people in the Amazon, Brazil's government goes missing. Washington Post, 12 June 2020 (https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/the_americas/coronavirus-brazil-amazonindigenous-deaths-kokama-tikuna/2020/06/12/d4032bca-aa73-11ea-9063- e69bd6520940_story.html).
- 225. Rio Tapajos DSEI sanitizes equipment, transportation, supplies and food sent to villages. In: Ministry of Health. 18 May 2020 (https://saudeindigena.saude.gov.br/corona).
- 226. Fellet J. Coronavirus 'could wipe out Brazil's indigenous people.' In: BBC News [Internet]. 6 April 2020. BBC; c2020 (https://www.bbc.com/news/world-latin-america-52139875).
- 227. Indígenas pedem ao STF que governo adote medidas para proteger povos isolados. Jota, 30 June 2020 (https://www.jota.info/stf/do-supremo/indigenas-pedem-ao-stf-que-governo-adote-medidas-para-proteger-povos-isolados-30062020).
- 228. Judge orders Brazil to protect indigenous people from ravages of COVID-19. The Conversation, 9 July 2020 (https://theconversation.com/judge-orders-brazil-to-protect-indigenous-people-from-ravages-of-covid-19-142356).
- 229. How to integrate water, sanitation and hygiene into HIV programmes. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2010.
- 230. 1 in 3 people globally do not have access to safe drinking water UNICEF, WHO. In: WHO news [Internet]. 18 June 2019. Geneva: World Health Organization; c2020 (https://www.who.int/news-room/ detail/18-06-2019-1-in-3-people-globally-do-not-have-access-to-safe-drinking-water-unicef-who).
- 231. Latin America moving fast to ensure water services during COVID-19. World Bank Blogs, 8 April 2020 (https://blogs.worldbank.org/water/latin-america-moving-fast-ensure-water-services-during-covid-19/).
- 232. Eye opening facts about the water crisis in Africa. The Last Well, 9 April 2020 (https://thelastwell.org/ facts-about-water-crisis-in-africa/).
- 233. Protect rights of people with disabilities during COVID-19. New York: Human Rights Watch; 2020 (https://www.hrw.org/news/2020/03/26/protect-rights-people-disabilities-during-covid-19).
- 234. Disability considerations during the COVID-19 outbreak. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/disability-considerations-during-the-covid-19-outbreak).
- 235. In parched southern Africa, coronavirus spurs action on water supply. Reuters, 6 May 2020 (https://www. reuters.com/article/us-health-coronavirus-safrica-water-feat/in-parched-southern-africa-coronavirusspurs-action-on-water-supply-idUSKBN22I0DY).
- 236. Coronavirus (COVID-19): beneficios para las personas. Chile Atiende (https://www.chileatiende.gob.cl/ coronavirus/continuidad_de_los_servicios_basicos).
- 237. Este es el paquete de medidas económicas de Duque contra el coronavirus. Semana, 18 March 2020 (https://www.semana.com/nacion/articulo/coronavirus-duque-anuncia-paquete-de-medidas/657446).

- 238. El Salvador suspende el pago de electricidad y agua y congela el cobro de hipotecas por el coronavirus. Europa Press, 19 March 2020 (https://www.europapress.es/internacional/noticia-salvador-suspendepago-electricidad-agua-congela-cobro-hipotecas-coronavirus-20200319020433.html).
- 239. No water disconnections during COVID-19 outbreak–NWC. The Gleaner, 20 March 2020 (http://jamaicagleaner.com/article/news/20200320/no-water-disconnections-during-covid-19-outbreak-nwc).
- Coronavirus: Ministro Yáñez anuncia que postergará pago del recibo de Sedapal de marzo. Canal N, 18 March 2020 (https://canaln.pe/actualidad/coronavirus-ministro-yanez-anuncia-que-postergarapagorecibo-sedapal-marzo-n408655).
- 241. Argentina responds boldly to coronavirus crisis. Inter Press Service, 5 May 2020 (https://www.ipsnews. net/2020/05/argentina-responds-boldly-coronavirus-crisis/).
- 242. Statement by His Excellency Dr. Mokgweetsi E.K. Masisi on the declaration of the state of emergency in Botswana regarding the outbreak of COVID-19. Government of Botswana, 31 March 2020 (https://www.facebook.com/BotswanaGovernment/posts/2867383003344339).
- 243. Botswana's President Masisi imposes 28-day lockdown, indefinite public emergency. Daily Maverick, 31 March 2020 (https://www.dailymaverick.co.za/article/2020-03-31-botswanas-president-masisi-imposes-28-day-lockdown-indefinite-public-emergency/).
- 244. How do communities fight coronavirus when they don't have water? Aljazeera, 23 March 2020 (https:// www.aljazeera.com/indepth/features/communities-fight-coronavirus-don-water-200322225523769. html).
- 245. In Chile, a pandemic exposes a water divide. Aljazeera, 29 May 2020 (https://www.aljazeera.com/ podcasts/thetake/2020/05/chile-pandemic-exposes-water-divide-200529151613171.html).
- 246. Greenpeace lamenta declaraciones de Mañalich respecto a la falta de agua para enfrentar la pandemia en Petorca. El Mostrador, 27 May 2020 (https://www.elmostrador.cl/dia/2020/05/27/greenpeace-lamenta-declaraciones-de-manalich-respecto-a-la-falta-de-agua-para-enfrentar-la-pandemia-en-petorca/).
- 247. Chile: CEJIL and MODATIMA request preventative measures to support rural communities with water scarcity during the COVID-19 pandemic. Washington (DC): Center for Justice and International Law; 2020 (https://www.cejil.org/en/chile-cejil-and-modatima-request-preventative-measures-support-ruralcommunities-water-scarcity).
- 248. Urgent action needed to prevent COVID-19 "rampaging through places of detention"–Bachelet. New York: Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights; 2020 (https://www.ohchr.org/ EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=25745).
- 249. UNODC, WHO, UNAIDS and OHCHR joint statement on COVID-19 in prisons and other closed settings. Geneva: United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime, World Health Organization, Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS, and Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights; 2020 (https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/presscentre/pressreleaseandstatementarchive/2020/ may/20200513_joint-statement-covid19-prisons).
- 250. A/RES/70/105. United Nations standard minimum rules for the treatment of prisoners (the Nelson Mandela Rules). Resolution adopted by the General Assembly on 17 December 2020. New York: United Nations; 2020 (https://undocs.org/A/RES/70/175).
- 251. Operational toolbox: COVID-29 preparedness and response in places of detention. Geneva: United Nations Institute for Training and Research; 2020 (https://www.unitar.org/sites/default/files/media/file/ Operational%20Toolbox%20Full.pdf).
- 252. Interim guidance. COVID-19: focus on persons deprived of their liberty. Geneva: Inter-Agency Standing Committee; 2020 (https://interagencystandingcommittee.org/system/files/2020-03/IASC%20 Interim%20Guidance%20on%20COVID-19%20-%20Focus%20on%20Persons%20Deprived%20of%20 Their%20Liberty.pdf).
- 253. COVID-19, prisons and drug policy. Global scan, March-June 2020. Harm Reduction International; 10 July 2020 (https://www.hri.global/files/2020/07/10/HRI_-_Prison_and_Covid_briefing_final.pdf).
- 254. COVID-19 justice project. Fair Trials (https://www.fairtrials.org/newsmap?field_tags_tid%5B0%5D=1143).
- 255. Africa: coronavirus, prison fever. Prison Insider, 18 March 2020 (https://www.prison-insider.com/en/ articles/afrique-coronavirus-la-fievre-des-prisons).
- 256. Measures by country. In: Las prisiones ante el COVID-19 [Internet]. c2020 (https://covid19prisons. wordpress.com/about/).

- 257. To address fears of prisoners from COVID-19 and minimize risk of transmission, UNODC donates medical supplies to Ethiopia's prisons. Vienna: United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime; 2020 (https://www.unodc.org/unodc/frontpage/2020/May/to-address-fears-of-prisoners-from-covid-19-and-minimize-risk-of-transmission--unodc-donates-medical-supplies-to-ethiopias-prisons.html).
- 258. A third of Chile's inmates released from prison over coronavirus. Santiago Times, 5 June 2020 (https:// santiagotimes.cl/2020/06/05/a-third-of-chiles-inmates-released-from-prison-over-coronavirus/).
- 259. COVID-19: CNJ emite recomendação sobre sistema penal e socioeducativo. CNJ, 17 March 2020 (https://www.cnj.jus.br/covid-19-cnj-emite-recomendacao-sobre-sistema-penal-e-socioeducativo/).
- 260. Coronavirus: Nigerian minister wants speedy decongestion of prisons. Premium Times, 26 March 2020 (https://www.premiumtimesng.com/coronavirus/384180-coronavirus-nigerian-minister-wants-speedy-decongestion-of-prisons.html).
- 261. COVID-19: lawyers alert to drag govt to court over poor, slow pace of prison decongestion. Nigerian Voice, 28 April 2020 (https://www.thenigerianvoice.com/news/287475/covid-19-lawyers-alert-to-drag-govt-to-court-over-poor-slo.html).
- 262. Coronavirus and women in detention: a gender-specific approach missing. London Penal Reform International; 2020 (https://www.penalreform.org/blog/coronavirus-and-women-in-detention-a-genderspecific/).
- 263. Position paper: COVID-19 preparedness and responses in prisons. Vienna: United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime; 2020 (https://www.unodc.org/documents/Advocacy-Section/UNODC_Position_paper_COVID-19_in_prisons.pdf).
- 264. Sheridan MB, Brigida A-C. Photos show El Salvador's crackdown on imprisoned gang members. Washington Post, 28 April 2020.
- 265. Young leader vowed change in El Salvador but wields same heavy hand, New York Times, 5 May 2020 (https://www.nytimes.com/2020/05/05/world/americas/el-salvador-nayib-bukele. html?searchResultPosition=1).
- 266. El Salvador's president disregards top court rulings on coronavirus. Reuters, 16 April 2020 (https:// www.reuters.com/article/us-health-coronavirus-el-salvador/el-salvadors-president-disregards-topcourtrulings-on-coronavirus-idUSKCN21Y0IA).
- 267. Mass arrests and overcrowded prisons in El Salvador spark fear of coronavirus crisis. The Conversation, 6 May 2020 (https://theconversation.com/mass-arrests-and-overcrowded-prisons-in-el-salvador-sparkfearof-coronavirus-crisis-137673).
- 268. Procurador DDHH verifica condiciones en centros de contención por cuarentena por coronavirus. San Salvador: PDDH (https://www.pddh.gob.sv/procurador-ddhh-verifica-condiciones-en-centros-decontencion-por-cuarentena-por-coronavirus/).
- 269. Nayib Bukele. Twitter, 9 April 2020 (https://twitter.com/nayibbukele/status/1248091836046073857).
- 270. Press briefing note on Americas/prison conditions. Geneva: Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights; 2020 (https://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews. aspx?NewsID=25864&LangID=E).
- 271. COVID-19 and the rights of persons with disabilities: guidance. New York: Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights; 2020 (https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Disability/ COVID-19_and_The_Rights_of_Persons_with_Disabilities.pdf).
- 272. Gender-based violence and COVID-19: "when we are silent, we allow these crimes to multiply." Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2020 (https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/presscentre/featurestories/2020/may/20200519_gender-based-violencecovid19).
- 273. COVID-19 and violence against women: what the health sector/system can do. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/331699/WHO-SRH-20.04-eng. pdf?ua=1).
- 274. Countries failing to prevent violence against children, agencies warn. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/news-room/detail/18-06-2020-countries-failing-to-preventviolence-against-children-agencies-warn).
- 275. Chandan JS, Taylor J, Bradbury-Jones C, Nirantharakumar K, Lane E, Bandyopadhyay S. COVID-19: a public health approach to manage domestic violence is needed. Lancet. 2020;5(6):E309.

- 276. Joint leaders' statement: violence against children–a hidden crisis of the COVID-19 pandemic. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/news-room/detail/08-04-2020-joint-leader-sstatement---violence-against-children-a-hidden-crisis-of-the-covid-19-pandemic).
- 277. We've got the power: women, adolescent girls and the HIV response. Geneva: UNAIDS; 2020 (https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/documents/2020/2020_women-adolescent-girls-and-hiv).
- 278. Impact of COVID-19 on violence against women and girls and service provision: UN Women rapid assessment and findings. New York: UN Women; 2020 (https://www.unwomen.org/-/media/ headquarters/attachments/sections/library/publications/2020/impact-of-covid-19-on-violence-against-women-and-girls-and-service-provision-en.pdf?la=en&vs=0).
- 279. Se incrementó un 39% el pedido de ayuda por violencia de género en Argentina durante el COVID19. Buenos Aires: United Nations; 2020 (https://www.onu.org.ar/se-incremento-un-39-el-pedido-de-ayudapor-violencia-de-genero-en-argentina-durante-el-covid19/).
- 280. COVID 19 lockdown: are domestic abuse victims safe at home or stuck at home? Sunday Standard, 13 April 2020 (https://www.sundaystandard.info/covid-19-lockdown-are-domestic-abuse-victims-safe-athome-or-stuck-at-home/).
- 281. Denúncias de violência contra a mulher cresceram 9%, diz ministra. Agência Brasil, 2 April 2020 (https:// agenciabrasil.ebc.com.br/direitos-humanos/noticia/2020-04/denuncias-de-violencia-contra-mulhercresceram-9-diz-ministra).
- 282. Ministra de la Mujer nos habla del aumento de violencia intrafamiliar durante la cuarentena. Pudahuel, 17 April 2020 (https://www.pudahuel.cl/noticias/2020/04/ministra-de-la-mujer-aumento-de-violenciaintrafamiliar-cuarentena/).
- 283. Reportan aumento de 500% en denuncias por violencia intrafamiliar durante cuarentena en Providencia. Biobiochile, 14 April 2020 (https://www.biobiochile.cl/noticias/nacional/regionmetropolitana/2020/04/14/reportan-aumento-de-500-en-denuncias-por-violencia-intrafamiliar-durantecuarentena-en-providencia.shtml).
- Violence against women up amid Latin America COVID-19 lockdowns. Aljazeera, 20 April 2020 (https://www.aljazeera.com/indepth/features/violence-women-surges-latam-coronavirusquarantines-200420020748668.html).
- 285. Violencia doméstica ha aumentado un 70% durante la cuarentena. Elsalvador.com, 3 April 2020 (https://www.elsalvador.com/eldiariodehoy/violencia-domestica-coronavirus-cuarentena/702488/2020/).
- 286. Domestic disputes in lockdown. Jamaica Observer, 12 May 2020 (http://www.jamaicaobserver.com/ all-woman/domestic-disputes-in-lockdown-_193239?profile=0).
- 287. Domestic violence surges as countries battle COVID-19. The Gleaner, 26 May 2020 (http:// jamaicagleaner.com/article/commentary/20200526/nicola-cousins-domestic-violence-surges-countriesbattle-covid-19).
- 288. Sexual savagery! High number of children fall victim to sex crimes since COVID-19 restrictions started in March. Jamaica Observer, 20 May 2020 (http://www.jamaicaobserver.com/front-page/sexual-savagery-high-number-of-children-fall-victim-to-sex-crimes-since-covid-19-restrictions-started-in-march_194491?profile=1606).
- 289. Tackling Kenya's domestic violence amid COVID-19 crisis. New York: Human Rights Watch; 2020 (https://www.hrw.org/news/2020/04/08/tackling-kenyas-domestic-violence-amid-covid-19-crisis).
- 290. Domestic abuse on the rise amid coronavirus fight. Business Daily, 14 April 2020 (https://www. businessdailyafrica.com/news/Domestic-abuse-on-the-rise-amid-coronavirus-fight/539546-5524156swhiv2/index.html).
- 291. There is increase in sexual, domestic violence reports despite lockdown, says DSVRT. The Guardian Nigeria, 1 April 2020 (https://guardian.ng/news/nigeria/there-is-increase-in-sexual-domestic-violence-reports-despite-lockdown-says-dsvrt/).
- 292. Femicides in Peru increase during coronavirus lockdown. Latino USA, 30 April 2020 (https://www. latinousa.org/2020/04/30/femicidesperu/).
- 293. Peru's Covid lockdown accompanied by increase in gender violence. La Presna Latina, 9 May 2020 (https://www.laprensalatina.com/perus-covid-lockdown-accompanied-by-increase-in-gender-violence/).
- 294. "It just got worse": domestic violence surges under S. Africa lockdown. AFP, 30 April 2020 (https://news. yahoo.com/just-got-worse-domestic-violence-surges-under-africa-093359671.html).

- 295. South Africa's Ramaphosa blasts "despicable" crime wave during coronavirus lockdown. CNBC, 13 April 2020 (https://www.cnbc.com/2020/04/13/south-africas-ramaphosa-blasts-despicable-crime-wave-during-coronavirus-lockdown.html).
- 296. Domestic violence against women increases in Uganda amid COVID-19: minister. Xinhuanet, 28 April 2020 (http://www.xinhuanet.com/english/2020-04/28/c_139015384.htm).
- 297. Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS, unpublished observations, 22 May 2020.
- 298. Children at increased risk of sexual violence during COVID-19 pandemic–UNICEF. Echo Newspaper Botswana, 15 April 2020 (https://www.facebook.com/EchoBotswana/photos/press-release-childrenatincreased-risk-of-sexual-violence-during-covid-19-pand/3756879184383372/).
- 299. Defilement cases rise sharply as children stay at home. Daily Nation, 25 May 2020 (https://www.nation. co.ke/gender/Defilement-cases-rise-children-stay-home-/5362750-5563778-si30m9z/index.html).
- Lockdown leads to rise in child abuse cases in Uganda. Crux, 12 June 2020 (https://cruxnow.com/ church-in-africa/2020/06/lockdown-leads-to-rise-in-child-abuse-cases-in-uganda/).
- 301. Murphy J. Child Abuse Alarm Reports Plunge, Potentially Giving Predators Free Rein. In: The Gleaner [Internet]. 11 May 2020. The Gleaner Company; c2020 (www.jamaica-gleaner.com/article/leadstories/20200511/child-abuse-alarm-reports-plunge-potentially-giving-predators-free).
- 302. Brodmeier K. Mujer trans denuncia discriminación por pico y género en Bogotá. In: El Heraldo [Internet]. 29 April 2020. Bogotá: El Heraldo; c2020 (https://www.elheraldo.co/mujer-e-igualdad/mujer-transdenuncia-discriminacion-por-pico-y-genero-en-bogota-722115).
- 303. Transgender people face discrimination, violence amid Latin American quarantines. In: Thomson Reuters Foundations News [Internet]. 5 May 2020. Thomson Reuters Foundation; c2020 (https://news.trust.org/ item/20200505183449-d9yh4).
- 304. Argentina sees at least 6 femicides during coronavirus quarantine. Aljazeera, 1 April 2020 (https://www. aljazeera.com/news/2020/04/argentina-sees-6-femicides-coronavirus-quarantine-200401185419939. html).
- 305. Violencia de género y coronavirus: las medidas para contener a las mujeres que están aisladas con sus agresores. La Nacion, 19 March 2020 (https://www.lanacion.com.ar/comunidad/violenciagenerocoronavirus-medidas-contener-mujeres-estan-nid2345313).
- 306. Decree No. 460 of 2020. Bogotá: Government of Colombia; 2020 (http://www.suin-juriscol.gov.co/ viewDocument.asp?ruta=Decretos/30038968).
- 307. Legislative Decree No. 1470. Lima: Government of Peru; 2020 (https://busquedas.elperuano. pe/download/url/decreto-legislativo-que-establece-medidas-para-garantizar-la-decretolegislativo-n-1470-1865791-1).
- 308. Police minister welcomes the decrease in serious and violent crimes since the lockdown. Pretoria: South African Police Service; 2020 (https://www.saps.gov.za/newsroom/msspeechdetail.php?nid=25461).
- 309. La línea 137 ya tiene Whatsapp. Buenos Aires: Government of Argentina; 2020 (https://www.argentina. gob.ar/noticias/la-linea-137-ya-tiene-whatsapp).
- 310. Sibanda A. Botswana police launches GBV toll free number. In: allAfrica [Internet]. 14 April 2020. AllAfrica; c2020 (https://allafrica.com/stories/202004150610.html).
- 311. Casas de acogida. Santiago: Servicio Nacional de la Mujer y Equidad de Género; 2019 (https://www. chileatiende.gob.cl/fichas/13149-casas-de-acogida).
- 312. Este es el número telefónico habilitado por la Fiscalía para denunciar violencia doméstica. Elsalvador.com, 30 April 2020 (https://www.elsalvador.com/noticias/nacional/covid-19-violenciadomesticafisica/710477/2020/).
- 313. El Programa Integral para una Vida Libre de Violencia para las Mujeres del ISDEMU. San Salvador: Instituto Salvadoreño para el Desarrollo de la Mujer (https://www.isdemu.gob.sv/images/ phocadownload/Posiciona_avisos2020/Contactos_Emerg.COVID.pdf).
- 314. Fighting the "shadow pandemic" of violence against women and children during COVID-19. New York: United Nations; 2020 (https://www.un.org/africarenewal/web-features/coronavirus/fighting-%E2%80%98shadow-pandemic%E2%80%99-violence-against-women-children-during-covid-19).
- 315. Gender based violence during the COVID-19 pandemic and economic, social and cultural rights. OpinioJuris, 23 April 2020 (http://opiniojuris.org/2020/04/23/gender-based-violence-during-the-covid-19-pandemic-and-economic-social-and-cultural-rights/).

- 316. SernamEG participa en el lanzamiento de #Mascarilla19. SernamEG, 25 April 2020 (https://www.sernameg.gob.cl/?p=31236).
- 317. Supermercados y farmacias se alían con el Distrito. Bogota.gov.co (https://bogota.gov.co/mi-ciudad/ mujer/supermercados-y-farmacias-se-alian-con-el-distrito).
- 318. Peru: Lima opens shelter for victims of domestic violence during COVID-19 lockdown. Ruptly, 25 April 2020 (https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=wuiegNeorqY).
- 319. Directions issued in terms of Regulation 10(5) of the regulations made under Section 27(2) of the Disaster Management Act, 2002 (Act no. 57 of 2002): measures to prevent and combat the spread of COVID-19. Cape Town: Government of South Africa; 2020 (https://www.gov.za/sites/default/files/gcis_document/202003/43182rg11072gon430.pdf).
- 320. COVID-19 and domestic violence in South Africa. Oxford Human Rights Hub, 26 April 2020 (http://ohrh. law.ox.ac.uk/covid-19-and-domestic-violence-in-south-africa/).
- 321. El ministerio de las Mujeres otorgará subsidios para casos de violencia de género. Sociedad, 30 March 2020 (https://www.telam.com.ar/notas/202003/446034-autorizan-al-ministerio-de-las-mujeres-a-otorgar-subsidios-para-casos-de-violencia-de-genero.html).
- 322. LGBTQ helplines see surge as queer communities face lockdowns in hostile homes. PRI; 2020 (https:// www.pri.org/stories/2020-05-07/lgbtq-helplines-see-surge-queer-communities-face-lockdown-hostilehomes).
- 323. Journalists provide "antidote" to COVID-19 misinformation, UN chief says ahead of World Press Freedom Day. New York: United Nations; 2020 (https://news.un.org/en/story/2020/05/1063012).
- 324. COVID-19 response. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf_files/WHA73/A73_CONF1-en.pdf).
- 325. UNAIDS urges governments to ensure that HIV service providers from community-led organizations are recognized as essential service providers in the context of COVID-19. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2020 (https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/presscentre/ pressreleaseandstatementarchive/2020/may/20200518_community-led-organizations-essential-service-providers-covid19).
- 326. Decree 459/20, Article 6. Buenos Aires: Government of Argentina; 2020.
- 327. Decree No. 10.282, 20 March 2020. Brasilia: Government of Brazil; 2020 (http://www.planalto.gov.br/ccivil_03/_ato2019-2022/2020/decreto/D10282compilado.htm).
- 328. Decree No. 749, 28 May 2020. Bogotà: Government of Colombia; 2020 (https://as00.epimg.net/ descargables/2020/05/29/a584cb3889eb44d6a3798e3dfcc4544c.pdf).
- 329. Solicitar pase especial laboral. Lima: Government of Peru; 2020 (https://www.gob.pe/8783).
- 330. Regulations and guidelines: coronavirus Covid-19. Cape Town: Government of South Africa; 2020 (https://sacoronavirus.co.za/guidelines-and-relief/).
- 331. Superheroes need help too: health workers in plea for protective gear. News24, 22 May 2020 (https://www.news24.com/SouthAfrica/News/superheroes-need-help-too-health-workers-in-plea-for-protective-gear-20200522).
- 332. Doctors and nurses down tools at Eastern Cape hospital. Times Live, 23 May 2020 (https://www. timeslive.co.za/news/south-africa/2020-05-23-doctors-and-nurses-down-tools-at-eastern-capehospital/).
- 333. Health workers ultimatum: give us all protective wear or we will strike. IOL, 2 May 2020 (https:// www.iol.co.za/saturday-star/news/health-workers-ultimatum-give-us-all-protective-wear-or-we-willstrike-47474921).
- 334. COVID-19: community healthcare workers are crucial to SA's response. Spotlight, 20 April 2020 (https://www.spotlightnsp.co.za/2020/04/20/covid-19-community-healthcare-workers-are-crucial-to-sasresponse/).
- 335. COVID-19 regulations, 2020. Abuja: Government of Nigeria; 2020.
- 336. Lagos State Infectious Diseases (Emergency Prevention) Regulations 2020. Lagos: Government of Lagos (Nigeria); 2020.
- 337. Nigeria's polio infrastructure bolster COVID-19 response. Lagos: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.afro.who.int/news/nigerias-polio-infrastructure-bolster-covid-19-response).

- 338. Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS, unpublished observations, 18 June 2020.
- Freelance journalists risk lives and livelihoods amid COVID-19 pandemic. New York: Committee to Protect Journalists; 2020 (https://cpj.org/blog/2020/04/freelance-journalists-risk-lives-and-livelihoods-a.php).
- 340. Disease pandemics and the freedom of opinion and expression: report of the Special Rapporteur on the promotion and protection of the right to freedom of opinion and expression. In: United Nations Human Rights Council, Forty-fourth session, 15 June-3 July 2020. Advance edited version (23 April 2020) (A/HRC/44/49; https://freedex.org/wp-content/blogs.dir/2015/files/2020/04/A_HRC_44_49_AdvanceEditedVersion.pdf).
- Lockdown: media part of essential services, says Museveni. Daily Monitor, 1 April 2020 (https://www.monitor.co.ug/News/National/Lockdown-Media-part-essential-services-Museveni/688334-5510428-8s8xey/index.html).
- 342. Ugandan journalists "assaulted by security forces" amid coronavirus lockdowns. DW News, 24 April 2020 (https://www.dw.com/en/ugandan-journalists-assaulted-by-security-forces-amid-coronaviruslockdow ns/a-53235644).
- 343. Executive Decree No. 14. San Salvador: Government of El Salvador; 2020 (http://apes.org.sv/alertas/ decreto-ejecutivo-no-14-presentado-por-el-ejecutivo-excluye-a-periodistas/).
- 344. Decreto No. 10.282, 20 March 2020. Brasilia: Government of Brazil; 2020 (http://www.planalto.gov.br/ccivil_03/_ato2019-2022/2020/decreto/D10282compilado.htm).
- 345. Rwanda: lockdown arrests, abuses surge. New York: Human Rights Watch; 2020 (https://www.hrw.org/ news/2020/04/24/rwanda-lockdown-arrests-abuses-surge).
- 346. Zimbabwe detains 2 journalists for breaking COVID lockdown rules. VOA News, 23 May 2020 (https://www.voanews.com/africa/zimbabwe-detains-2-journalists-breaking-covid-lockdown-rules).
- 347. Journalists detained, assaulted in India during COVID-19 lockdown. New York: Committee to Protect Journalists; 2020 (https://cpj.org/2020/04/journalists-detained-assaulted-in-india-during-cov.php).
- 348. Journalists assaulted by police amid coronavirus lockdown in India. New York: Committee to Protect Journalists; 2020 (https://cpj.org/2020/03/journalists-assaulted-by-police-amid-coronavirus-l.php).
- 349. Report police brutality, urges Cele after assault on journo. IOL, 22 May 2020 (https://www.iol.co.za/news/ politics/report-police-brutality-urges-cele-after-assault-on-journo-48411988).
- 350. South African police assault, charge journalist Paul Nthoba after he photographs COVID-19 lockdown. New York: Committee to Protect Journalists; 2020 (https://cpj.org/2020/05/south-african-police-assaultcharge-journalist-pau.php).
- 351. Protect Kenya's journalists reporting on Covid-19. New York: Human Rights Watch; 2020 (https://www. hrw.org/news/2020/05/04/protect-kenyas-journalists-reporting-covid-19).
- 352. PNC obstruye libre circulación a periodista de Cadena Cristiana de Radio y Televisión CRET. San Salvador: Asociación de Periodistas de El Salvador; 2020 (http://apes.org.sv/alertas/13861/).
- 353. Agentes de FAES y PNC obstaculizan labor de corresponsal de Radio La Voz de Mi Gente. San Salvador: Asociación de Periodistas de El Salvador; 2020 (http://apes.org.sv/alertas/__trashed/).
- 354. Second Schedule, Disaster Risk Management Act (Enforcement Measures) Order No. 4, 21 April 2020. Kingston: Government of Jamaica; 2020.
- 355. HRAPF files case challenging prisons refusal to allow lawyers access to their clients. Human Rights Awareness and Promotion Forum, 24 April 2020 (https://www.hrapf.org/index.php/10-hrapf-news/94-hrapf-files-case-challenging-prisons-refusal-to-allow-lawyers-access-to-their-clients).
- 356. High Court of Uganda Misc Cause No 81 of 2020. Kampala: Government of Uganda; 2020.
- 357. Law Society of Kenya v Hillary Mutyambai Inspector General National Police Service & 4 others; Kenya national Commission on Human Rights & 3 others, Petition 120 of 2020, 16 April 2020 (www.kenyalaw. org/caselaw/cases/view/193192/).
- 358. Judiciary asks for list of 30 lawyers. Daily Monitor, 6 May 2020 (https://www.monitor.co.ug/News/ National/Judiciary-asks-for-list-of-30-lawyers/688334-5544218-ckyxla/index.html).
- 359. Promueve accion de Amparo. Se dicte medida cautelar. Solicita habilitacion de días y horas inhábiles. Buenos Aires: CPACF; 2020.
- 360. Access to justice and SA lockdown (https://pbs.twimg.com/media/ EUOP5TIX0AADpzU?format=jpg&name=medium).

- 361. WHA73.1. COVID-19 response. 73rd World Health Assembly, 19 May 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf_files/WHA73/A73_R1-en.pdf).
- 362. Sala de lo Constitucional prohíbe a las autoridades capturar a ciudadanos por incumplir cuarentena. Elsalvador.com, 8 April 2020 (https://www.elsalvador.com/noticias/nacional/sala-de-lo-constitucionalprohibe-capturas-incumplir-cuarentena/704169/2020/).
- 363. Sala admite Hábeas Corpus 133-2020 y adopta medida cautelar. Twitter, 13 March 2020 (https://twitter. com/SalaCnalSV/status/1238570438227374080/photo/1).
- 364. Comunicado de prensa: 3 admisiones. Sala de lo Constitucional de la Corte Suprema del Salvador. Twitter, 19 March 2020 (https://twitter.com/SalaCnalSV/status/1240780571321786370).
- 365. WHO Director-General's opening remarks at the media briefing on COVID-19–5 June 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/dg/speeches/detail/who-director-general-sopening-remarks-at-the-media-briefing-on-covid-19---5-june-2020).
- 366. Botswana ministry temporarily closed over virus exposure. Africanews, 25 May 2020 (https://www. africanews.com/2020/05/25/botswana-president-in-self-isolation-after-namibia-trip/).
- 367. Supreme Decree No. 094-2020-PCM. Lima: Government of Peru; 2020 (https://www.gob.pe/institucion/pcm/normas-legales/584231-094-2020-pcm).
- 368. SA now has rules for mandatory cloth masks: here's what to look out for, and what to pay. Business Insider, 29 April 2020 (https://www.businessinsider.co.za/cloth-mask-guidelines-in-south-africa-whatshould-they-have-2020-4).
- 369. Covid-19: after lockdown, a world of masks. Livemint, 30 April 2020 (https://www.livemint.com/news/ world/covid-19-after-lockdown-a-world-of-masks-11588264406316.html).
- 370. Which countries have made wearing face masks compulsory? Aljazeera, 3 June 2020 (https://www. aljazeera.com/news/2020/04/countries-wearing-face-masks-compulsory-200423094510867.html).
- 371. Health alerts: Brazil, some cities requiring face masks. Washington (DC): Overseas Security Advisory Council; 2020 (https://www.osac.gov/Content/Report/0bc869fc-c169-4947-b2c7-18818cbe5341).
- 372. Face masks in a pandemic: from "useless" to "indispensable." Japan Times, 1 May 2020 (https:// www.japantimes.co.jp/news/2020/05/01/world/science-health-world/face-masks-pandemic/#. Xr7fdS3MzOQ).
- 373. Tweet by the Ministry of Health Uganda. In: Twitter [Internet]. 10 June 2020 (https://twitter.com/ minofhealthug/status/1270724091494854664?lang=en).
- 374. Decree No. 057-2020-PCM. Lima: Government of Peru; 2020 (https://busquedas.elperuano.pe/ normaslegales/decreto-supremo-que-modifica-el-articulo-3-del-decreto-supre-decreto-supremo-no-057-2020-pcm-1865326-2/).
- 375. Peru reverses its controversial gender-based lockdown, quarantining men and women on different days, after intense backlash. Business Insider, 13 April 2020 (https://www.businessinsider.com/peruquarantining-men-and-women-different-days-2020-4).
- 376. Peru: Council of Ministers cancels controversial quarantine schedule based on gender. Global Legal Monitor, 30 April 2020 (https://www.loc.gov/law/foreign-news/article/peru-council-of-ministers-cancels-controversial-quarantine-schedule-based-on-gender/).
- 377. Supreme Decree No. 006-2020-IN. Lima: Government of Peru, 15 April 2020 (https://cdn.www.gob.pe/ uploads/document/file/597810/DS_006-2020-IN.pdf).
- 378. Legislative Decree No. 1468. Lima: Government of Peru, 22 April 2020.
- 379. Decisión Administrativa 490/2020. Buenos Aires: Government of Argentina; 2020.
- 380. Resolución 77/2020. Buenos Aires: Government of Argentina; 2020.
- 381. Instructivo para permisos de desplazamiento: actualizado al 27 de mayo de 2020. Santiago: Government of Chile; 2020 (https://cdn.digital.gob.cl/public_files/Campa%C3%B1as/Corona-Virus/ documentos/Instructivo_Cuarentena_27052020.pdf).
- 382. Decisión Administrativa 703/2020 DECAD-2020-703-APN-JGM. Buenos Aires: Government of Argentina; 2020 (https://www.boletinoficial.gob.ar/detalleAviso/primera/228520/20200502).

- 383. "States responses to Covid 19 threat should not halt freedoms of assembly and association"–UN expert on the rights to freedoms of peaceful assembly and of association, Mr. Clément Voule. New York: Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights; 2020 (https://www.ohchr.org/EN/ NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=25788&LangID=E).
- 384. Rajan D, Koch K, Rohrer K, Bajnoczki C, Socha A, Voss M et al. Governance of the Covid-19 response: a call for more inclusive and transparent decision-making. BMJ Glob Health. 2020;5:e002655.
- 385. Open letter from CSOs to the Prime Minister on Covid-19, maternal health, and other essential health services. Kampala: Center for Health, Human Rights and Development; 2020 (https://www.cehurd.org/ open-letter-from-csos-to-the-prime-minister-on-covid-19-maternal-health-and-other-essential-health-services/).
- 386. HIV and human rights activists' open letter to the World Bank: COVID-19 response in Uganda is killing pregnant women. New York: Health Gap; 2020 (https://healthgap.org/hiv-and-human-rights-activists-open-letter-to-the-world-bank-covid-19-response-in-uganda-is-killing-pregnant-women/).
- 387. Civil society response to President Museveni's directive that pregnant women will no longer be banned from using transport to seek health services during COVID-19 lockdown. New York: Health Gap; 2020 (https://healthgap.org/press/civil-society-response-to-president-musevenis-directive-that-pregnantwomen-will-no-longer-be-banned-from-using-transport-to-seek-health-services-during-covid-19lockdown/).
- 388. Coronavirus en Chile: se repiten las protestas por hambre en el sur de Santiago. Pagina 12, 26 Mayo 2020 (https://www.pagina12.com.ar/268141-coronavirus-en-chile-se-repiten-las-protestasporhambre-en-).
- 389. El hambre hace saltar por los aires la tregua social en Chile. Euronews, 20 May 2020 (https://es.euronews.com/2020/05/20/el-hambre-hace-saltar-por-los-aires-la-tregua-social-en-chile).
- 390. Stop "Control of Infectious Diseases Bill 2020" now, civil society groups tell Gbajabiamila. Per Second News, 5 May 2020 (https://persecondnews.com/2020/05/05/stop-control-of-infectious-diseases-bill-2020-now-civil-society-groups-tell-gbajabiamila/).
- 391. Control of Infectious Diseases Bill 2020, Legal Analysis. Action Group on Free Civic Space; 2020.
- 392. Kenyan High Court rules that lawyers are essential workers during COVID-19 lockdown. International Centre for Investigative Reporting; 2020 (https://www.icirnigeria.org/kenyan-high-court-rules-that-lawyers-are-essential-workers-during-covid-19-lockdown/).
- 393. Malawi launches cash aid for poor amid COVID-19 pandemic. Aljazeera, 29 April 2020 (https://www. aljazeera.com/news/2020/04/malawi-launches-cash-aid-poor-covid-19-pandemic-200429053328918.html).
- 394. HRDC says not against lockdown: "Malawi govt should first insulate the poor." Nyasa Times, 19 April 2020 (https://www.nyasatimes.com/hrdc-says-not-against-lockdown-malawi-govt-should-first-insulate-the-poor/).
- 395. Malawi politicians ignore COVID-19 measures for elections. VOA News, 19 May 2020 (https://www.voanews.com/africa/malawi-politicians-ignore-covid-19-measures-elections).

Copyright © 2020 Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS) All rights reserved.

The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of UNAIDS concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. UNAIDS does not warrant that the information published in this publication is complete and correct and shall not be liable for any damages incurred as a result of its use.

UNAIDS/JC2999E



UNAIDS Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS

20 Avenue Appia 1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland

+41 22 791 3666

unaids.org